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he may receive our Souls into everlafting Reft
and Happinefs, which he has been pleas’d to be-
fiow on them that love him and fear him ; and
the Lord knows my Heart, I fpeak it in his Pre-
fence, that had the King been pleafed to thew
Mercy to me, | thould have been a faithful and
true Subjeét to him all my Days ; but feeing 1t
is the righteous Hand of God, that now I am
come to this untimely Death, I defire you to
lift up your Hearts and Souls to God with me,
that when my Soul fhall leave this Body, that
the Lord Jefus Chrift may with his everlafting
Arms receive me to Glory: There 15 no Re-
demption after Death, we fhall either go to eter-
nal Woe, or eternal Happinefs; therctore good
Friends, I defire you to look up to God, that

when my Soul departs, it may be received to

Glory.
Then they went to their Prayers; which be.

ing ended, their Caps were feverally pull’d over
their Faces, and after fome private Ejaculations,
the Executioner caufed the Cart to be drawn g.
way; and after they had hanged a while, they
were feverally behcaded and quartered according
to their Sentence, and their Heads and Quarters
conveyed in a Basket to Neswgate, to be dilpofed
of at the King’s Pleafure.

Therr feveral Quarters were buried on Sary;-
day Night, Deceinber 27.

Their Heads were fet upon feveral Poles, two
on the one Tower-Hill, and two on the other, g
near the Tower as might be,
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LXUIL The Trial of MARY. MODERS, aliar STEDMAX,
[yled the German Princefs, at the Ola-Baily, for Bigamy,

! s .
the 2d of June, 1603,

o/

=iHE Court being fut, a Bill of In-
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léi.:” I_".t..éh;’_.\ , :
@f?rltli""’-_if.‘ . diétment was drawn upagain{t Yary
- —_ "'-.,.E'_--_ . N :
ay r ey Moders, alins Stediian, for having

¢ . .
i sy Lwo Husbands now alive, viz. Tho.
M%@&iq Stedinair and Jobi Caileron.  Uhe

Grand Jury found the Bill, and was to the ef-
fe&t following, <iz.

R
A

¢ H AT fhethelad Alwy Moders late of
g Loideir Spinfter; otherwile Mary Sredinan,
the Wife of Tho. Stediizan, late of the City of
Canterbury 1 the County- of Keirt Shoemaker,
May 12, in the Reign of his now Majefty the
ixth, at the Parith of St. Mildred’s in the City
of Cantcrbuiy, in the County aforefaid, did
take to Husband the aforefaid Thowmas Stedinan,
and him the {aid Thomas Stedinan thenand there
had to Husband, And that fhe the faid Adary
Meders, allas Stedinain, Apiif 21, 1n the fifteenth
Year of his faid Majelt’s Reign, at Loudon, in
the Parith of Giear St Baitholomezzs, in the
Ward of Farriugdon witbor, lclonioufly did
take to Husband one Fobur Carleron, and to
him was married, the {aid Zhe. Stediman her
“ former Husband being then alive, and in full
¢ Life: Againft the Form of the Statute in that
¢ cale provided, and agamnft the Peace of our
¢ faid Sovercign Lord the King, his Crown and

¢ Dignity, (e
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Afterwards the faid Aary Adoders, alias Sted-
smany, was called to the Bar; and appearing, was
commanded to hold up her Hand: Which the
accordingly did, and her Inditment was read to
her as folioweth.

Clerk of the Peace.  Alary Nioders, alias Sted-
man, thou ftandelt indited in Lowdon by the
Name of AMaiy Moders late of Lendon Spinfler,

otherwile Mary Stedinan, the Wife of, &e.

[ And here the IndiCtment was read, as above]

How fayeft thou, art thou Guilty ot the Felony

15 Car. 11

whereof thou ftandeft indicted, or Not Guilty?

Mary Moders. Not Guilty, my Lord.

Cl. of the Peace. How wilt thou be try’d?

Prifoner. By God and the Country,

Cl. of the Peace. God fend thee a good De-
liverance.

And afterwards fhe being {ct to the Bar inor-
der to her Trialy fhe pray’d time ull the Mor-
row for her Trial : Which was granted, and af!
Perfons concerned were ordered to attend them
at Nine of the Clock 1n the Forcnoon.

[ The Reader is defired to take notice of the

following Paflage : ]

After fhe was arraigned, and going back to
the Goal, her Husband the young Lord told
her, He muft now bid her adieu for ever. To
which fhe replied,

Nayy sy Lordy *tis nct amifs,
Before awe party to bavea Kifs.

And {o faluted him, and faid, #hat a Quairel
and Noife bere’s of a Cheat! You cheated e, and [
you : You told me you were a Lordy and I told you
I was a Princefsy and I think I fitted you, And
fo faluting each other, they parted.

Fune 4, 1067,

T HE Court was fat; Proclamation was made.

Cl of the Peace. O Yes! all manner of
Perfons that have any thing more to do, £5.
Set Mary Moders to the Bar: Where fhe accord-
ingly ftood.

Cl. of the Peace.  Mary Moders, alias Stedmair,
hold up thy Hand: [which fhe did.] Thofe Men
that you fhall hear called, and perfonally appear.
are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord the King
and you for your Lite: If you will challenge

them,
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them, you muft do it when

- of
them, or any before they

they come to the Book to be fworn,
are fWOl’ﬂ. Alld then were Cal]ed,

77illiaim Rutland, Sinon Diiver,

Arithur Vigers, Robert Kivkban,
Arthur Capels Hugh Maffoi,

Tho. Sisith, Tho. FVeftley

Iran. Chaplin, Richard Clutterbuck,
Robert Harvey, Rondolplh Tooke.

And fhe challenged 11011<35_but Fhey were {c-
verally fworn by the Oath following

Look pon the Prifoucr : You fhall well and tyuly
1y 1l 1t Deliveraiice :-:J:_zkc, between onr Sovereign
Lord the King and the Prifouer at the Bary twhois
o foall bave in Chaige, accoiding to your L
aice. So help yor God.

Cl. of the Peace. Crier, make Proclamation :
¢ O Yes! if any onc can inform my Lords the
¢ King's Jultices, the King’s._ Scrjeant, or.the
¢ King's Attorncy, before this Inqueft be taken
¢ herween our Sovereign Lord the King, and
¢ the Prifoner at the Bary let them come forth,
¢ and they fhall be heard, for now the Prifoner
¢ ftands at the Bar upon her Deliverance: And
¢ o}l others that are bound by Recognizance to
¢ give Evidence againit the Prifoner at the Bar,
« come forth and give Evidence, or clle you’ll
¢ forfeit your Recognizance.’

The Witacflis being called feveral times, and
not appearing, young Carlefon came into the
Court 1n a rich Garb trimmed with tcarlet Rib-
bands, and praved that in refpect his Father and
the reft of the Witnetles were not all ready, the
Trial might be defery’d for halfan hour;-and he
going back, and pafling the Prifoner his Princets,
who ftood thee in a dlack Velvet Waltcoat,
dreffed in her Hair, trimmed alfo with {carlet

Ribbands, fhe, (veilling her Face with her Fan)

laugh'd at him, to the great Oblervation of the
Court: And {o the young Lord left the Court
(by Advice of his Friends) and betook himfelf
to an adjoining Houle, where he {tood the whole
Trial,

After fome ftay, the Witneffes came 1nto the
Court, and the Prifoner was fet tothe Bar, and
Silence being coramanacd, the IndiCtment was
again read. _

Cl. of the Peace.  Upon this Indictment fhe
hath pleaded Not Guilty, and for her Trial hath
put heilelf upon God and the Country; which
Country you are. Your Charge is to enquire
whether fhe be Guilty of the faid Felony, or
Not Guilty: If you find her Guilty, you fhall
enguire what Goods and Chattels fhe had at the
time of the Felony committedy, or at any tume
fithence : If you find her Not Guilty, you [hall
enquire whether fhe did flec for it; if you find
that fhe fled for it, you ihall enquire of her
Goods, {gc. as if the had been Guilty @ If you
find the be Not Guilty, nor that fhe did flee
for it, {1y lo, and no more, and hear your Evi-
dence.

Several Witnclles were fworn by the Oath
following :

The Ewidence that yox fball fwear between onr So-
wereign Lovd the King and the Prifoner at the Bar,
Vor. IL
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Joall be the Truth, the whole Truth, and uothing but

the Truth. 8o belp yon God.

Faines Kiot. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the

Jury, I gave this Woman in Marriage to onc

Thomas Stedman, which is now alive in Dover,
and [ faw him laft Week.

Conit. Where was the married ?

Kust. In Cauterbuiy.

Court. Where there?

Anot, In 8t Mildied’s, by one Parfon Max,
who Is now dead. |

Court. How long f{ince were they married?

Kaot, About Nine Years ago.

Court.  Did they live together afrerwards ?

Kuot.  Yes, about four Years, and had two
Children. g

Court. You gave her in Marriage, but did
the Minifter give her to her Husband then?

Kuot.  Yes, and they lived together.,

Ju+y. Friend, did you give this very Woman?

Kiot. Yes.

Covit.  What Company was there?

Kuot.  There wasthe married Couple, her Si-
fter, mylelfy the Parfon, and the Sexton.

Conrz. YW here is that Sexton.

Knot. I know noty, my Lord,

Court.  You are {ure they were married in the
Church, and this the Woman?

Knot. Yes, I am fure of ir,

Cozrt. How long ago ?

Knot. About Nine Years ago.

Court. Did you know this Woman before
the Marriage, and how long?

Knot. Yesy | knew hera long time, T wasan
Apprentice feven Years near her Mother's Houfe
in Canterbury.

Court. Then fhe’s no foreign Princels ? OF
what Parentage was fhe ?

Kiot. 1 did not know her own Father, [and

in that be wmight be believed] but her Father-in-
law was a Mufician there,

Conrt. Youfaw her married: What Words
were ufed at her Marriage, and in what Man-
ner |

o, They were married according to the
Order of the Land, a little before the A& came
forth touching Marriages by Juftices of the
Peace.

Cowit, Was it by the IForm of Common
Prayer, any thing read of that Form?

(wot. 1 did not take notice of that, I was but
a young Man, and was defired to go along with
them. .

Williain Clark being fworn, {aid, my Lord, 1
was laft Week in Dovery in company with this
Fames Kuot and Thowas Stcdmairy and he the faid
Stedman did own that he did marry one Mary
Madeisy a Daughter of one in Canterbury, and thac
Knet gave her, and that he had two Children by
her, and declared his Willinanefs to come up to
oive Evidence againft her, but wanted Moncy

for his Journey : And I have underftood that a
Perfon here in Court was of a Jury at Canteibury,

at a I'rial between Day and Aary Stedinan at the
Bar, for having two Husbands.

Court. Was fhe cleared?

Clark. 1 cannot tell.

Young Cailetor’s Father {worn. My Lord,
I was at Dover the lalt Week, on Wednefday ;
I faw the Husband of this Woman, and the Man
acknowledge himfelf to be fo, and did fay that

Sss 2 Fames
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Fames Knot was the Man that gave her in Mar-
riage to him.

Conrt, Where is this Man her Husband?
Hearfays muft Condemn no Man: What do
you know of your own Knowledge?

Carleton the Elder. 1 know the Man isalive,

Court. Do you know he was married to her?

Carleton. Not 1, my Lord.

Savah Williams. My Lord, this Woman was
bound for Barbadoes, to go along with my Hul-
band, and fhe defired to lodge at our Houle for
{fome time, and did foj; and when the Ship was
ready to go, {he went into Kent to receive her
Means, and faid fhe would meet the Ship i the
Downs 3 and mifling the Ship, took Boatand went
to the Ship. After feveral Days remaining there,
there came her Husband with an Order, and
fetch’d her athore, and carried her to Dover-Caflle.

Court. What was his Name that had an Or-
der to bring her on Shore again ?

Savab Williams. His Name was Thomas Sted-
i,

Court.
Marriage?

Carleton the Elder. No, none but Kot there
was none but three, the Minifter dead, the Sex-
ton not to be found, and this Kot who hath gi-

ven Evidence,

Have you any more to prove the firft

Court. What became of the two Children,
Kot ?
Kuot. 'They both dicd.

Carleton the Elder. Stedman {aid in my hear-
ing, that they bad lived four Years together,
had two Children by her, and both dead ; five
Years ago laft Zafler fince fhe left him.

Couit. Mr. Carleton, what have you heard this
Woman fay?

Caileton. My Lord, the will confefs nothing.

Court. Mr. Carletoin, did you look in the
Church-Regifter for the firlt Marriage?

Carleton. | did look in the Book, and he that
is now Clerk, was then Sexton, (7uff now #ot 10
be found) ;) he told me, that Marriages being then
very numerous, preceeding the At before-men-
tion’d, the then Clerk had neglected the Regi-
ftry of this Marriage. If the intended this Trade,
fhe likewile knew how to make the Clerk mif-
take rvegiftring the Marriage.

Young Casleten’s Brother fworn; who faid,
My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, I was
prefent at the Marriage of my Brother with this
Gentlewoman, which was on or about 4pril 21,
1663. They were married at Great St. Bartho-
lomew’s, by one Mr. Smith, a Minifter here in
Court, by Licene.

Mr. Smith the Parfon {fworn: My Lord, all
that I can fay, is this; That Mr. Carleton the
Younger told me of fuch a Bufinefs, and defired
me to marry them: Theycame to Church, and
I did marry them by the Book of Common-
Prayer.

Conrt. My, Sinith., are you fure that is the
Woman? ’

Paifon. Yes, my Lord, itis; I believe fhe
will not deny it.

Piifoner. Yes, my Lord, I confefs I am the
Voman.

Court. Have you any more Witnefles ?

Carleton. We can get no more but Kwof to
prove the firft Marriage, the laft is clear.

Tudge Howel. Where is Knot 7 Remember
yourlelt what you faid before. You fay, you

know that Woman at the Bar, that you hag
known her a great while, that the was born neay
you 1n Gaaterbury, that you were prefent at hey
Marriage, that Parfon Az married them, thay
none were prefent but yourfelf, the married
Couple, Parfon, Sexton, and her Sifter.

Kuot. Some others came into the Church,
but none that I knew ; T am {ure none went with
her, but thofe I named.

Court. 'Who gave her in Marriage ?

Knot, 1 did.

Court, How came you to doit?

Knot. 1 was Stedman’s Shop-Mate, and he de-
fired me to go along with him.

Court. Were her Parents then living, or no?

Kuot. Her Mother was,

Jury. How old are you?

Knot. Two or three and thirty Years.

Jury. How longago was this Marriage ?

Knot.  About nine Years {ince.

Court. Then he wastwenty-three, andmigh:
do it: What is your Trade of Life?

Kuot. I am a Cordwainer, otherwife a Shoc-
maker; Stedman was {o too; we wrought boch
together,

Fuiry. We defire to know whether {he had
a Father and Mother then living ?

Kiot.  She had a Father-in-law.

Court,  IDid you know her Mother?

Knot., Yes.

Court, How long before that Marriage did
her own Father die?

Kiot. 1 did not know him. [He [aid [o be~
fore indeed.’}

Conrt. What Age was fhe when married ?

Kiot. 1 {uppole about nineteen or twenty.

Prijener. May it pleale your Honours, and
Gentlemen of the Jury, you have heard the fc.
veral Witnefles, and I think this whole Country
cannot but phinly fee the Malice of my Hul-
band’s Father againft me; how he cauflefly hunts
after my Life. When his Son my Husband,
came and addrefled himfelf to me, pretending
himlelf a Perfon of Honour, and upon firft Sight
preffed me to Marriage; Irold him, Sir, (faidl)
Iam a Stranger, have no Acquaintance here, and
defire you to defift your Suit. I could not fpeak
my Mind,buthe (having borrow’d fome thread-
bare Compliments) replied, Madam your feeming
Virtues, your amiaple Perfon, and noble De-
portment, render you fo excellent, that were I
in the leaft interefted inyou, I cannot doubt of
Happinefs : And fo with many Words to the
like purpofe, courted me. Itold him, and indeed
could not much wonder, that at {o fmall 2
Glance he could be fo prefumpuous with a2
Stranger, to hint this to me: But all I could
{ay, would not beat him off. And prefently af-
terwards he having intercepted my Letter, by
which he underftood how my Affairs ftood, and
how confiderable my Means were, he ttill urged
me to marry him: And immediately by the Con-
trivance of his Friends, gaping at my Fortune,
I was hurried to Church to be married, which
the Parfon at firft did without Licenfe, to fecure
me to my Husband, and fome time after had =
Licenfe.

And my Husband’s Father afterwards confi-
dering I had a confiderable Fortune, prefled me,
that in refpet I had no Relations here, and be-
caufe, fays he, we are Mortal, you would do

well to make over your Eftate to my Son yous
Husband ;
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Husband ; it will bz much foi yoitr Honour, Sa-
risfalion of the World, and for which you will
be chronicled for a rare Woman. And percei-
ving he had not baited his Hook {ufficient (with
fome fair Pretences,) to catch me then, he and
his Son, who were both willing to make up {ome
of their former Lofies in circumventing me of
what I had, they robb’d me of my Jewels, and
Clothes of great Value 3 and afterwards preten-
ded they were counterfeit Jewels, and declared
that I had formerly been married to one at Can-
terbury, which Place I know not: and this
grounded on a Letter (of their own framing) fent
from Dover, with a Defcription of me 5 that I
was a young fat Woman, full-breafted 5 that I
fpoke feveral Languages, and therefore they ima-
oined me the Perfon; and fo violently carried
me from my Lodging before a Juftice of Peace,
only to affright me, that I might make my E-
{tate over to them. The Jultice having heard
their feveral Allegations, could not commit me,
unlefs thcy would be bound to profecute me ;
which my Husband being unwilling to, the Ju-
{tice demanded of his Father whether he would
profecute me, faying, they muft not make a Fool
of him; and fo after fome W hifperings, the Fa-
ther and his Son wege both bound to profecute,
and thercupon I was committed to Prilon. And
fince that, thefe People have been up and down
the Country, and finding none there that could
juftify any thing of this Matter, they get here
an unkeown Fellow, unlefs in a Prifon, and from
thence borrow’d, you cannot but all judge, to
{wear againft me. My Lord, were there any
fuch Marriage as this Fellow pretends, methinks
there might be a Certificate from the Minifter,
or Place; certainly if married, it muft be regi-
ftred ; But there is no Regiftry of ity and fo can
be no Certificate, no Minifter nor Clerk to be
found. And if I fhould own a Marriage, then
you fee that great Witnefs cannot tell you whe-
ther I was lawfully married, or how ; but it is e-
nough for him (if fuch a paltry Fellow may be
believed) to fay, I was married. I was never yer
married to any but Fobn Carletony the late pre-
tended Lord: But thefe Perlons bave {ought all
ways to take away my Life, bring Perfons to
fwear again{t me, one hired with Five Pounds,
and another old IFellow perfuaded to own me for
his Wife ; who came to the Prifon, and fecing
another Woman, owned her, and afterwards my-
felf, and indeed any body. 1f fuch an old incon-
fiderable Fellow had heretofore woo’d me, it
muft have been for want of Difcretion, as Carle-
toir did for want of Moncy 5 but I know of no
fuch thing. Several Scandals have been laid up-
on me, but no mortal Fleth can truly touch the

leaft Hair of my Head for any {uch like Oftence ;
they have framed this of themfelves. My Lord,
Tam a Stranger and a Foreigner ; and being in-
tormed there is Matter of Law in this Trial for
my Lifey my Innocence fhall be my Counfellor,
and your Lordthips my fudges, to whom I
wholly refer my Caufe. Since I have been in
Prifon, {everal from Canterbury have been to fec
me, pretending themfelves (if I were the Perfon
25 W25 r{:lﬂ[ﬁd) to be my School-Mates ; and
when they came to me, the Keeper can juftify,
they all declared they did not know me.

Conrt. Koty you faid fhe lived near you at
Caiterbuiy 3 what Woman or Man there, have
you to prove the lived there ? Have you none in
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that whole City, neither for love of Juftice nor
Right, will come to fay fhe lived there ?

Knot. I believe I could fetch one,

Court. Well faid! Arve they to fetch fHll?

Prifoner. My Lord, I defire fome Witnefles
may be heard in my Behalf.

Llizaberh Collier examined. My Lord, my Hus-
band being a Prifoner in the Gate- Houfe, 1 came
there to fee my Husband, and did work there on
Days; and there came in an old Man, his Narmc
was Billing, he faid he had a Wife there : {ays
Mr. Baley, Go in and find her out; and he faid
I was his Wife, turned my Hood, and put on
his Spectacles, looks upon me, and faid I was
che fame Woman his Wife 3 and afterwards
faid I was not, and fo to others: I can fay no
more.

Faire Finch examined. My Lord, there came
a Man and Woman one Night, and knock’d ac
my Door; I came down, they asked to {peak
with one Fawe Finch., Iam the Perfon, faid I.
We underftand, faid they, you know Mus. Caric-
ton now in Prifon. Not I, faid I, I only went
to {ec her there. Said they, be not {crupulous;
if you will go and juftify any thing againit her,
we will give you 5 /.

Court. Who are thofe two?

Finch. I do not know them, my Lord.

Mr. Baley examined. My Lord, there has been
at leaft five hundred People have view’d her; {e-
veral from Canterbary, forty at leaft that faid they
lived there; and when they went up to hey, the
hid not her I'ace at all, but not one of them
knew her.

Conrt. What Country-woman are you?

Prifoner. 1 was born 1n Cologiz in Germaiy.

Conrt. M. Caileton, how came you to under-
ftand fhe was married formerly?

Carleton Elder. 1 received a Letter from the
Recorder of Cantcrbury to that purpole.

Prifoucr. They that can offer 5/. to {wear a-
gainft me, can alfo frame a Letter again{t me :
They fay I was Nineteen Ycas of Age about
Nine Years ago, and am now but Twenry-one.

Coust. M. Garleton, you heard what Kwot {aid
he {aid fhe lived near him four Years a \Wite,
why did not you get fomebody elie from thence
to teftify this?

Caileton. Here was one Davis that was at her
Father’s Houfe, and {poke with him —-

Conrt. Where 1s he?

Carleton. I know not; he was here.

Conrt. You were telling the Court of a former
IndiGment againft her, what was that for?

Carleton. She was Inditted for having two
Husbands, Stedman of Canterbury her firlt Hus-
band, and Day of Dover, Chirurgeon, her fecond
Husband. The Indiftment was traverfed the
Year before his Majefty came to Eagland, ihe
was found Not guilty.

Conrt. Who was at that Trial ?

Carleton. One here in Court was of the Jury.
But that Party faid there was fuch a Trial, but
knows not that this is the Woman. -

Judge Howel. Gentlemen of the Jury, you fcc
this Indiétment is againft Mary Moders, other-
wife Sredman, and it 1s for having two Husbands,
both at one time alive; the firlt Stedman, atters
wards married to Carleton, her former Husband
being alive. You have heard the Proof of the
firft Marriage, and the Proof doth depend upon

one Witnefs, that is Knor; and he indeed di?th
ay,



502

{ay, he was at the Marriage, gave her, and he
names one AMan the Parlon that married her,
that he is dead 3 none prefent there but the mar-
ried Couple that muft needs be there, the Par-
{fon, this Witnels, her Sifter, and the Sexton ;
that he knows not what is become of the Sex-
ton. All the Evidence given on that Side, to
prove her Guilty of this Indiétment, depends
upon his fingle Teftimony. It is true, he fays
the was married at Cauterbury, but the Particu-
Jars, or Manner of the Marriage, he doth not
fo well remember, whether by the Book of
Common Prayer, or otherwifc ; but they lived
together for four Years, had two Children, It
fhe were born there, married there, had two
Children there, and lived there fo long, it werc
ealy to have brought fomebody to prove this:
rhat is all that is material for the firlt Mar-
11age. *

For the fecond, there is little Proof neceflary 5
the confeflfes herfelf married to Casleron, and
owns him ; the Queftion 15, Whether the was
married to Stedizair or not?

You have heard whar Defence the hath made
for herfelf, fome Witneffes on her behalf: Ifyou
belicve that Kaot, the fingle Witnefs, fpeaks the
‘Truth fo far forth to {atisty your Conlicience that
that was a Marriage, fhe is Guilty. You {ce
what the Circumitances are, it is penal; if Guil-
ty, the mult die ; a Woman hath no Clergy, fhe
is to dic by the Law, if Guilty. You heard the
was indiGted at Dover for having two Husbands,
Stedinan the firlt, and Day the fecond. There,
it leems by that which they have faid, fhe was
acquitted ; none can fay this was the Woman :
That there was a Trial, may be believed 3 but
whether this be the Woman try'd or acquit-
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ted, doth not appear. One here, that was of
that Jury, fays there was a Trial, but knows
not that this is the Woman. So that upon
the whole, it it left to you to confider of the
Evidence you have heard, and fo 10 give your

Verdict.

[ The Jury went forth, and after fome thoyt
Conlultation returned to their Places.]

Their Names were called, and all anfwered.

Cl. of the Peace, Are you all agrecd of vour
Verdiét ? '

Fury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fay for you?

Fury. The Foreman.

Clerk. Mary Moders alias Stedinan, hold up thy
Hand: Look upon her, Gentlemen; what fay
you, 15 fhe Guilty of the Fclony whereof fhe
ftands indifted, or Not guilty ?

Forcinan. Not guilty.

[And thercupon a great Number of Peopic
being in and about the Court, hiffed and clapped
their Hands.]

Clesk. Did the fly for it ?

Foreinan. Not that we know.

Afterwards the defired, that her Jewels and
Clothes taken from her, might be reftored to
her. The Court acquainted her, that they were
her Husband's, and that if any detained them
from her, he might have his Remedy at Law:
She charging old Mr. Carleton with them, he
declared they were alrcady in the Cuftody of his
Son her Husband.
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Trial of Col. JAMES TURNER, JouN Tur-

NER, WILLIAM 1T URNER, MARY TURNER, aii/
ErLy TURNER, * ar tihe Old-Baily, for Felony and
Burglary, the 15th, 16thy and 19th of January 1663,

15 Car. IL
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Ve lonely William, Turier, Mary Turner,
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Clerk of the Peace. Faies Tuiner,
hold up thy Hand: which he did.  Fobn Turner
hold up thy Hand.

Col. Turuer. He 15 not here, but he is hard by,
and I will fend for him. My Lord, it has becn
reported lic was fled 5 it was a Miftake, he is in
Fieet-flrcet, where he has been ever fince this
Bufinets.

[And thercupon he fent one for him, and then
the Court proceeded to fome other Bufinefs. A~

* Kelyng. Rep. 30,

bout half an Hour after, the faid Foliz came in-
to the Courry and was fet among the other Pri-
{oners at the Bar.

Cl. of the Peacs. Fames Turuer, hold up thy
Hand; Fobn Turiery hold up thy Hand 3 Zillian:
Turnery hold up thy Hand 5 Mary Turner, hold
up thy Hand 5 Ely Turner, hold up thy Hand :
W hich they all did, and then the faid Clerk read
their Indi€tment ; which was as followeth

¢ Y OU ftand indicted in Zondon by the Names
¢ of Fames Turner late of London Gentleman,
¢ Fobi Turner late of London Labourery, #illians

¢ Turner late of London Labourer, Mary Turizer
¢ late
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¢ late of London Spinfler, (otherwile Mary Turner
¢ the Wife of the faid Fawes Turner) and Ely
¢ Turuer late of London Labourer 5 for that you
v the (aid James Turiery Jobn Turner, and WVil-
¢ Jigim Tuiner, the 7th Day ot j"anaagr, In the
« Fifteenth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign
¢ 1.ord Charles the Second, by the Grace of God,
¢ of Bicnlaid, Scotland, France and Ireland, King,
« Defender of the Faith, about Ten of the Clock
¢ in the Night-time of the fame Day, with Force
¢ ond Arms, £Fc. at Loadon, that 1s to {ay, inthe
¢ Parifh of St. Dyonis Back-church, in the Ward
¢ of Liwme-[ircety Londoi, afm_'cfa:d, in the Dwel-
¢ ling-Houfe of one Fraucis Tryor Nerchant,
¢ hore felonioufly and burglarly you did break
¢ and enter ;3 and on him the faid Francis Tryon,
¢ againft the Peace of Gofi, qnd of our faid So-
¢ yereign Lord the King, in his Dwelling-Houle
¢ aforelaid, thanand thcrc' being and refting, fec-
¢ Jopioufly and burglarly did make an Aflaule, and
¢ him the faid Fraucis Tiyen i corporal Fear of
¢ his Life felonioudly and burglarly you did put;
¢ and one Pendant Pearl fer in Gold, and a pre-
< cious Stone fix’d theretoy of the Valuc ot 150/,
¢ Two Pendant Pearls with Half-Moon, feven
¢ Diamonds, and cight Rubies fix’d to every of
¢ them, of the Value of So/Z  One Topaz and
¢ Pendent Pearl at the bottom thereof, of the
¢ Value of 201 One Emerald Jewel, and five Dia-
¢ monds, of the Valuc of 150 /. One Gold Ring,
¢ ond Diamonds {ct therein, of the Value of 30 /.
¢ One other Gold Ring, and nine Diamonds fix’d
¢ in the fame Ring, called an Agar Ring, of the
¢ Value of 5 2. One Jewel, and thirty-feven Dia-
¢ monds, of the Value of 30/, One Gold Chain
¢ of the Value of 307 One Gold Ring and
¢ nine Diamonds fet therein, of the Value of 6 /.
¢ Another Gold Ring and a Jacinth-frone faften-
¢ od therein, and two Diamonds fet in cither of
¢ them, of the Valueof 34 One other Gold
¢« Rung of the Value of 20 4, Onc Necklace of
¢ Pearl, of the Value of goo/. One Knot of
¢ Diamonds and Pendant Pearls faftened thereto,
¢ of the Value of 300/, One Sprig and three
¢ bluc Saphires, nine Pendant Pearls, and fifty-
¢ ix Diamonds faftened thereio, of the Value of
¢ 320/. Onc Gold Ring and thirteen Diamonds
¢ {ct therein, of the Value of o /. One other
¢ Gold Ring and Diamonds fet therein, of the
¢ Value of o/ One Knot and {eventy-five Dia-
monds fet therein, of the Value of roo/. One
¢ Necklace of Pearls, containing one hundred
¢ feventy-two Pearls, of the Value of 11/. 105
¢ One Necklace of Pearl, containing two hun-
¢ dred feventy fix Pearls, of the Value of 15/
¢ 10s5. One Jewel and forty-fix Diamonds fet
¢ therein, of the Value of 300/ One Jewel and
¢« fifryv-three Diamonds fet therein, of the Vaiuc
¢ of 2007. One Gold Ring, and one Diamond
¢ feriherein, of the Value of 50/, Une Locket
¢ and thirty-fix Diamonds {ct therein, of the Va-
¢ luc of 70l Two Lockets and one Ruby, and
¢ rwenty Diamonds let in either of them, of the
¢ Valuzof 6o0/. Que Pendant Pearl fet in Gold,
¢ and four Dismonds {er therein, of the Value of
¢ 457 One other Gold Ring, and with one Dia-
¢ mond, of the Value of 35/. Six Bracelets fet
¢ with precious Stones, of the Value of 20/
¢ One blue Saphire, twenry-four Diamonds, of
* the Value of 407, One Locket and nine yel-

¢

* Chief Fuflie of the King’s-Bench,

5C3
¢ low Diamonds fet in Gold, of the Value of
¢ 20/. One Locket and eight Diamonds fet
¢ therein, of the Value of 8. One Jewel and
¢ twelve Diamonds fet therein, of the Value of

17/. One Gold Ring and Diamond, of the
Value of ¢, One Jewel and Saphire, Ruhy
and Emerald adjacent, and four Ophirs fet
therein, of the Value of 12/, Twelve Scorch
Pearls, of the Value of 3. Sixty-two Pearls,
¢ of the Valueof 12/,  One Oriental Amethift,
¢ {ix Diamonds fet therein, of the Value of 20/,
¢ Two other Gold Rings, nine Diamonds in ei-
¢ ther of them, of the Value of 157, One other
¢ Gold Ring and thirteen Diamonds fet therein,
¢ of the Value of 87. One Jewel and ten Dia-
* monds, and feven Emeralds, of the Value of
¢ 151 Sixteen Gold Rings, «nd feven Diamonds
“ in every of them, of the Valuc of 754/, One
¢ Bracelet and thirteen great Rubies fet therein,
¢ of the Value of 100/, Six Two and Twenty

Shilling Pieces of G-.1d, fve other Pieces of
Gold, called Five Shillings Six Pence a piece
three other Picces of Gold of two Shillings
Nine-pence a piece ; another Piece of Geld of
Twenty Shillings; two other Picces of Gold
of Five Shillings a piccey four Eleven-Shilling
Pieces of Gold ; five Pieces of French Gold of
fixteen Shillings ix-pence a picce, and 1023/,
in Money, (particularly named in the faid In-
ditment) of the Goods and Chatrels of the
{aid Francis Tryon, then and there being found,
then and there felonioufly and borglarly you did
{teal, take and carry away. Aad that you the
[aid Mary Turner and Ely Turwer knowing the
faid Febu Turner the Felony and Burglary atore-
fard to have committed ; the faid Fobiz Turuer
afterwards, that is to fay, the 8th Day of Ya-
¢ suary, in the Fifteenth Year aforefaid, at Los-
¢ don atorefaid, that is to fay, in the Parifh of
¢ St. Audiew Underfhaft, in the Ward of dldgate,
¢ felonioufly did receive, comfort and maintain,

¢ againft the Peace of our faid Sovereign Lord
¢ the King, his Crown and Dignity.
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How fayeft thou, Fames Turuer, art thou Guil-
ty of the Felony and Burglary whereof thou
{tandeft indicted, or Not guilty?

Col. Tusner. My Lord, and the honourable
Bench, 1 thall no way be refractery, nor do any
thing that doth not become a Gentleman; but 1
humbly befecch your Honours that you will ftand
my Friend, that I may have Juitice, and your
Honours Opinion mews—e

* Ld Hyde. You arc to plead now to your In-
diftment.

Col. Zerner. 1 do not refufe it my Lord, I
beg your Honour to hear me 2 Word——-

Ld Hyde. Plead to the IndiCtment, and then {ay
whar you will; ’till that be done, all you can
fay will fignify lictle : we are to receive your
Anfwer to your Plea firft, afterwards fay what
you will; you muft now fay Guilty, or Not
Guilty.

Turner. 1 thall not refufe to plead, but I beg
my own (oods may be reftored to me ; my
Houle, my Lord, is locked up, and Children
turned out of Doors, and I have nothing to {up-
port us. L

Ld Hyde. Are you Guilty or Not guiliy? You
{hall have Right donc you,

Toriiers
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Turner. T will take your Honour’s word for
it; I am Not Guilty.

Clerk. How will you be tried?

Turner. By God and the Country.

Clerk. How fayeft thou, Fohn Turner, avt thou
Guilty of the Felony and Burglary whereof thou
{tande(t indicted, or Not Guilty? [And fo /il

liam Turner, and likewile Mary Turner, and Ely
Turner, as Acceflaries, being demanded the like

Queftions, feverally pleaded Not Guilty, and
put themfelves on God and the Country to be
tried.

Ld]Hyde. Now, Mr. Zurser, let us know who
has feized any thing of yours.

Turner. The Shertff, Sir Richard Ford and Sir
Richard Rives, and they are in pofleflion of my
Houfe ; 1 have none but a Child of 7 and ¢ at
home, and have not a Shirt to command. It’s
true, the Sheriff, Sir Richard Ford, was {o civil
yefterday as to give me fome Linen.

Sir Richard Foid. 1 fhall give your Lordfhip

an account of this: I fuppofe, my Lord, we
have done nothing but what was cuftomary; a

Seizure we have made now, but after we had
heard this Gentleman was committed for Felony
and Burglary, and that none but Children were
in the Houfe, my Lord, we thought it our
Duty, both for his Good, to fecure his Eftate,
if acquitted, and fo for the King, if convited,
that fo the fame might not be imbezel'd ; and
thereupon caufed an Inventory to be taken there-
of: But, my Lord, we difpoflefled none: it is
true, we have left a Servant or two, for whom
we are and muft be refponfible 5 whatever they
would difpeie or had occafion for, they had it
without Contradiftion. We offered him, that if
lic had any I'riend of his own that would under-
take them to be forth-coming, in cafe he were
convift, we would leave them in poflefion of
themn ; we have made no Seizure, what we have
donc is according to Cuftom ; if we have not
done that wh:ch vour Lordfhips approve of,
we beg your pardon,

Ld Flyde. We are to look to that which is
according to Law ; the Goods of a Man that is
accufed of Feiony (he is but only {o yet) he for-
feits none of his Goods, till convict 3 more than
that, he is to live upon them during his Trial ;
but on the other hand, where a Man is accufed
of Felony, and indicted for ir, it is but Prudence,
and agrecable to Law, to take care the Goods
he not mbezel'd; becaule, 1t a Convition fol-
low, they are forfeited to the King ; therefore
the Sheriffs have done but what they ought to
do: they are not taken from ynu, whar you have
occafton for, cither for Money (or Goods to turn
into Moncy) for your prefent Supply, till your
Trial be overy, God forbid but you fhould have
1t, and you fhall have it if you have any Friend
that will undertake the Goods fhall be forth-
coming for the King, in cale you be convited,
or for your felf, if acquitted, it thall be done. In
the mean time what you have occafion for your
felf, Wife or Children, God forbid but you
fhould have 1t: and this is as much as by Juftice
you ought to claim.

Turier, 1 {ubmit to your Honour, and I beg
of your Honour and the Bench to be of Counfel
for mec; for though the World looks on me asa
Sollicitor, 1t 15 a miftake, my Lord, it is not
i Law, I ama Stranger to ir; ic has been only
in Dealings for Monies, by Purchafes and the

6. The Trial of Col. James Turner, £5c.
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like. But, my Lord, I am informed your Lord-
fhip may reftore me thefe Goods without Secy-
rity 5 if the Law directs Security, I am ready
to give It.

T Ld Ch. J. Brideman. For thart,
that you may not miftake the Law,
it 1s very true, the words of the
Statute of Richard 111. fay, A Man’s
Goods fhall not be feized before indifted. You
muft underftand the Difterence of the Law, that
has made the Miftake ; it was then good, but
not now ; then a Man’s Courfe was to indi&
them and procefs againtt them before commir-
ted, but now it is altered; for when it re-
mained indifterent, whether Guilty or Not guil-
ty, he was te be maintained ourt of his Goods:
fo ought you and your Family: for the Town
being anfwerable for the Goods of fuch a Felon,
that they might not be amerced, in fuch Cafes
{fufhcient Surcties were given: the Statute of
Philip and Mary gives the Power of Commit-
ment by Juitices of Peace, and fo now it is quite
altered 5 and thougzh they cannot feize the Goods,
yet they being refponfible for them, they ought
to have good Sccury.

Str Richard Ford. 1 do affure your Lordthips,
that from the very firtt Hour we put our People
ito the Houfe, none of his Family there then
or now have been denied any thing in the Houfe: |
it I be not mifinformed, that very Nighe that
he was committed, there was cenveyed out of
his Houfe for his Ufe and his Occalions, fome
fav 200/ they that ay leaft, fay 100/, they have
had a free Difpofal of what was in the Houfe ;
and then, my Lord, could we do lefs than what
we have done?

Turner. T would have made a (hort bufinefs of
this, I tendred Sccurity of yooo /. to their own
Content, they accepted of the Perfons, bur onc
{tanding by, faid, By no means; and fo it is fhill
undone. If you pleafe, I have Security now.

Ld Hyde. There nced not much ado for Sc-
curity ; if your Trial were not to be prefently,
then there were Caufe for you to infift on this;
but now there is but one Night; if you want
any thing for this Night, the Sheriffs here offer
what you will, to-morrow will determine the
Queftion, - hether thefe Goods are yours, or no.

Turuer, I will fubmit to the Court, T will not
be refratory 5 here is Security, if you pleafe; if
not, [ am content.

Ld Hyde. 1f you want any thing, cither Mo-
ney or Clothes, or any thing clfe, you may have
them.

Turner. My Lord, the greateft thing will be
fome Writings and Papers, which will concern
me at my Tral to clear me then.

Ld Hyde. Do this ; neminate one Perfon, the
Sherift another to go with him, and what Wii-
tings you will have broughr, they fhall take a
Note of them, and bring them to you.

Turner, 1 have divers Writings of Gentlemens
E{tates, Bonds and Things in my Hands, and the
Papers are amonglt them; and I do beg I may,
with the Keeper, go my {elf now.

Ld Hyde. 1 cannot, nor the Court, give you
leave 5 you {tand indiéted for Felony and Bur-
glary.

Zurner. Ler my Sons go, my Lord.

Ld Hyde. 'They are indicted too, and are not
bailable 5 if Mr. Sheriff (who is anfverable for
you) will fend any with them, he may.

Six
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Siy Rizh. Ford. I {hall be willing to ferve you,
Gentlemen, fo far my felf, if your Lordihip will
fpare me from further Service here, to go with
fuch Perfon as he fliall appoint. _

I.d Hyde. We leave that to Mr. Sheriff’s Ci-
vility, we can giveno Rule for 1t.

Turner. 1 may be cut off of my Life, if I want
my Papers. |
Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Doth your Life de-
pend upon rhis Evidence in Matter of Faét ?

Turner. My Lord, 1 have been fo ftrangely
handled in this Bufinels, 1 know not where it de-

ends.
' Sir Rich. Ford. If he will fay in what Trunk
or Cheft they are in, they fhall be brought to
the Court. [ Thereupon Mr. Tarner offered to
{end a Pillowbeer, and the Sheriff faid he thould
have the Writings. ]

Ld Hyde. Provide your felf for to-morrow,
Mr. Turuer, we will then go on.

Turuer. 1 have an humble Requeflt to your
Honours and honourable Bench; I would beg
an Order to bring in fome Witnefles, who are
Mr. T#yon’s Friends now, though mine Ilately ;
divers would come in, but fend me word they
dare not, except they are fummoned by an Or-
der of your Lordfhips.

Ld Ch. Fuft. We willhelp what the Law will
do, but this cannot be done; thofe that will
come in voluntarily, may ; the Law will not ad-
mit us to fummon any Winelles: you fec when
any come again{t the King, we cannor put them
to their Oaths, much lels can we precept them

IO comc.

Turner. Pray, my Lord, let fome of the She-
riff’s Officers wifh them to come, not from the
Bench.

Ld Ch. Fuff. We cannot direft any thing
m'e.

Turner. 1 defire the Party Limfelf may be
here,

Ld Ch, Fuft. We cannot compel him.

Tuiner. Then Ihave no Witnelsinthe World ;
this is a fad thing, that the Profecutor, being
able, will not come; I hope you will advile him
to come.,

Ld Ch. Juft. 'The Law is open, the fame ro
cvery Man, you fhall have that that 1s due to
any Man, you cannot have more, and lefs you
thall not have; if he be bound, we will call
hin.

Turner. What if he will forfeit his Recogni-
zance ?

Ld. Ch. Fuf. We cannot help that, but we
think you nced not fear lis not coming, he in-
tends to be here.

And afrerwards the Priloners were conveyed
back to the Goal.

16 January, 2z the Morning.

TH E Court being fat, and Proclamation
madie, theJury was call’d, viz.

- Williawn Bookey, Thomas Hickfou,
Thomas Seawell,  Fobn Andrews,
Williain dilen, Foln Facob,
Fobn Port, David Bolger,
Francts Coles, Henry Hague,
Rodert Mafiers, Lewis Tajyte.

Who feverally an{wered to their Names.
Vou. IL

for Eelony and Burglary.

505
Clerk. Set up Fames Turnery Fobn Turicrs
William Tnrner, Mary Turuer and Ely Tuiner s
[ Who (with fome Felons) were accordingly fec
to the Bar.] You, the Prifoners that were laft
called to the Bar, thofe Men that you fhall hear
called and pcrionally appear, muft pafs berween
our Sovereign Lord the King and you for your
feveral Lives and Deaths. If you or any of
you will challenge them or any of them, you
muft challenge them when they come to the
Book to be {worn, before they be fivorn, -

Silence commanded twice.

Clerk. Willian: Bookey,look upon the Prifoner:
‘ You thall well and traly try, and true Deliver-
¢ ance make between our Sovercign Lord the
¢ King and the Prifoners at the Bar, whom you
“ {hall have in Charge according to vour Evi-
¢ dence. So help you Ged.’

And fo all the reft werc fworn, fave only Leawis
Tayte, again{t whom he cxcepred, there being
fome littde Difference at prefent between them;
but my Lord Chief Juftices told him he need not
give any Reafon for it, he was frec to except
any without Caufe. Thereupon Capt. Edward
Micoe was {worn in his room. Counr thefe,
Crier.

Williawn Bookey, &e, Twelve good Men and
true, ftand together and hear your Evidince.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation. O Yes!
If any Man can inform my Lords the King’s
Juftices, the King’s Serjeant, or the King’s At-
torney, before this Inqueft be taken betweenour
Sovereign Lord the King and the Prifoners at
the Bar, let them come forth, and they fhall be
heard; for now the Prifoners ftand ac the Bay
upon their Deliverance: and all others bound by
Recognizance to give Evidence againft any the
Prifoners at the Bar, come forth and give Evi-
dence, or cife you will forfeir your Recogni-
Zances.

Clerk. Criery call Fiaucis Tryony, William Hill,
Fred., Ixam, Fobn Garret, Jacel Watcher, Elix.
Fry, Aun Bally Fobn Guerucy, Fraucis Millington,
Fobu Alfop, Peter Culley, Ralph Taskery, Williai
Daws, Foln Roufe, Richard Robertsy, Nath. Clarke,
Robert Cole, Edward Cole. They all came into

the Court.

Clerk. Fames Tuiner, Hold up thy Hand. [And
{o the reft.]

{ Here the Indi€tment was read again.] Upon
this Indi¢tment they have been arraigned, and
thereunto have {feverally pleaded Not Guilty, and
for their Trials have pur themfclves upon God
and the Country, which Country you are. Your
Charge is to enquire whether the faid Fumes,
Fohiz and Hillism Tusnery or any of them, be
Guilty of this Felony and Burglary in Manner
and Form as they ftand indifted, or Not Guilry:
And whether the faid Mary and £y Turnerr are
guilty of the Felony, as Acceffaries to the faid
“Yebn. If you find them Guilty, you fhall enquire
what Goods and Chattels, L.ands and Tenemeats,
they or any of them had at the Time of commit-
ting this Felony or Burglary, or at any tumc
fince: If you find them Not Guilty, you thall
enquire if they fled for it; if you find that they
did fly for ity you fhall enquire, (Fc. as if you
had found them Guilty. 1f you find them Not
Guilty, and they did not fly for it, fay fo, and
no more, and hear your Evidence.

“"Tte But
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obn and Williasn Wife and Children; and I faid, That if an Ap-

But if you acquit Fames, ¥
Turner of the Felony and Burglary, then you
fhall not enquire after Mary and Ely as Accel

{aries.

Sir Thomas Aleyn fworn. The Evidence that

you fhall give, &5e. _

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Pray, Sir Thoinas Aleyn,
tell your knowledge to the Jury. |

Sir 7. 4. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, and
you Gentlemen of the Jury; upon Friday Morn-
ing laft wasfevennight, T heard of this Robbery
at Guild- Hally and the Perfon robbed being my
Acquaintance, I went to vifit him in the After-
noon; and coming there, not thinking but the
Bufinefs had been already examined, feveral Per-
fons with My, Francis Tiyon put me upon the
Bufinels to examine it. 1 went and examined
the two Servants, the Man and the Mard: upon
their Examination [ found they bad fupped a-
broad at a Dancing-School, and had been at
Cards, and came home afterwards; but before
they came home, they heard that an antient
Gentleman, one Mr, Tryon, was robbed, and then
they haftned home. I cxamined them further,
whether they ufed to go abroad after their Ma-
fter was in Bed? The Man confefled he had
been abroad twenty or thirty times at Col. Tur-
sner's Houfe ar Supper, about a Year fince. The
Maid denied they had been there at all: but itis
true the Man’s faying he {upped there (though
1t wis falfe) was the firft Occafion of Sufpicion
of Col. Turner. When 1 had examined thefe
two, I went to the Examination of Turuer,
Where he was all that Day, where at Night?
he told me, at feveral Places and Taverns, and
in Bed at Nincof the clock, and was called out
of his Bed: but having my felf fome Sufpicion
of him, I withed him to withdraw., 1 told
Mv. Tryon, that I belicved if he was not the
Thicf, he knew where the things were. The
old Gentleman {:id, He could not miftruft him,
he had put a great Confidence in him: But ]
defired him to give me leave to charge him with
it; and thereupon [ called him in, but he de-
nied it; but not as a Perfon of his Spirit, which
gave me fome Caufe of further Sufpicion. I de-
fired to {earch his Houfe; nay, told him I
would whether he would or no.  He defired to
go home ; I told him, if he would go with
them (fome Perfons there) he {hould : but you
fhall not {pealk with your Sons or Daughters, or
Servants, they fhall be examined by me.  They
fearched his Houfe, the Marfhal and Confiable,
they {aid they could find nathing. The old Gen-
rleman was very unwilling to charge him with
Felony; fome Friends there were as well fatis-
tied as [ was, thathe was guilty of it; and they
brought me a Paper that he would charge him :
and therenpon I withed him to read that Paper,
told him 1 could do no lefs than fend him to
Newgate,  Sayshe, you will not undo a Family,
will you? Will you not take Bail? No, I can-
not. What Proof have you marteriai againft me?
I will give you as good Bail as any Man; give
me leave to {peak with Mr. Zryon. [ did give
him leave: Fe had no {ooner {poke with him,
but Mr. T#yez would not charge him, he promi-
{ing to endeavour to find the Thief. I took Mr.
Turner on one fide, and told him, I did as verily
believe if he was not the ‘Thief, he could find
him out, as I'belicved I fhould go home to my
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gel from Heaven fhould come, and tell me other-
wife, I could hardly believe it. Thispafled on
this Night: 1 could not flecp all the Nigh,
ftill it was in my Thoughts that this Man was
the Man that had done the Robbery. Next
Morning, after Nine, there came a Gentleman
to me, 2 Perfon of Quality, a Merchant ; if
your Lordfhip defires, I fhall name him,

Ld Chief Fuflice. Pray name him.

Sir 7. 4. It was Alderman Love, my Lord ; He
told me that he thought I was a Fricnd to Ju-
ftice: If 1 would go prefently into the AMinories
my {elf, T might difcover the Perfon that robhed
Mr. Tryons it I ftaid, or fent others, the Birds
would be flown: Mr. Turwer has this Morning
removed {everal hundred Pounds. I went pre-
fently with 2 Footboy. When I came to Bi-
Jhopfgate, meeting with Major Tasker, knowing
not whether I went withour the Liberties, faid
[ to him, Areyouin hafte? Pray go along with
me: And he went with me,

This Gentleman, Alderman Love, told me I
fhould meet with a Maid-Servant of his that
knew- me, though I knew not her: She will
meet you at {uch a Corner, and go with you,
When I came without 4ligate, 1 met with two
Maids that were the Perfons to fhew me the
Place: The Maid told me thefe were the Maids.
I bid them come behind me. At the further
Endof all the Miuories I wentinto the Shop, and
found Coelonel Turner with his Hands in a Cheft:
I charged him to take nothing out, and not tw
ftir himfelf. There was two Wallets, one of
100/, and the other 200/, 1 took the Keys from
him, laid them upon the Comprer: I'went with
him 1into the next Room, which was the Kit-
chens and in another Cheft was two Wallets
more: and now the Gentleman was {pecchlefs.
I told him it was juft as I told him the laft
Night, that your Roguery would come out:
What (faid 1) 15 become of the reflt of the Mo-
ney? Says he, Your hafte will {poil all. T cal-
led in the Maid, to examinc her: But fhe was
fearful, and fo trembled there was no examining
her before Colonel Zuruer.  But in conclufion,
faid I, Colonel Turuer, if you will tell me whe-
ther this be Mr, T7yo’s Money, I will do you
all the Favour I can. Says he, I cannot fay ic
is his Money. I called for 2 Conflable, and made
a Mitzimus to {end him to Neswgate, thinking he
would difcover the Truth. Said I, Will you
give me your Examination? He did: It is in
Court. 1asked him whence this Money came?
He told me it was removed by himfelf, his Wife,
ana Children this Morning.

Turner. My Son and 1, I told you.

Sir 7. 4. 1'asked him where he had received
it ? He told me at a Goldfmith’s, fourteen Days
fince: He did not remember his Name. I asked
why he thould remove his own Money? His
Anfwer was, He did remove it for two or three
Days, till this Foolery was over.

When I faw I could get nothing further from
him, I difcourfed with him touching the Re-
mainder of the Money and the Jewels.  Says he,
Sir Thomas, do not trouble your felf, you will
lofe the Jewels and the reft of the Money by this
Courfe; and, fays he, I am now in purfuit of
them : If you will give me leave to go to the
old Gentleman, I know all will be well. T was

not content to let him go: Bur prefently w&:
calle
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called a Hackney-Coach, and my felf, and him,
and Major Tasker went, and carried that Money
to Mr. Tryon. When we came there, I told
M. Tryon | thought we had brought goo/. of
his Money; and I did not doubt but I had
brought a Perfon that could tell of the reft of
his Money and Jewels. Colonel Tarier defired
to fpeak with Mr. Tiyon himlelf in private. I
gave him leave. He calls me a little after: Sir,
{ays he, Mr. Tryon and I am agrec_d s [ muft have
this Money delivered to me again ; I have af-
{ured him he fhall have all his Money and Jew-
els again by Three of the clock this Afternoon,
I told him I could not agree that he thould have
the Money back again, prels’d. him that he
would ftay there, and fend for the reft of the
Money and Jewels. But he would (if I did not)
truft him: Mr. 77yon would have the reft of his
Money and all his Jewels again.

qurner. 1 faid, I would endeavour it.

Sir 7.4 If he had faid he would have endea-
voured it, I would not have parted with him;
but he faid he thould have the Money and Jew-
els, ¢fc. I told him I would meet him at that
Time at Mr. Tryon’s.  Then 1 took Mr. Tryon,
and faid, Whatever Promile you have made in
private, you muft excufe my aflenting to any
thing againft the Law: But do not tell him of
ity left you lole the Jewels: I muft commit him
to Newgate, and I muft bind you to profecute
him. He defired me I would not come {o foon
as Three, not till Four or Five of the clock, and
all would be brought thither. T ftaid till about
Four. Inthe interim I heard {ome Particulars,
what thefe Maids would teltify ; which Tefti-
mony had I received betore 1 had parted with
him, I would not have parted with him for any
Confideration. Butwhen I came thither in the
Afternoon, I heard Colonel Zarner was arrefted,
and was then at the Hpop-Tavern with the Of-
ficers. 1 fent immediatcly the Marfhal and his
MMen to bring him to me.  The Oflicers and he
cime; and then Colonel TZaruer told me, 1 had
brought all thele Thimgs, but the Officers pre-
vented me; I was a very unfortunate Man; Give
me but lcave till to-morrow Morning at Nine
of the Clock, and you fhall have all. Said I, I
have now heard more; and you muft produce
the Money and Jewels, if you expeét any Favour
from me, or I know what to do. He pref-
fed very hard an Hour, or almoft two, that he
might be trufted to go tor them; if he did not
go, Mr. Tryon would lofe the reft of his Money
and Jewels. I told him I had rather they fhould
be all loft, than I fhould forfeit my Difcretion
and Reputation. And thus he kept us till Seven
or Kight at night. At laft he would have gone
with one Perfon. I told him, no: If there were
enough to fecure you, I might give leave. Saith
he, the Party will not {fce more than one; for
his Life would be in danger. Whither would
you go? I would go, faith he, (to my beft Re-
membrance) to Tower-Hill or White-Chapel. 1
fhould have met him at Five of the clock: and
now [ muft meet him about Nine. I will call
in the Officers : They will tell you, your being
upon a Judgment, they will not part with you
without the Liberties: Nor will I give leave,

becaufe the Sheriffs will blame me.  The Officers
faid they could not go without the Liberties,
for it would be an Efcape in Law. Pray give
me leave to go near thofe Places, and 1 will

fend. Nay, then you may as well fend from
Vou, II
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hence. He begged leave to go to the Hoop-Ta-
vern, and fend for his Wife; which 1 did grant.

And there he did fend for his' Wife. ‘They
brought me word he had fent his Wife for the
Jewels and the reft of the Monies. He fent to
me not to think the Time too long, for he had
notice his Wife was coming, 1 direfted the
Marfhal, when his Wife came, he would fecure
her. About Eleven of the clock they brought
his Wife; who told me fhe had delivered the
Jewels: They thought they were in two Bags.
Then he came to me, and defired to fpeak with
Mr. ryon in private, and told me Mr. Tiyon's
Soul was pawned to him, and his 1o the Thief,
that no Difcovery fhould be made. But when I
examined his Wife what Money went from her
Houfe that Morning, fhe faid the knew of none.
Where had you the Jewels? She knew of none:
But the had a Couple of Bags that fhe was fent
for: Near White-Chapel or the Tower a Perfon
fhould meet her, and ask what fhe did there,
and fhe fhould fry fhe walked up and down for
fomething that {hould be given her by a Perfon;
which, if he did, fhe was to bring it to him that
fent her. He did deliver the two Bags, which
fhe deiivered to her Husband 3 but what was in
them, fhe knew not. ‘iherc was Sir Thomas
Chamberlane, Mr. Millington, myfclf, and Co-
lonel Tuiner, with Mr. Zryon. The two Bags
was laid upon a Drefler. He told us they were
now come; and having performed his part, he
hoped Mr. Z7yon would perform his. Have you
performed your part? Have you brought the
Jewels and the Remainder of the Money ? He
told us the Moncy was not brought: For tle
60a/. I ihall give Mr. Tryon my Bond, to piy
him at fix Months. We prefs’d to fee the Jew-
cls: We run them all over. But I thould have
told you oneThing: She brought a Cat’s- Head-
Eye-Ring upon her Finger. This the Gentle-
man was like to forger: He dclivered it to me,
to deliver that with the reft. When we had
told out the Jewels, we crofled them out upon
the printed Paper as they were cailed.  She faid
all that was in the Paper, except one Carcanes
of Diamonds and Jewels, valued at 200/ that
is fullen behind the Cheft, or afide. You have
2000/, Pounds worth of Jewels over what is
in the Paper; but that Carcanet fhall be

forth coming. He now prefled thar no Profe-
cution might be, for two Souls were pawn-
ed, (as I faid before) and defired an End of
the Bufinefs. I told him further, and prefled
him: Said I, I have ftaid a great while, and
would ftay longer, if he might have the 6oo/.
and the Carcanet. But when I faw there was
nothing more to be got from him, now (faid 1)
what would you have this poor Gentleman ro do
for you? What he hath promifed you, 1 know
not; he 15 a Stranger to the Law: If there had
been but you two had it, and it had not been
publifhed to the World, and the Ncighbouss
publick Examination taken, fomewhat might
have been between your felves. But wonld you
have this Gentleman bring himfelf into danger?
He will lofe all his Goods again; far he will be
indicted himfelf. Whar will he be the better
for Dilcovery, when he muft lofe his Jewels and
Money, and be liable to a Profecution, as you
will be, were he fo ignorant? Do you think
that I underftand the Law no better, being 2

Juftice of Peace, to bring my felf into danger?

All the Kindnefs

I can do for you, is, (to be
Tetz

fhort
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‘thort) I muft fend you and your Wife to
Newgate.

How fay you, Mafter Alderman ? Then T had

better to have kept the Jewels. Thofe were his
Words ; to the beft of my Remembrance he {aid

{o.
My Lord, Iasked him feveral Quefiions: Why

he thould give a Bond for fix hundred Pounds, if
he was not concerned in this Bufinefs? But he
knew not what to anfwer. Saith he, Will you
not take Bail! Said I, I can take po Bail: 1
muft {end you to the common Goal, aad then I
am dilcharged. Pray fend me to the Compier.
No, I cannot. Do you think I would make an
Efcape? I cannot tell; but I would not bring
my lelf into danger. He prayed me I would
give him leave to go home. [ muft make my
Warrant : 1f the Marfhal and Conftable will do
any thing, I fhall not direct them.

He defired his Wife might go and fetch {ome
Linen.

i.d Ch. Juft. Biidgman. What Day were the
Jewels delivered?

Sir 7. 4. Saturday.

I.d Ch. Juit. Bridgiman. Thurlday was the
Robbery, Friday he was examined, Saturday the
Money was removed, and that Night the Jewels
were brought, and he committed.

Sir 7. 4. If I have faid any thing that he 15 not
fatishied wherein I have not true {poken, let him
ask me; [ fhall notdo him the lealt Wrong,

Ld Ch. Jutt. Hyde. Dofo, Mr. Tuiner.

Turner. Do your Honours underftand of Sir
Thomas the Time the Robbery was committed ?
I thall ask him {ome Queftions.

Sir 7. 4. 1 have only one Word more to fay
to you: That before he went to the Hpop-Ta-
vern, Nay, faid I, Colonel Zwrner, be ingenious
whether this was not Mr. Zryen’s Money that he
removed 2 And he confefled it was.

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. That Money was removed
from his own Houlfe?

Sir 7. 4. Yesy but his Wife, Children, and
Maid denicd it.

Ld Ch. Juft. Eyde. Mr. Turner, will you ask
him any Queltions? What are they?

arcupon your Qath, Mr. Alderman.

Ld Ch. Jult. #/yde. You need not tell him
that heis fworn ; the Court and Jury underftand
it {o.

Ld Ch. Jult. Brideman. Go on, Mr. Turner;
ask your Queftions.

Tuincr. My Lord, T demand of Sir Thomas
Aleyn whether I did not tell him at the firft
there was a wicked young Man had belied my
Houfe and Family, faying, that he fupped there
that Night, when he had not {upped at my
Houfe thefe twelve Months.

Sir7. 4. I think I have done him that Right
already. Ie defired me to examine that young
Man, who faid he fupped at Colonel Turner's;
but I found he had not been, nor was not there.

Turner. Upon Friday Night, when the Alder-
man prefled me concerning the Thing, I told
him 1 had fome Sufpicion of fome Per{ons, who
tormerly fhould have robbed Mr. Tiyor a Year
ago, and I employed Afofely the Conftable and
Mr. Zryon’s Man to go to Razcliff, and I went
another Way. Pray ask Sir Thoinas whether I
did not promife to do all T could.

Sir 7. 4. 1 prefled him hard ; he faid he
would endeavour it, .

64. The Trial of Col. James Turner, £5c.

15 Car, I1

Turner. Whether did not I tell him that thar
Money was carried there on purpofe to" gain the
other Fellows that had the Jewels? Said I, If
this Money be taken away, he that hath the
Jewels will not bring them, and the Remainder
of the Money ; but that this Money muft bring
him to it, that they might fhare ir.

Sir 7. 4. There was not one Word of this ;
His Examination was contrary. He told me
400]. was received of a Gold{mith, he knew not
his Name, and 200/. was iIn his own Houfe;
and that he removed it for two or three Days,
till this Foolery was over. He faid it was -his
own Money. I faid, an honeft Man need not
thus remove his own Money.

One thing I have omitted: When I was éxa-
mining of him in the Minories, word was brought
me his Son was fled away at the Back-door. I
bid them run after him, but they faid they faw
him leap over a great Ditch; he was not heard
of till yefterday, tho’ I fent out my Warrants for
him.

Ld. Ch. Juft., Hyde. Yourlelf (as Sir Thomas
Aleyn fwears) faid you knew not of whom you
had part of the Money, but the other was your
own, and yet afterwards that the Money was
Iryoi’s 3 why did you fay fo?

Turaer. 1 will tell you the Realon; T would
not have my Bufinefs {poiled, and did feign thole
Anf{wers, My Lord, [ dodemand of him whe-
ther Mr. Z#yow and 1 had not made a bargain in
the Morning, whether or no if he might have
his Goods the Perfon thould be free, and that he
had agreed no Blood fhould be {pilt; that he had
vather lofe all his Money and Jewels, than to
forfeit fuch an Afleveration which the Thief had
bound me that I {hould {wear to him, That by
the Blood of Jefus Chrift that was fhed for him
and al] Sinners, his Life thould be free. '

Ld.Ch. Juft, Hyde. You are befide the Bufi-
nels.

Turier. My Lord, I ask Alderman 4/eyn whe-
ther I did not tell him this?

Sir 7.4. I told your Lordthips two Souls
were pawned, as he {aid before.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Do not fpend your time
thus; the Queftion’s thort, whether you are
guilty of robbing, or breaking the Houfe of Mr.
Tr501y OF NO? )

Turner. 1 am as free as any Man here.

Ld Ch. Juit. Hyd:. They will not believe your
own words. *

Sir 7. 4. 1 think I have done him no wrong
by this Evidence.

Turaer. 1 hope, my Lord, I fhall have the
benefit to call him again for a Witnefs for me.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You mayask him now.

Turner. No, when I come to my Defence.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Yes, yes. '

Turner. Oh your Honour’s moft humble Ser-
vant; I am very forry I have put him to this
trouble.

Mr.Tryon, bis Servant, and My, Garnet fworn.

LACh. Juft. Hyde. Mr. Tryon, pray (as you are
able) give an account of this Bufinefs. -

Tryon. My Lord, about Eleven of the clock,
or fomething paft, upon Thurfday Night latt
was a Seven-night, two Men came into my
Chamber when I was faft afleep, onc on- the
one fide, and another on the other fide of the
Bed: one had a Lanthorn that opened on onc
fide, and waked me: when I faw him, I was
much -aftonifhed (as I might well) knew them

not,
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tot, {aid, My Mafters, who are you? I was
hewly out of my Slecp ; being an antient Man,
I apprehended another Man for. the Party- I
fpoke to, but was not the Man, and named him
by his Nam¢, W hat do you do here at this time
of night ? What is your bufinefs ? Said nothing
ro me: onc took both my Hands, the other
with a little Cord bound me very hard, info-
much here yet 1s the dents of it 5 and bound my
Feet, gagg'd me, and ufeq me barbaroufly, moft
inhumanly : I muft fuffer it, becaufe I could not
cell howtoavoidit. Whenthey haddone, then
told me this withal, You fhall not lofe 2 Hair
of your Head, 1 knew not their Intentions, I
fear’d what it was, for whenthey had done this,
they left me 5 1 had no body could come to me
in my Houfe, my Servants I knew not upon
what grounds they were forth at Supper when I
a-bed, which was of ill confequence. After I
had been an Hour in this manner, I rolled my-
felf out of my Bed, and fell down; and, faving
your Lordfhip’s Prefence, a Chamber-pot fell,
broke, and I fell upon it, and very much hurt
mylelf upon the picces of the Pot: and fo with
much ado, it plealed God, I know not how my-
felf, 1 got to the Chamber-Window which lay
to the Street; Icalled outy Murder ! and Thieves !
My Neighbours faid, I call’d with {o {trong a
Voice, they wondercd to hear me. Quickly
after, many of my Neighbours came in, and one
Mr. Peter Fanden-Adichor a Dautchinan, that {el-
leth Rbenifh Wine, he came in and unbound
me 3 and fo after I was unbound, 1 went down
to the Warchoufe as I was, without Clothes
about me, only my Waiftcoatand Shirt, and faw
that they had been there. I confidered thofc
that had done the thing, were very privy to my
Houle ; they knew where to fetch the Key of
my C:fh, in a Drawing-Box, takingthe Moncy
there, which was about One Thoufand and odd
Pounds : fome Plate there was, they did not med-
dle with It,

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. How came they by the
Jewels ?

Zryoz. 1 forgot fomething concerning {ome
Jewels ; thefe Jewels were ina Drawer under my

Table in the Compting-houfe, he was privy to -

that, becaufe he did frequent my Houle very
long, and was very familar,

Ld Ch. Juft. Ayde. Who was privy to all this?

Lryon. Yames Turner,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Mr. Turicr, would you
ask Mr. Zryon any Queftions ?

Turuer. By and by, when I come upon my Proof.

William Hill, M. Tryon’s AMany fworn.

All that I can fay, is this: When I went out,
i locked the Door double, and thofe things were
there then.

L.d Ch. Juft. Ayde. About what tume?

£1il, Sevenor Eight of the clock.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Was he a-bed then?

Hill. Yes, my Lord. When I came home
again, Ifound all thefe chings gone; goingdown
o the Compting-houfe, we found fome Jewels
gone, and fome left, and thofe were inconfide-
rable to thole that were gone ; the beft were
cult’d and gone. On Satarday Col. Turner was

arrefted with two Serjeants, and fent the Boy -

~at the Hoop-Tavern for‘me : I took two Friends
with me, "Mr, Guiney and Mr. Pilkington 5 he
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prayed-me’to fpeak to my Mafter that he. would
give Bond for him, that the Serjeants mighe
difcharge him, and he hafte.about his bufinefs;
orclleit would befpoiled. Proceeding into fomc
Difcourfe, T was faying to him, it was a greac
Providence that I and the Maid was not then ar
home, for if we had, we fhould have been kil-
led. He anfwered, Saith he, No ; they would
only have bound you and the Maid. 1 asked
him, how it was poffible to get in? Heanfwer'd,
One went through the Entry in the Day-time,
and there lay till Night, went up Stairs, found
a Candle, litit, went up to his Chamber, 100k
the Key, and went down and let in others.

Turaer, ThisStory I wasinformed, Itold him.

Hill. T asked him how he came to know jt ?
He {aid he examined them.

Ld Bridgman. Did he never tamper with you
about making Mr. Tryen’s Will 2 |

Hill. Yes, my Lord; he came to me about 2
Year ago, I went with him to the Cock behind
the Exchange, it was-in a Morning, he took me
privately afide, told me the old Gentleman your
Mafter is very fickly, cannot live long, had a
good Eftate, or to that purpofe, and it was pity
he would never make a Will, and fuch an Effara
fhould go to the building of Paul's, Saith he,
I have prefs’d him {everal times touching making
his Will; he faid he had done it, when we both
knew he had not, and [ believe he will not make
one. He told of one thatcould counterfeita Hand.

Ld Bridginan, Was it not Grairger

Hill. Yes, my Lord; that that Man could
counterfeit a Will, and I and Mr. Garrer, and
another Good-fellow fhould be the thiee Exe-
cutors, and 2 third Perfon Overfeer, and that
would pleafe the Old-man. I anfwered, Iwould
not have to do in fuch an unjuft thing for all
the World.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did you g0 to Trruer's to
Supper that Night this Robbery was commirted ?

fil. No, my Lord, to Mr. §rarkey’s in Fau-
ehurch-fireet 5 the Maid went along with me,

Ld Bridgman. One Queftion more: You fiid
you came in and found the Doors open; did you
come in before the Neighbours ?

Hill. No, my Lord, I had not known of it;
but that one Gentleman at Supper went home
with a Gentlewoman in Leadenball-fircet, and
hearing there was {fucha Robbery in Liwe-fireer,
I run with a great fright, came in and found the
Doors open, and found the Neighbours within.

Zurner. The thing underftood touching the
Will, hath another face: his Uncle was an Ac-
quaintance of Mr. Grainger, his Uncle that bound
him Apgprentice, that lived in Cripplegate, now
in Coruhill.  This Grainger had countefeited 2
Will touching my Loxd Gerrard, -and fomebody
clfe, about an Eftate. Said I to this young Man,
You have an Uncle acquainted with a notable
Fellow, one Grainger, and your Mafter making;
no Will (fpeaking merrily) this Fellow 1s able
to make it for him. Ask him if- [ did not tell
him his Uncle was acquainted with fuch 2
Perfon.

Hill. You told me fo indced.

Ld Bridgman. Hill, by the Oath you have ta-
ken, did he not perfuade you to endeavour that
you arid he and Grainger fhould counterfeita Wil| ?

Hill. He did, my Lord: he rold me, That I,
Mrt. Garret, and another Good-fellow, fhould
be the three Executors, and znother Perfon O
verleer,
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verfeer, and that this Grainger could do it undif-
cernibly, I anfwered him, I would not meddle

with it for all the World.
Turner. Go, go, go, this 1s Malice; foritwas

mere jefting wich him.
Elizabeth Fry fworn.

Fry, Mrs. Tuyner came to my Houle on Sazurday
Morning laft, at Six o’clock in the Morning :
fhe knocked me out of my Bed. Iasked, who
was there ? She faid, A Friend. Who are you,
faid 1? Come and fee, fays fhe. I faid, Who,
Mrs. Turner ¢ Shefaid, Yes. Iwent anddrefled
me, and let herin. Shefaid, There wasa Friend
of hers, a Merchant, newly broke, he had a
Wife, and feven or eight Children ; they defired
to fecure the Money till they had taken their
Oaths the Money was not in their Houle. She
faid, Her Husband and her Son Ely was coming
withit. 1 wentand lighted a Candle, there was
fhe and her Sen Ely with the Money. She
asked me, if I had a fpare Cheft? I faid, Yes,
there wasone within, She went 10y opened the
Cheft, and the put in the Wallets of Moncy, 1
know not how much, my Lord. I asked her if
there was any more to come? She {aid, Yes,
her Husband was coming with more. Shewent
" to the Door and let 1t in, but I know not who
brought that.

Ld Bridgman, Did not Mr. Turner come in ?

Fry. Yes, my Lord, he opened the Bags, and
asked his Wife touching the Seals. She faid,
the Gentlewoman that owned the Money had
defired me to pull them oft. They offered me
twenty Shillings for my Kindnefs in ity told me
they had power to give it from the Gentle-
womin 3 deftred me if my Sifter or any fhould
ask about it, bid me conceal it, becaufe the Dil-
covery would ruin the poor Gentlewoman and
her Children, but rather to {ay that they defi-
red me to let fome Finen lic there.

I.d Ch. Jull. Ide. Werethe Bags fealed ?

Fiy. Tiaw none fealed.

L.d Bridguman, How many Wallets were in the
Shop ?

Fiy. T {aw but three, and they put one intoa
Cheft in the Shop, and two in the Kitchen,

Ld Ch. Juft. Fyde. At that time when the
Money was brought, was there any Difcourfe of
Eleven Hundred Pound ?

Fry. To my beft remembrance it was fo.

Turner. Not a2 Word of the Sum.

Fry. There was five Wallets brought into my
Houfe, three in the Shop, two in the Kitchen.

LACh.Juft. 7/yde. Hadthey Bagsateachend ?

Fry. Yes, my Lord.

Sir 7. Aleyz. You hear what the Wench fays;
{the {ays, there was five Wallets, three in the
Shop, two in the Kitchen: { took two in the
Shop, and only one in the Kitchen,

Fry. My Lord, Ihavetwo Apprentices, little
Girls, when all the People werein the Shop, faid
out aloud, That they faw Mrs, Zuruer go out of
the Shop with fomething in her Apron, cove-
ved with a red Cloth, while 1 was above, my

Lord.
Turner. Who fhould convey it away ?
1.d Ch. Juft. ffyde. Your Son was there.
Turner. Pray, my Lord, ask her which is Ely.
Fry. Thatis, (pointing to £/y.)
Turaer. It was falfe 5 this Ely carried none, the
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Boy knew nothing of it; both my Sons are dear
tome, and if either more thanthe other, it muft
be my cldeft, and yet I muft fay, it was Fobn
my eldeft Son that carried the Money, this Boy
was at home ; fhe hath forfworn herfelf,

Fry. Your Wife told me that Ely was o
bring {fome.

Mr. Gurnet [worn.

My Lord, I met with Colonel Zxrwer on §;-
tnrday Morning after the Robbery ; he told me
fays he, I have been as good as'my Word, I
fent my Son to make fome difcovery of this By-
fine(s, and I did not doubt but to clear my {cif
of ity and make a Difcovery : this was on the
Lxchange. Sayshe, Ihavemerwith them. With
what? With the Jewels and Money. Where
are they ? 1 have brought Five Hundred Pound ,
the relt, with the Jewels, I fhall have at Three
o’clock this Afterncon : will yoube there? Y es,
faid I, who were they? They were Friends.
Friends! what and ufe him fo barbaroufly ! O,
fays he, they were two Strangers, they went be-
yond their Commiflion.

Major Ralph Tasker faworn.

On Saturday Morning I met Sir Thomas Aleyn s
pathing by, hecalledme; fays he, there is a buli-
nefs in hand, praygo along with me. We went
along through ldgate, and into the Minorics,
and pafling along the Minories, thefe two Maids
we overtook, and asked them where the Houle
was ; they thew’d us, we went in, Mr. Zuraucs
was there, his Hand in the Cheft, Sir Tho. Aleys:
ftaid it: we feized the Money; there was two
Bags of Buckram, I conceived there was Two
}-Iundrtd Pound in either of them, and anocher
mn the Kitchen, Sir The. Aleyn defired me to fe-
cure them. 1 faw a Fellow play bo-peep in a
Back-room, and prefently was a Noife, he was fled
and gone ; his Son they (aid 1t was.  Sir Zhomas
Aleyn prefled very hard to Mr. Twsner, and de-
fired to know whofe Money that was. Says
Zurnery By the Eternal God it is my own Mo-
ney, with manyother Proteftations. A Confta-
ble was{ent for, and we carried the Moncy and
Turner in a Hackney-Coach to My, 730, and
there lefr the Money an a Table with M. Tiyox
they had fome Difcourfe; Turner came forth and
faid, The old Gentleman and 1 are agreed, )
will truft the Money no longer with you, buc
with the old Gentleman himfelf. Said T, lecme
be difcharged of it, do what you will with it.

Ld Briudgman. Did you fec the Bags out of
the Wallets?

o 7. Aleyn. Wefaw one which was(ealed, |
think, with the Bithop of Chichefter’s Seal,

Ann Ball jworn,

On Saturday Morning Mrs. Turner came to this
Maid’s Houfe, and defired to come ins fhe ftept
out of Bed, and asked who was there ? the faid,
a Friend. Shewenttothe Door, andasked who
was there ¢ Mrs, Turner faid, Open the Door,
and you fhall fee. Opening of it, fhe came in:
Who is it, Mrs. Turser? Yes, fays fhe. What
would you have? I have alittle Money I would
leave here : This the came and told me. She
lighted a Candle, I faw Mr. Turwer and his Wife

_ come
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come in, | hearda great Noile and a Quarter, I
lay ftill, heard not what they faid. When they
were gone, the Maid told me what they had
brought into the Houfe. Said I, I thoughe it
had been Pewter: faid I, if you keep this Mo-
ney, we fhall be utterly undone, if you do
not tell fome People of it, She went to her
Cifter to make her acquainted with it.

Ld Bridgman. You faw Mr., Turwer and his

Wife come in?

Ball. T did, but knew not what they did
there: fhe did go to her Sifter, and fo it came
10 Sir Thomas Aleyn by accident.

I.d Bridgrran. Now for the Seal, who were
thofe that faw the Seal ?

Frederick Ixam fwora,

My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury, being
at the Houfe of Mr. Tryon on Saturday in the
Lvening, I was deftred, with others there pre-
fent, to fce the Bags taken out of the feveral
Wallets; three, I think. I faw them taken our,
thrce had no Seals on, one was very much de-
faced, and the other had a Seal, which being
queftioned to be the Seal of the Bifhop of Chi-
chefler,y it was compared with the Seal of a Let-
ter which Mr. Zryon brought down, and decla-
ved to be a Letter received from the Bithop of
Chiclefler, and thofc two Seals agreed : the Bags
being here in Court, will be a further Evidence.
The Letter was produced by Mr. 7ryer, and
owned by him to be the Bithop™ of Chichefler's,
and they agreced.

My, Hanfon the Goldfmith Sworn.

[ The Bag fealed was fhewn him.]

I.d Brideman. Have you feen the Letter ?

Hanfon. Yes.

L.d Bridzman. Doth that Seal and the Seal of
the Bag agree?

Haufon. Yes.

Lc; Bridginan. Mr. Tryon, whole Letter was
that :

Mr. Zryoir. Dr. Henry King’sy, Bithop of Chi-
chefler.

Ld Bridgmaen: Open the Letter, and fec whe-
ther that be the Letter you received from the
Bithop of Chicheffer.

Tryon. Shall I read 1t?

Ld Bridgian, No.

Tryon. It is his Hand and Seal.

Ld Bridgiman. Shew the Bag and Letter to the
Foreman of the Jury: [which was done, and
moft of the Jury view’d it.]

Ld Bridgman. Youobferve this Evidence; this
was one of the Bags that was taken in the Afing-
rizsy that Colonel Zurner was then removing :
Mr. Tryon had Six Hundred Pounds of the Bi-
thop of Chichefler’s in Bags fealed ; 1t appears by
the Letter to be his Seal, and thele Gentlemen
fwear this was one of the Bags then pulled out
of the Wallet, and Sir 7. 4leyn has had it in his
Cuitody fince,

L.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. One thing more obfcrve,
ne asked his Wife when the Money was brought
nto this Woman’s Houfe, Have you taken off
the Seals? His Wife faid, The Gentlewoman
direCted her to take them off.

Ld Bridgman. Some were taken offy but it
fecms this was left on.

jor B elony and Buiglary.

§11

[ Here Turner fpoke fomewhat to the Fuiy.)

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Pray Mr, Turnerdifcourfe

not with the Jury, your whifpering will do you
lictle good: tho’ I think they are honeft Men,
and will not be guided by you, yet we expe:
the fame Carriage from you as from other Prifo-
ners 3 you fhall have all the Juftice that may be.

Cole the Serjeant frwors.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Speak your Knowledge.

Cole. On Saturday in the Afternoon about
Three o’clock, my Brother and I arrefted Colo-
nel Taruer inan Aétion of Seven Hundred Pounds.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. At whofe Suit?

Cole. At the Suit of Zhomis Lyon, who with
others was Bail for him.

Turaer. It was only hearing of this Foolery
that caufed it.

Cole. My Lord we went to the Hoap-Tavern,
he fent for Mr. T#yen’s Man, that he fhould en-
gage for this Account, that he might have his
Liberty to look after Maiter Tiyon’s Bufinefs.
Scon after came the Conftable, and he charged
us to affift him to go before Siv Thomas Alevis.
By and by I was faying, Colonel Turicr, how
could this IHoufe be robb'd, and none of the
Doors broke ? O, fard he, I took a Man in the
Minosies, who has difcovered it to me : he told
me, that cne going into the Cellar in the day-
time, lay there till Night, then went up Stairs,
found a Candle and lit it, went up to the old
Gentleman’s Chamber, took the Key trom his
Bed-{ide, and went down, and let all the reft of
the Thieves in. The Young-man being there,
{aid, It was well the Maid and T was not at
home, we fhould havebeenkilled. No,_ fayshe,
you would not have been killed, only bound.

Turner. As the Felloy told me.

Ld Ch. Juft. Ayde. Did he not fay nothirg
touching Mr. Z#you's Tooth ?

Cole. He f{aid, that the Fellow putting his
Finger in his Mouth to gagg him, the old Gen-
tleman bit him 3 and he itruggling to get out his
Finger, pull’d out his Tooth.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You are very perfeétar i,
Mr. Tusuer, every way.

Turier. Ay, my Lord, I examined him every
way.

Cole 2he Yeoman fwosrn.

Cole. My Lord, I canf{ay only what my Brother
faid before,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Tell it,

Cole. 1 arrefted him, €9¢, [And {o related in
the {ame manner his Brother did. |

Ld Bridgman. Mr, Hill, what do you know

about brexking your own Desk ?

Hill. My Desk was fafe locked, and the Key
in my Pocket; I loft out of that Desk about
forty-five Pound of my own.

Ld Bridginan. Where did it ftand ?
Hill. Upon a Table in the Ware-houie; the

Jewels were ina Drawer under the Table in the
Counting-houle,

Ld Bridgman. How did you leave Mr. Zryon’s
Door ?

Hill. Double lock’d.

Ld Bridgman. who had the Key ?

Hill. 1 had.

Ld Bridgman. Was there more than one Key ?

Hili,
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Hill. Always two.
Ld Bridgman. Who had the other?

Hill. Theother Key was in my Mafter’s Cham-
ber.

Ld Bridgian. Mr, Tryen, how was your own
Door open’d ?

Tiyon. 1 called fome of my Neighbours, and
Mr. Vanden- duchor came up to me: It feems
they had forced open the Door with a Crow of
Iron.

Ld Bridginan. 'The Door of your Chamber,
do you mean ?

Tiyen. No, the Street-Door.

Ld Bridgman. How was your Chamber-Door
open’d ¢

Tryon. 1 never lock my Chamber-Door, but
pull it too. _

Ld Ch, Juft. Hyde. Mr. Hill, the Counting-
houfe where the Jewels were, was that lock’d ?

Hill. Yes, and the Drawer Ithink was lock’d;
fometimes he does, and fometimes he does not

lock 1t.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Was the Houfe-Doors o-

pen, or no?

Hill, Before I came, the Neighbours had broke
open the Door.

Ld Ch. Jutt. Ayde. Mr. Tryoi, were your
Counting-houfe and Till, where the Jewels lay,
lock’d ?

Tryon. Ever, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Juit, Hyde. That Night?

Tryoin. Yes, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Juit. Ayde. Was it opened witha Key,

or broken open?
Tryon. I know not how it was opcned, my

Key was among a Bunch of Keys.
Peter Vanden- Anchor fevors.

Ld Bridgraan. \Vhen 3r. Tiyoicry’d out, you
came in, did not you?

Vandei= Auchor. Yes, my Lord.

1.d. Bridginan. Flow did you find bim ?

Vanden- duchor. 1 was lately come home, my
Daughter heard a great Voice of Murder and
Robberies : T went out, and fome of the Neigh-
bours were breaking open the Door, and T was
the hrit that wentinto the Houle; and fo Iwent
prefently up to Mafter Ziyos’s Chamber, and
tound him bound with this Rope; and putitin-
to my Pocket, and fearched about the Houle,
and feveral Neighbours came in.

Chaplain fzoora.

I was at the Door with Mafter Vanden- Auchor,
we went into the Ware-houfe and Counring-
houfe, and all open, Cath was taken away with-
out any breaking. Says Mafter Tryou, All my
Money is gone, a Thoufand and odd Pounds :
Scveral Pieces of Plate were there left. We
went up with Maflter 7ryon, and {fent for a Chi-
rurgeon to drels his Thigh: By this time his
Man came ins I asked him wheve he had been ?
{ays he, ! have been at Colonel Zuraer’s at Sup-
per.  Wheve is the Maid ? fayshe, She is fallen
into a Swoon., Some Maids came home with
her 5 T asked her where fhe had been? She faid,
At one Chamberlin's 2 Goldfmith’s.  Said 1 to
her, The Man fays one thing, and you another,
A little after comes in Colonel Zurier, with his
Lanthorn, and his Hair turried up under his Cap,
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and there he made a great Buftle, I went to
Chambsrlin’s to enquire touching the Maid ; he
faid, they had been there with 2 Dancing-Ma-
fter. I went to Mafter Z7yor’s again : we asked
him, who he thought bound him? he named
one Chrifftiras, but I knew him not.

Lord Mayor. Did younot find any Door, that
you obferved, to be broken ?

Chaplain, No, but all open’d with Keys,

Mr. Chriftmas fzvora.

My Lord, I know little of the Bufinefs. A-
bout Two o’clock on Friday Morning there
comes a Conftable and other People, and knock’d
at my Ware-houfe Doors : the Man’s Servant of
the Houle rofe up, and asked them who they
would {peak with ? They faid, they would fpeak
with one Chriffmas. Hearing my Name, 1 rofe
up, I asked what was the matter? They faid,
they muit have me to Mafter 77yon, he was robb’d.
If he was, faid I, it doth not concernme.  They
told me, I mult go to Malter Tryou. I faid, he
was nat a civil Man to {end for any at that time
of Night out of their Beds. Then another
Conftable came, and faid he would break open
the Doors. Said I, 1 am not afraid to come
to you, I am not the Man you take me to be.
Nothing would fatisfy, but I muft go; I told
them Iwould: and then they took me into their
Charge, and carried me to the Exchange.

La Ch. Juft. Hyde. Who befides the Con-
ftable?

Chrifimas. Two Young-menthat I know, one
Bagnall's Man, and Browning’s Man : they told
the Conitable, I was a Man of Repute, and an
honeft Man, and my Word would be taken at
the Exchange for many Hundred Pounds., After
that they intended to carry me to Mafter Tiyon
and the Conflable of Broad-flreet carry’d me to
the Counter : There 1 was ’till Ten o’clock,
and then the Conftable and Tisser came to me.
Turner asked me, what Juftice I would go be-
forc: I told him, it was indifferent to me ; Siv
Fobn Frederick, or the next, Sir Richard Brown,
or before Sir Thomas Aleyn, Siv Fobu Robinfor,
all one to me whom 1 go before ; but I think it
moft convenient to go before Siv Thomas ddasms,
becaufe he lives in the fame Parifh with Mr. Zvyen.
We went there, and no Man charging me, Sir
Thomas difcharged me, but defived I would go
over to Mr. Tryon.

Ld Bridgman. T obferve this Gentleman was of
a pretty Bulk, fomewhat corpulent, and fo is
Mr. Turier.

Turner. My Lord, T humbly beg T may have
a Stool to fit down, 1 am troubled with the

Gout.
Ld Biidginan. You may have onc,

My, Millington faveri,

My Lord, I came to Mr. Zryon’s on Saturday
i the Afternoon, about the Evening 5 and be-
ing {ent for to come with Mr. Turuer, he told
me of the Arreft that was made upon him, and
faid, that he thould not comply with his words,
in bringing the Jewels and Remainder of the
Money. He defired me I would go and inter-
cede, that he might have his Liberty to go a-
bour the Jewels : but 1 did not think it conve-
nent to make my felf concerned in it. He al-

ledged,
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ledoed, that if he did it not prefently, the Thicf
would be gone. It was hinted, that they that
were with him, might go along with him, the
Marfhal and Serjeants : He {ad, if {o many
came, they would fright him away; for he faid,
he was walking about Tower-Hill or /77 hite-Cha-
pcl. But it was deny’d, and could not be grant-
ed that they {hould go, it being our of their Li-
herties. e defired to go ncar thofe Places,
keeping within the Liberties, and to {end for
them. Sir Thomas Aleyi told him, he might as
well fend for them thithier. He defired to go
to the Flaop-Tavern, and then fome went with
him to his Houfe: His Wife was private with
him behind 2 Partitinn ; then he came out, and
fuole publickly to his Wife, fays he, There is a
Man will be walking all alone, either at Mhite-
Chapel, or on Tower- Mill, do you go there; if
he fces you, he will ask you whether you wancany
thing, and will deliver you what I told you. We
went to the /fuop-Tavern again, and about two
Hours after, the Jewels were brought by his
Wife. That being done, we went to Mr, Try-
01’5y Mr. Teracir carried the Jewels; being at
My. Tryoirs, the Jewels were there opened: We
found by Perufal, that theie was only a Carca-
net Jewel wanting, of the Valuc of about Two
Hundred Pounds 3 and Mrs. Taruer faid, the Man
told her, that that Carcanet was fallen bebind a
Chelt, but did not doubt to procure it to mor-
row, Afterwards Sir Thomas Aleyi told him,
now he could do no lefs than commit him to
Newsrate. Nir. Taruer told himy then he had bote
ter have keptthe Jewels. The Remainder of the
Money being asked for, he faid he would be
bound for 1.

My, Mannock fawori.

Ld Bridainen. Whart Difcourle pafled between
yeu and Mr. Taraer at Newgate ?

Maiiock, My Lord, he told me Mr. 73 yoi was
to give him gzc/, to get the Jewels and Money,
and that he had got him goo/. and motft of the
Jewcls 5 and thac 1f Siv Themas Aleyn had not
lecured him, hic did believe that he fhould have
had them all: But ANewsare was not a Plice to
find them ou.

Ld Biidgizan, Did he tell you of bringing any
Moncy from his own Houfe? That the yoo/. he
delivercd Mr. Ziy01, was procured from his own
Houle?

Maiitock. He did tell me fo, my Lord.

Tuiner, My Lord, I own it, I fhail unfold the
Riddle by and by.

Sir Thomas Chamberlain fwoin.

L.d Ch. Juft. Fyde. What know you, Sir 7%0-
sasy of this Bufinefs? Pray let the Jury hear
you.

ow Zhomas Chamberlain. My Lord, on Friday
Morning 1 was at the Eaf-India Houle, keep-
ing Cou-t there for that Company: Afterwards
1 went to the Exchange, and being tired, I cal-
led in at the Coffee-Houfe, and there heard that
Mr, Tiyoir was robb’d, 1 went direétly home,
and dined : About Three o’clock [ went to
Mr. ryo’s Houfe, an old Friend of mine, my
Father’s Servant herctofore, 1 went tovifit him,
and found a great many People about him; Sir

Thomas Alzyn, Lady Garret, and the Countels of
VoL, II.

for Felony and Burglary.

I3
Carlifle was there, T told him, Mr. Tiyon, 1
underftand you have been robb’d.  Yes, fays he,
I have a grear Lols. 1 tound him very flagger-
ing what he fhould do. I faid, you muft now
do like 2 Man, or you will lofe all: Said I ©
Siv Thomas Alcyn, 1t you do not help the poor
Man, being ancient, he will quite lofc all. With
that [ went up above in the Houfe, Sir Tioinas
Aleyn was piealed to call me along with him,
was by at all the Examinations; [ did miftruft,
and told Mr. Zryeiz in French, that no doubt but
that Gentleman was in the Robbery : The Rea-
fon was, that he being a frequent Manin the
Houfe, knew every thing; he was there conti-
nually, coming for Jewcls and Things, and ne
Man could do it but himfeli 5 that was my Judg-
ment. 1 told Sir Zhoiias dieys afluredly he had
a Hand in 1r. My Lord, the while we were ex-
amining the Servants, Word was brought in,
that he was hearkning at the Door, and in the
Yards, which made me moie and more miliuit
him. We heard that the Maid had been gadding
abroad feveral times 5 I defired Siv Thoinas Aley.z
to examtae the Maid how often {he had fupp’d
at Turuei’s, fhe denied any time.  The young
Man was examined, who laid, they had been
thirty or forty times feafted at Celonel Turier's.
My Lord, Str Thoinas leyi has given you a juit
Account, but he omitted one thing: He had a
Note fent him, which he had in his Pocket,
touching Mr. Zuriei’s going about Removal of
the Moncey nto the Adinories y and before Turiver
came in, he examined Mrs. Zerner upon thac
Note: Says he, you were there too, and carricd
the Money. Saysthe, Sheisa Lyar and a Where
for faying {o. Col. Turuer came inand faid, Why
do you torment and vex my Wife? and falling
a Curling, and Swearing and Banning, {iid the
was with Child, you will make her mifcarry, let
heralone.  Sir Thomas Afeynexamined him where
he had been that Day, and that Night; he told
him of many Taverns, and going totec his Horle,
and I know not what, but we found him fil-
tering.  When the Jewels were brought, there
being two Notes, Sir Tiemas Aleyn had oney and
I another. "The old Gentleman was fo joyful o
{ec them again, thatlying by him, and handling
them, he pull'd two or three down with his
Sleeve. Says Mr. Zurwer, Come, I know what
belongs to them better than any of you, and read
them over, and 1 will thew them you. There
wanting one Jewel, {ays he, That Rogue that has
the other Money, hath this Jewcl, but I do not
doubt but I fhall find that out too. We put
them all together, and Sir Thomas Aleyz {ealed
them with his Seal. For the Bags of Money, I
faw them taken out, and one being fealed with
a finall Scal, I put on both my Speétacles, I found
a Lion Rampant at top in one of the Quarters;
{aid I, This 1s a Seal of fome great Perfon: And
thena Letter was brought down, and being com-
pared, [ was fatished m my Confcience they were
alike. Sir Themas Aleyr told me he mult make a
Mittimns for him and his Wife: Said fhe, Do
you fend me of your Errands? You fhall {end
fomebody elfc another time: I thought it would
come to this. After much ranting and {wearing
({ thought the Devil would have feteh’d him
out of the Room) he faid, that ke had better
have kept the Jewels, than to bring them forth,
and to fuffer for it himfelf; for he had pawned
his Soul, and would not revealit; and faid, that

UVuu Mr,
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Mr. Tryos had likewife engaged the like to him.
For the Six Hundred Pound, he offered his Bond.

Lord Mayor. Pray repeat one Part of your k-
vidence again; that was, that {omebody came to
Mr. Tryoi’s Houfe, from the Houfe in the M-
norics, charging Mrs. Turuer to have been at that

Houle.
Sir 7. Chamberlain. 1 faid, that before Tuinecr

came in with the Jewels, Sir Tho. Aleyn had re-
ceived a little Note, wherein was affirmed, that
Turner and his Wife had been there; with which
fhe was acquainted, and {wore and took on, fhe
was 2 Whore, for the was not there,

Sir T, Aleyn.  When I examined Ms. Turner,
(he would own nothing. Why, faid I, wili you
deny this which is {o apparent? That you were
there (the Maid told you fo now) you deny’d it

when 1 charged you with 1t. |
Mrs. Turaer. 1 did not, it's falfe; what did——

Turner. Prythee be patient, dear Maly come {ic

thec down.
Sir The. Aleyn.1asked Mrs. Tuiiter whether fhe

knew of any Money carried to the Miuoiies that
Day; {he faid, the knew of no Money at all, and
{aid fhe was a W hore that {adit.

Mrs. Turier. They put it to we, that I knew
who brought the Money to my Houlc, and that
2 Woman acquainted them fo; 1 faid fhe was a
Jying Whore that faid fo. |

Ld Ch. Jult. Bridginan. Mr. Hill, what time
of Night did you go out that Night?

Hill. 1t was Seven or Eight o’clock.

1.4 Ch. Juft. Bridgiman. Was the Door lock’d?

Hill. Yes.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgisan. Did you carry the Key

with you P

Hill. Yes.
'Ld Ch. Jult. Bridgian, Was there any more
Keys? H

7L, Therc wasanother abovein the Chamber
my Malter's Bed.

L.d Ch. Juit. Bridzman. Did you find that
other Key when you came back ?

Hill. Yes.
1.4 Ch. Juft. Dridgman. In the fame Place?

Hill. T know not that.

L.d Ch. Jult. Biidgman. Mr. Hill, you have
been acquainted with fome Tranfadtions between
My, Tryoir and Turser; was he not cmploy’d a-
bout a Mortgage?

Hill, Two or three.

1.d Ch. Juft. Bridgmaz. Was not the Names
of fome Perfons given to you to that purpofe?

Hill. We have two or threc Morrgages my
Maiter lent him fo much Money upon: We
neard of one Man, but whether he gave order
‘o Mr. Tusizer 1o take {o much Money upon the
Land, we know not.

L.d Ch. Jult. Bridgman. Mr. Teyoir, have you
inquired after the Perfons?

Tryon. No, my Lord; I did believe all was

ue.
y Garref. T have inquired after S1r Theophilus Gil-
pin, but cannot find that he has any Eftate in
Euplaid. o

Turier. My Lord, Gilpin only affigns 2 Judg-
ment of Wefcott’s. .

Ld Ch. Juit. Bridgman. Thenif Wefcot? be
good, it 18 (ufiicient; you fhould enquirc after

him.

Sir 7. Aleyn. My
there, fled away from mc,
Houle in the jAdsawories.

by

Lord, Yohn Turiery his Son
when 1 came to the

64. The Trial Qf Col. ]ames Turner,
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I.d Ch. Jult. Bridgmai. Why did you fly a.
way?

Sobn Turner. 1 did noty Sir.

Sir 7. Aleys. No! Youranaway as faft asyou
could; you got over a Ditch,

Yobn Turner. My Lord, a Woman cry’d out
Get away and fave your Life! And I not l{nowins:
what the Martter was, 1 went away. ”

Col. Turucr. Poor Boy! he thought Thieves
had been coming, and affrighted him.

Siv 7. Aleyn. Asto Lily Turner, 1 examined him
upon the Sunday, the Day after his Father was
committed; he would not confels the carrying
of any Money,and the Mad {wearing 1t, | com-
mitted him alfo.

Col. Zurner. What’s that of Zy ? Upon my
Soul, the Boy carried nonc. ’

Sobn Turner. 1 carried what was carried.

Col. Turuer. My Lord, one Son is as dear ta
me as the other, but if cither be more, it muft
be my cldett; but yer I mult fay, it was Foiis
my cldeft Son that carried the Morey.

Sir 7. Aleyn, My Lord, Hilliaie Turper was
brought before me on Tuclday or Wednefday:
Sir Richard Brows fentout his Warrant for him,
being a Perfon of evil Name, and likely to do
{uch a Fatt ; being taken, he was brought before
me. My Lord, when Mr. Zryos looked upon
him, he fufpefted him: I cxamined him when
he faw Col. Tarnei 3 he faid not thele three Years,
not to fpeak to him; and yet one at the Covk be-
hind the Exchange {aid, this Wlliaws Turicr fkaid
for Col. Zurierr at his Houfe two Hours 5 thas
Col, Turier came in, paid for the Por of Drink,
and for ought he knew they both went together:
thercupon I committed him,

In the Afternoon I ordered this Perfonto {end
his Servant ; onc came and made Oarth that he
came in, and inquired for Col. Taruer, asked
for him, ftaid two Hours for him; that they
went both out of the Houlfe together : And this
Ems on the Wednefday, the Day before the Rob-

ery.

William Dawes fwoin.

All that I can fay, is this: Zilliam Turier was
at my Houfe on Wednelday was fevennight
laft; comes in, and called for a Flagon of Beer;
there comes in a Cultomer of mine, fays he to
me, What do you with fuch a Fellow in your
Houfe? Have a care of him, he is a dange-
rous Fellow. Prefently after Col. Turuer came
in, and paid for a Flagon of Beer, and went a-
way.

Col. Turner. I drank not with him, did I?

Dazues. Not that I faw,

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. Sir Thomas Alcyi, did
not this Williain Turaer deny that he had {een
Col. Turuer lately?

Sir 7. Aleyir. He {uid pofitively he had not {een
him thefe three Years, fo as to {peak to him;
faid, he was grown too high for him.

John Roufe (Dawes’s Servant) fwors.

IL.d Ch. Juflt, Bridgian. Do you remember
when W7l Turner was at your Malter’s Houfc?
Which is he?

'Ronfe. That’s he (pointing to Williai) he
was there upon Wednefday the 6th of this

Month,
L.d
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Ld Ch. Jut. Hyde. Did Fames (called Colonel)
Turner come there then ?

Rowfe. William came, and {aid he ftaid for the
Colonel 3 and by and by the Colonel came.

I.d Ch. Juft. Ayde. When he came, what did

3

lh?e!ouﬁ. He went to the Bar, and paid the
Reckoning.

.d Ch, Juft. Hyde. What time of the Day?

Row/fe. About Twelve or One o’clock.

[.d Ch. Jult. Bridgman. Did you ever {ec them
hoth there before ?

Rowfe. No, I never faw them together before,
but feveral others have enquired for Col. Tuiner
at our Houle.

Ld Ch. Juft, Hyde. By the Oath you have t-
ken, did #7illiam Turier {ay he ftaid for Col. Tur-
nery and that after Col. Zaraer came, he paid for
the Drink, and they both went away together,
and this on the Wednelday ?

Rowfe. Yes, Sir, it was o,

Col. Turuer. My Lord, I left him there; he
follow’d me to the Exchange about his Arrears,
as twenty poor Gentlemen do.

Ay, Garret, Mr. Watcher, and AMr. Peter
Cully, fworn.

Mr. Cully. My Lord, and Gentlemen of the
Jury, Iwas at Mr. Zryon’s this Day fevennighe;
as I came from him, I met Sir Thomas Aleyn,
Col. Zurnery and Major Zasger coming up Stairs:
they asked who was there with Mr, Tryon ? 1
told them nobody. Zaruer defired carnefily they
would ftay a little; for (fayshe) before God you
will {poil all the Bufinefs by and by. After he
had been a little time with Mr. Zryon, he comes
forth again, he, takes up the Bags of Money, fays
he, Thele belong to me, this is not Mr. Zryen’s
Money: He carrics it to the old Gentleman
he comes into the Room, fays he, Gentlemen,
you may be all gone, the old Gentleman is farif-
ficd, his Money and Jewels {hall be forth-com-
ng by Five o’clock this Night 5 Perfons of
Quality are concerned in the Bufinefs, and the
old Gentleman will not profecute. 1 asked Col.
Turuer, W hy was the Money carried from your
Houfe to the Minories? He {aid there was none,
and did affirm it with an Qath. When the
Bags were taken cut of the Wallers, upon com-
paring of a Seal of one of the Bags with the Scal
of » Letter produced, I found them the fame.
‘That’s all I can fay.

Mr. Haicher. My Lord, laft Saturday berween
Twelve and Onc of the Clock came Col. Tuyrer
on the Exchange, and faid that Mr. Tryon thould
have all his Money and Jewels by Three of the
Clock that Afternoon; and if any Man could
fay, that he loft Sixpence of his Money, or Six-
penny~worth of his Jewels, he had two Fellows
in Cuftody thar thould {ufferfor ir.  And asking;
him why the Money was that Morning remo-
ved from his Houfe to the Mimries, he faid
with 2 great Oath, the Moncy was never in his
Houle.

Mr. Garret. When Col. Zuruer brought home
the Money, he took up one of the Wallets, and
faid, Fack, take wotices this is iy Mouey.

Ld Ch. Jult, yde. Where was this?

Gairet. In my Coufin 7ryon’s Houfe; and that
he only l¢fe it with my Coulin Tryon. Whenwe
“1scked over this Moaey in the Evening, we foupd
Vor., Il
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that Sale that this Gentleman (pointing to Mr.
Cully) hath {poke of; 1t was alittle detaced, but

yet apparent enough. |

Turner, 1 did fay fo, my Lord; he {peaks
Truth.

Mr. Pilkington favorn.

I can fay no more than hath been faid already:
I fhall repeat 1t  Being at the Hopp-Tavern with
Mr. Tryon’s Man, and others, with the Officers,
we were difcourfing of his Robbery; and I was
faying, That I admired, he being {5 ancient a
Gentleman, they would ule him jo barbaroufly
as hath been related. Said Colonel Tursesr, in
that they went beyond their Commiifion, they
had no Order forit. And being asked how they
got into the Houle, he faid one got iato the
Cellar 1n the Day-time: [Aud [forelated it in the

[ame manner as [everal [Fm:qﬁi sefore.]  Being

asked how his Tooth came to be beaten our?
Says he, It was not with a Blow; bur the Man’s
Finger beingin his Mouth, he clofed his Teeth,
and ftruggling to get out his Finger, his Xnuckle
thruft out the Tooth. And then Mr. O yoi's
Man faying, If he and the Maid had been ac
home, they thould have been killed: No, faid
Turaery, you would only have been bound.

Ld Ch. Jutt. Hyde. Now v, Tuiier you have
heard your Charge; you will do wel to make
an Anfwer toit; you fee what 1s faid to your
Charge.

Turner. Ay, my Lord : I thall clear it all, every
Syllable of it.

Mr. Martin’s Coachman was called aind ficorn.

Ld Chs Jult. Bridgman, Tell the Jury what you
know: Did you {ec any Peopleabout Mr, Ziyo#'s
Houfe upon Thur{day Night?

Coachinan. 1 did, my Lord: I was come by
from the Play-houle with my Coach ; [ {aw four
Men, two on one Side of the Door, and two on
the other Side; every one had a Handkerchiet
tied about his Neck, und every onc of thern had
a good Cudgel 1n his Hand.

Ld Ch. Jult. Bridgman, What Time a-nignt
was that !

Coachman. About Eight or Nine o’clock at
Night. \

Loid-Mayer. Was their Faces turned towards
Mr. 7ryon’s Door, as il they were to go in, or to
knock ?

Coachnan. No, Siry two {tood towards Fen-
chureh-Street, and two ftood toward Leadeanball-
Strect. 1 did fufpect fuch a Bufinels ; for they
pulled down their Hats over their Faces.

Ld Ch.Juft, Hyde. W hat kind ot Cudgels had
they ?

gﬂr?ﬁ'bﬁfﬂﬂ. Sticks fomewhat bigger than Walk-
Ing-Staves.

Mr. Ziyon looking upon /7illiam Turuer atthe
Bar, faid, This Man, whole Name is (as | un-
derftand) #illiam Turnery 1 do fuppofe to beone
of thetwo thar was in my Chamber at the Bed’s-
fide, and that indeed did ftrike out my Tooth.
I asked him, Why do you ufe me {o inhumnanly,
like a Beaft, and not like a2 Man? 1 am quiet;
what would you have? Says he, Be ftilly you thall
not lofc a Hair of your Head.

L.d Ch, Jult. Hyde. You bclieve that tobe the
Man?

Uuu 2 Tryon.
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Tryon. T would be loth to charge him; but
he is as Jike him as any I ever faw.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Had they either Vizors or
Masks on?

Tryon. Nothing, my Lord ; barc-faced. One
faid to the other, It’s but paft Eleven of the
clock; elfe I had not known it: I was afleep,
with Surprize amazed, being an antient weak
Man.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyse. As near as you can con-
jelture, is that the Man?

Tryon. Yes, both of Face and Pirch.

Lord Mayor. Mr. Tryou, did you obferve thole
Perfons that were at your Bed-fide, whether
they had Handkerchiefs or Cravats about their

Necks ? | '
Zryon. My Lord, I did not take notice of that ;

I do not remember 1t.

Id Ch. Jutt. Hyde. You hear your Indict-
ment : That you, and Pilham, and Foba, are
indi€ted for the Felony and Burglary, for break-
ing and entring into the Houfe of Mr. Fraucis
Tiyonr, and ftealing the particular Goods and
Money, as you have heard: I would propole
this to you, to make your Defence touching
your Charge: Which is, firft, that you and
WWilliasns met the Day before; he came in firft,
and faid he ftaid there ’till you came; you came,
and paid the reckoning, and went away : You
two wege rescther the Day before: What your
Bufinefs was, you can better tell than I. The
Night he was robbed, his Scrvant being gonc,
the Door was double locked. You knew sl
the private Places, where the Keys lay, all the
Rooms wherein Cafh, Jewels, where evay
thing was: Andit was not poffible this Burglary
could be committed but by one that knew thole
T hings.

Turuer. There are about twenty People that
knew as much as I ; his Servants, and {uch as
had been his Servants.

Ld Ch. Jutt. Ayde. It falls out that the felf-
fame Night after this Houle was robbed, in the
Morning early, you, your Wife, and Son, go to
remove {tore of Money out of your Houfe.

Turner. Lt wastwo INights after the Robbery:
Pardon me, my dear Lord.

L.d Ch. Jutt. Hyde. When youcarry this, you
co with a falfe Story, That a Merchant was
broke, and you muit nceds have fome of the Mo-
ney for his Wife and eight Children; and this
Money was to be fct afide for them.

Turner. It was {o, my good Lord.

Ld Ch. Juft. Avde. You woulddo well to hold
your peace a while: Your Wife and you dif
owned you removed any Money ; yet afterwards,
when the Money was brought there, and taken
upon Sufpicion, (you taken in the very Place re-
moving the Moncy) you owned it to be your
own: That then it appeared that one of thole
Bags was fcaled with the Bithop of Chichefier’s
Seal ; and at the Time of the Burglary, there
was 600/, in Bags left with Mr ‘Ti')'ﬂi:, fealed
with the faid Seal; and one of thofe Bags you
brought back was taken with you, and owned
to be your own, and had the fame Seals.  That’s
proved by four or five Witnefles, compared
with the Seal ot a Letter of the Bifhop, Your
Son, on their coming thither, he takes footing
and leaps over the Ditch to efcape, which 1s
a gond juft Ground of Sufpicion that he is
guilty of fomewhat that he weuld not abide to

fon the Grocer's Man.,
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anfwer,  Yourfelf and Wife take upon you ro

know every Thing: You know how the Ufaye
was 3 that there was a purpofe they thould not
be killed; that he was gagged; that they ey-
ceeded their Commifiton; if the Man and Maid
had been ar home, they fhould have been byg
bound. All Particulars you take upon you ro
know, and to confefs the whole and the map. .
ner of it; nay, tell the Story how they came
in.

Turner. As I was mformed, -

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Lay all this together, un-
lefs you anfwer 1ty all the World mutt couclude

that you are one that did this Robbery.
Turner. 1 fhall anfwer ir; I hope to give all
the World Satistaction. Pray call

My Maid,
And the Lord Marquifs

of Dorcheficr’s Servant,

Mr. Fandepuit,
Mr. Cozell,
M. Efuow,
Mr, Ceok,

La Ch. Juit. Fyde. Tell us to what purpofe,

Turner. 'Yo clear every Particular,

Ld Ch. Jult. flyde. Open ir.

Zerier. 1 fhall firflt prove that upon Thurfday
Nighr, the Time of this fuppofed Burglary, that
myfelf, my Wife, and all my Family, were in
Bed, faft afleep, and innocent, not knowing any
thing of this Buftnefs. This [ thall prove 3 1f
not, let me hang and all my Family.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgmar. All this may be true,
and yet this not to the purpofe.

Turner, Then I cannot be guiliy of the Bur-
glary. |

Ld Ch. Jult. Bridgman. If you will lay and
plot fuch a Robbery, though you are not there,
yet you are Guilty ot 1t 5 for iv is ordinary thac
the main Setter will not be prefent at fuch Times,
but will be then in Bed, that Peoplz may rake
notice thereof. But fatisfy the Court by what
Means you came by this Money and Jewels, and
then call your Witnefles.

Zryoir. 1 {hall go on by degrecs, and fatisfy
you as to the whole.

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. My Lord Brideman hath
put you upon the right Bufine(s: Do thacin the
frft place; make it appear how you came to
know fo exactly the whole Carriage of this Bu-
finefs, and how you came by the Moncy and

Jewels,

Turner. I fhall do it, my Lord. The Confta-
ble coming for me, by Diretion of Mr. Tryon,
to afhft him, I came to him; faich he, Some
Villains have been here, and have rebbed me
this Night; which made me weep. Said I,
Thele are wicked People: I gave you notice
how you fhould have been robbed about a Year
fince; but that was prevented. And faith
Mr. Tryon, For God’s fake afhift me in this, and
I fhall be thaskful to you. Sir, faid I, d:d you
fee the Faces of them? 3aid he, It run in my
Mind very ftrongly that one of them is Chiifi-
mas. Said I, Who is he? Saith he, *Twas Han-
[ know Hanfou, faid L.
Mofely, go and knock vp Hanfoi,and know where
Cirviflinas isyand bring himto Mr. Tiyen.  Dofly
took two or three Men, and went to Thomas
Hairfeny m Alark- Laie, and there found at a
Bricklayer’s Houfe where Chriffuias lay : He was
a litde refractory to rife.  Another Conflable
coming, he came down s and then they fent CLiifi-

Aas
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s to the Compter. Mofely came and told us he
was in the Compicr. I fac with Mr. Zyron that
Night. Bur, my Lord, pray obferve how my
Name came into queftion: The young Man and
Maid being out, came home‘late, the Conilable
was there then : Friends, faith he, where have
you heen ? Saith he, I have been at Colonel
ries’s at Suppers which wasa notorious Lye,
and brought me here in quettion God forgive
him for it. Away comes the Conflable, by Di-
~&ion of Mr. Zryouy and Hill’s Lye togcther,
He came to my Houle; we were all afleep.
[ arofe, and asked, Who s there? Itis I, fad
M. Mofely s Mr. Tryon is robbed 3 pray come
down. | came down, and opened my_Dgr_:.r.
Saith he, Was Mr. Zipoir's Man aqd Maid here
at Supper ? When? faid I. - To night, {aid he.
I have had no Suppers thele nine Months, {aid
1: This #illiaw is a very Rogue. W hercupon
he Conflable replied, Arc your Sons within ¢
Yes, in Bed thele two Hours. Do you fufpect
any thing by my Sons? He went and looked,
and faw my Wife, he finds my Sons falt afleep;
he one indced was awake. Pray, faid I, lee
that you know them agam. Upon my Ho-
aour, my Lord, this Boy (pointing to Ely) was
alleep- ‘

L.d Ch. Jutt. Fyde. Upon your Honour, Sir!
pray {peak by your Honelly. _

Turner. Lapfus Linguey, my Lord: It 1s my
afual Phrafe. 1 hope 1 thall appear to be a good
Nap. This Child was awake: He faw the
Maid, my Daughters : fearched every Room,
fearched every Place that was to be imagined to
be {earched. Saith the Conftable, I am very
glad that your Seivants, your Children, and you
are in this Condition: I will acquaint Mr. Tryon,
what a Rogue this /il 15, how he hath belied
vou. Nay, faid I, pray take me with you 3 and
fo I went with my Hair put under my Cap.
When [ came to Mr. Zryos’s, I asked him who
had been there? Pardon me, my dear Lord, if
1 were guilty, 1 fhould not {peak any thing to
excufe ic. When I had underftood this, I gave
the Conftable five Shillings, and defired him to
(earch about this Bufinefs. I went to Mr, Gesige
Deay the Goldfmith, and gave him a Note of
thofe Things, to be printed, that they faid chey
had loft. Friday came; and at Night Sir Zho-
was Aleye was plealed to argue 1t with me: I
told him and the Gentleman thefe muft be fome
Rogucs that know the Houfe; which put me in
mind of a former Crew that was to rob him a
Year fince.

Ld Ch.Juft. Bridemau. We would be glad you
would fpeak to the purpole.

Turier. 1 did charge the Conftable and Mr, Pil-
kingten that they would get up betore Day 5 and
that they would go to fuch and fuch Places
where the Conftable and ! had privately fpoken
of, to Ratcliff, or Ratcliff-Crofs. The Conltable
and Mr. Tryon’s Man h.d been therc 3 but the
Man and his Wite was gone into Losdon 1 But
a‘terwaids, by Inquiry, the Boy faid they were
gone into Hertfordjbive a Week before,  This
Poy is in two Tales: Here is fome, pray God
thefe Peepie be honett.

Ld Ch juit. Bridzman. Go on.

Turuer. Y.ur BHonour’s Servant, my Lord.
Afterwards [ went beyond the lictle Poftern be-
tween the two Fower~Hidis, near the Tower-
Ditcl; » 'There is one Foba Hildy who had been

)17
formerly here in Newgote 5 he thould have been
tranfported. This Fellow coming into my Mind,

I having before been to take him in Eaft-Snith-

feld, 1 had News he ufed White-Chapely Eafi«

Smithjield, and Zower-Hill, and had Lodgings by
the Blue- Boar by the little Poftern, and at Noal’s-
Arky, and at the Lion in the Wood, the Corner«
houle at Zower-Ditch. This Houfe about Tower-
Ditelh and the Nag’s-Head at W hite-Chagel were
the two Places where I found thofe Perfons a-
bout a Twelvemonth fince, that fhould have
robbed him. Going now from Houfe to Houle,
I pafled a Fellow in Black, in a large Coar,
fuch another Man as this, (pointing at one that
ftood by :) He was in a black Loofe Coar, and
he was trimmed with Ribband at the Knees,
This Perfon I paffed him, and he pafled me ;
and then I out-went him: And meeting him on
the other Side, I was confirmed it muit be one of
thefe Fellows I looked for, one 27ild or White.
Pafling the fecond time, I ran to him, thruftin
to him. What mean you, Sir? faid he. Said I,
I mean vo lay flat Felony to your Charge: Do
not you know me? No, faid he, with a great
Oath. Then I know you. Who is it, Colonel
Turwer? faid he. Ifud, Ay. Saith he, What
do you mean? Said I, Mr. Zryon’s Houfe was
robbed, and you are the Perfon thar I will lay
flac Felony to; you fhould have been one of
them that were to rob him a Year fince, when
Colonel 4fhton betrayed you all. He began with
{ome hard Qaths : Be quick, faid I, 1 will call
out ; you are an undone Man : I will Jay this
Felony to you.

hL;i Ch. Juft. Bridgman, What Night was
this:

Turner. "L he Friday Night following, about
Twelve o’clock at Night. 1 thifted my Hold
fram his Collar to the Wailtband of his Breeches
I thought I had him fecure. Szid i, /7/ild, do
not deceive your {elt, play notthe Foais if you
will fave your Life, let me fce where thofe
Goods and Moneys are, elfe you will go to pot.
Saith he, Pray fpeak lower ;3 we fhall be heard.
Well, I will fpeak lower. We waliked to the
Hill. I bad faft hold of his Breeches all this
while; and yetr I vas atraid he might have fome
Dagger, and ftab me : Said I, Be Brief, you are
alone ; either refolve me, or I will call out.
Then I will tell you, {iid he : Colonel Zarner,
I underftand you are a Perfon of Honour, and a
Gentleman that will keep your Word ; and if
you will upon a ferious Vow and Promife fave
my Life, I will unfold the Bufinefs: Bur if you
will not, with a great Qath, faith he, you fhall
hang me, and lofe all the Jewels. Saiv I, What
will you have of me? Saith hey, You thall fwear
to me, Zhat by the Blood of thet Fefus Chrift that
dicd for youy aid Iy aud all Sivacesy that I fhall
bave my Life free, in cafe I diftover the Thing to

yor 5 and then [ will tell you more: If you will

not, I will tell you nothing, do with me what
you will. Saith I, 77714, 1 fhall fland with you!
{fo long, that I {hall have my Throat cut. Upon
my Salvation, faith he, ftooping down upen his
Knees, faith he, Let me never rife up, if | am
not jult to you; and not a Hair o} your Head
fhall be touched. Said }, Come, fland up: I do
declare to you that I will endeavour with old
Mr. Zryor ;. Tell me where the Things are.
They are not far off.  Where are they? They
are at two Ylaces: But do you fwear to me. He

did,
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did, in fhort, make me fay the fame Words that [
have repeated, and that I would get Mr. Tiyon
to engage himfelf too by the fame Oath I did
{wear to him; thinking my Life in danger, and
thinking my Friend’s Goods likely to be loft;
and did and do intend by the Help of God to
make good my Outh. Saith he, Walk with me.
He whiftled once, the fecond time, and at a
pretty diftance a third time; and within a little
while came another Fellow to him, at the fur-
ther End, by the Horfe-Shoe-Tavern, He comes,
Saith he, Art thou come, Toinz? I think he cal-
led him W hite. Ay, faith he. What fhall we
do? We are all undone; my Face is known.
But I have lit in the Hands of a Gentleman who
will fave my Life s but for you, he knows you
not. Saith he, the Moncy muft be returned ;
¢o and fetch that Money. Said I, Shall not I
go with them? No, faid he. And truly, my
Lord, I was very glad to take him at his Word:
If 1 had gone, I might have had my Throat
cut. There was this 500/ brought at twice,
three and two. They went again, and brought,
as [ take ir, two and one; fo there was three
and two, and two and one.

Ld Ch. Tuft. Bridgimai. Who brought it ?

Turucr. B bite. All this while I had the Fcl-
low by the Breeches, and would not part with
him. It was from a little paft Twelve till Four
bringing, and was left on the Cnuley, and went
away and fctched the other, This Fellow and
I, ail alonc together, had this Uifcourie @ Said
I, What defperate Villains were you 10 go and
ufe the old Gentleman in this manner, four{core
Years of Age! You beat and abuled hin; you
arc {trange mad Fellows: Why could you not
let him flecp in his Bed? he was afleep when
you came 1n: You were the maddelt Fellows
that ever was. Satth he, Some of you have
ftabb’d him., 1 think you deferve ten thouland
Deaths for laying your Hands on him, tho’ you
did not take Six-penny worth of his Goods.
Saith he, There was no Intention of hurting
him : Upon my Soul there was no Order or
Commuffion. Saith I, How got you in? Saith
he, The Door ftands open half a Day together,
almoft : One got into the Cellar, and ftood till
all was a-bed: He went into the Kitchen, found
a Candle ftanding highted, and went up’into the
old Gentleman’s Chamber, and there he found
the Key of the Door, came down, opened the
Door, and let the reft . How many was
there of them ? Saith he, Three or four. Said I,
What did you do; and what would you have
done ? We would only have bound them, How
got you the Treafure? By a Key out of the old
Gentleman’s Pocket : 1 think there is no hure
to the old Gentleman 3 1 would not for all the
Woild there fhould.  You fhall have the Things
again: And pray keep your Word with me. A-
bout Four o’clock in the Morning they brought
the Money, Now, faid I, what fhall we da
with it? 1 can do nothing with it: You mutt
carry it home to my Houfe, Thefe two Fel-
lows carried one three, and the other two
Dags.

We went through Aldgate with the Money,
and fo to my Houfe: My Wife, nor Sons. nor
no Soul, God is my Witnels, knew any thing
of this Bufinefs but my felf, 1 knocked at the
Door: This young Man (pointing to 7ohi) came
down, and he unbelted, unlocked, and unlatched
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the Door. My Parlour and Kitchen is all of ore
Floor ; They followed me in, and threw dowp
the Money. He bringing the Candle to me,
No, faid I, do not bring it.  Said I, 27ild, what
fhali I do for the Jewels and the reft of the Mo-
ney ? You fhall have them brought you where
you will appoint to-day. | will have then
brought hither. Saith he, That cannot be, |
have forgot my felf: This Money muft not lje
here 3 you muft remove it from hence : For the
other Youths that have the reft of the Money
and Jewecls, will never be brought into the Ciry,
It you will remove 1t into the Miusries, my
Life for it, you will have itall. I will pretend
there we will thare it.  You muft not let it Jje
at all, but carry it prefently thither, I will te]]
what [ will do: Have you any Acquaintance a-
bout Zower-Hill, where you will leave it ? No,
faid he. Nor [ neither, faid I. T went up Stairs
to my Wile; Aall, faid I, have you any Ac-
quaintance about the further Zower-/7i? 1 dur(t
not truft my Wife nor Sons: for I thought their
Tongucs might be too long, and lefc them in
perfect Ignorance: Truly, I mult clear them.
Mall, fad 1, there 15 a2 Gentlewoman, whofe
Husband is failed, (this was a feigned Story, my
Lord) it muft be {ccured abour Tvwer-Hili s She
was pretty well awake,  Saith fhe, There is the
Commiflary-General of the King., his Daughter
Betiy Fiy keeps a Shop of Lincn at the lower
End of the Miverizs. Do you think fhe wili be
private, and let it lie for four ¢v five Hours?
Undcabtedly fhe will, faith the. Priythee ger up,
and put on thy Clothes, and go thither. /7,
where {hall i find you about Eight or Nine o
cleck ? T will lodge thisat the Seamtrefs’s Shop,
ucon the Right-hand at the farther Ead of the
Alinoiies : "Tell me wiere I fhall meet you, and
we will have this Money carricd there; my Son
and I, we will have it lodged. Saith he, You
{hall have me walking within three Doors of the
Blee-Pigy {o he called it Saith I, What mean
you? Saith ke, It is a little Sign, no bigger than
a Pig, but it 1s called the Blre-Boai: 'T'here you
fhall have me walking in the under or upper
Caufey. My Lord, 1 took this Bov, (pointing
to Jobn) who knew nothing : 1 told him it was
a Friend’s Money. I railed my Wife: Mall,
faid I, comcaway. My Wife v enr before ; the
Boy and I took the Money : I carricd two, and
he three. My Vile went and knock’d up che
Mald, the Door was open when we came; God
forgive this Maid thae fiwears it was chis Son,
the is miftaken, upon my Salvation this Boy was
abed and afleep.  VWhen the Money was there,
I taid by my Wife; faid I, what have vou done
with this Moncy ? [ did nct tell my Wife any
thing. [ came Kc-mc; coming home, there was
my Son and Wife. I drank a Cup of Cider,
(for I kept a Hogthead of Cider in my Houfe)
as foon as I drank ir, I went out of Doors im-
mediately : Said I, to this younge(t Son, Stay at
home, 1 fhall have occafion to ufe you by and
by. I'went to Mr. Ziyon’s; coming there, [
found Mr. Geraey the Merchant: Said
Mr. Gurney, 1 have good News, | have {ome
hopes of itrong Prcfumptions; that Mr. Tryos
will not lole one Pennv-worth of his Goods.
Marry, faid he, I am glad of that, We¢ went
up to Mr, Tryon's, we found him fiting by a
little Charcoal Firey, as much as you may cover
with your Hands : He told us he had been up ever
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fince three of the clock. We asked him, what
he would have to comfort him : he told us, he
had fomething. Mr. Garney after fome difcourfe
took his leave of him, fo I fat down (7efus/
what a noife is bere in the Govrt, My Lord! I can
bear but with one Ear.) 1 fay, I fat down at
the Bed-fide of Mr, Zsyon, he on the Stool:
Mr. Zryon, faid Iy I have Good Ncw_s ﬁ)‘r youl.
Saith he, Haft thou! Iam glad of it with all
my Soul, Sir, faid I, I am informed you w:_ll not
lofe any of your Goods or Money, there is but
thirty-eight Shillings fpent of all your Money,
the Rogues took but forty Shillings out, and
777ild told me there was two Shillings faved : I
darc boldly fay, by Three of the clock In the
Afternoon you will be mafter of them again. I
would be glad of that, and ngl give you ﬁve
hundred Pounds. But, Sir, faid I, there is a
Tale hangs by this: You know you fhould have
been robbed about 2 Year fincey and I have ap-
prehended /Vild, who was one of ‘the intended
‘Thieves : then, be hath made me {wear, By rL‘ve
Blood of Fefus Cliiff, e that he thall have his
Life, if you have your chd_s: He hath enga-
aed me that you fhall likewife fwear by the like
Oath, or cfe you thall hang him, and fo lofe
your Goods. Said I, I have a great part of
your Money, but the Jewels and the reft of
your Money s wanting. The old Gentleman
was almoft overjoy’d: This is not true, faid he.
Siid I, | do declare this is true in the prefence
of God, make no words of ity if the bufinels
be difcovercd, we fhall loic the Jewels. Well,
faid he, I will be ruled by you, Colonel; and
the Lord God make me thankful I have {uch
a Friend in the world that hath done this for
me, I {hall never make you amends : and there-
ulmn he entred into the fame Oath._, That b}*jf}ﬂ'
Jisod, &c.the Blood of the Man fhould not be {pilt
tho® he loft both Money and Jewels. T difcourf-
ed with him, I told him over and over again,
feft him fatishied that I would be with him again,
and bring him more tidings, but by Thyee o
clock 1 doubted not but he fhould have zll.
T hen it was almoft Eight at Night; away went
I to Tower-I4il o look my Merchant Fobs
J7ild, he was here in Newgate formerly @ there
found I him walking by the Bilue-Boar, careluily
walking therey, with his Coat under his Arms.
Satd 1, How now, what News? I think [ have
now plealed you, faith he. What have you
donc? faid I. I have lodged the Money hard
by, and all 15 nght.  What have you doune? Is
all right on the other fide? All thall be well :
but where have you lodg’d it? Fere at a Seam-
itrefs’s, at the corner of the Adinories : faid he,
'{'he Money muft be removed, there are Salef-
men thercabouts, and the Fellow that hath the
jewels he is known, he will not come thither;
remove it towards the Water-fide, any where,
aind the things {hall come, my Life for it. They
had a Cat’s-Eye Ring, they were fuch wife La-
pidaries, they called this a Hundred-Pound Ring,
when 1t was not worth Five Pound. He gave
order that the Money might be again removed
to the other end by the Horfefhoe-Tavern. [
vun home, fetch’d my Son s faid I, Wife, we
muft have away the Money, My Lord, he told
e he would have away the Money to the Half-
Aloan ‘Tavern in 8t Catharine’s, or the corner
Tavern at the fron-gate; faid I, Are not you re-
foived 2 Welly faid he, it thall be carry’'d to
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8t. Catharine’s, he would meet my Son ar the
Noaly's~ ik at Tower-Ditch : ler my Son but hand
the Money over that Path, and he would hand
it to the other. We did carry ir, carry’d icagain
At this fecond carrying, comes Sir 720mz; Aleyi,
he had heard fome Cry of Monay left, he comes
with a great Company of People after him, and
the foolifh Wench faid to my Son, Az John,
/. Jor your Life.  Fobu being furprifed and af-
friphted, he went out of the Back-door, went
over the Ditch, and went to my Hounle. Sip
Thomas Aleyn had alfo fent to fecure my Houle.
When the Lad came home into the {treec, my
Doors were thut up: (Gentlemen of the Jury,
do you underfiand?) the Boy fecing {uch a Rout
at the Door, faith the People; Asr, John, ysar
Fatler’s Houfe is fhut up abour My, Tryon’s Moncy.
He walked by the ftrect, and went into Bifiop/-
gate-firect, and Cheapfide, into Paterioflcr- Row,
and lo into Fleer-flrect : 1 did not hear of him
till Saturday, in the Afternoen.

When Sir Thomas Aieyin came, (aich ke,
Mr. Turner, here we have carch’s you and the
Money. Said I, if you be hafty and pafiionate,
as you were laft night, you will fpoil all the
whole bufinels. Tcil mey faith he, whole Mo-
ney 10is? Said I, it is my Money. The truth
15, the old Gentleman haih promifed me oo /.
it is the naked truth; I would not have Sir T ip-
aas Aleyn have the Lonour of guinirg ir, but i
would have the honour of gaming it my way.,

Sir Thomas would knew whethir it <was my
Money, 1 told him I had recrived part of It at
a Goldimith’s; fo I put Sir Thosmas off Come,
come, faid he, we will carry this Meney to
Mr. Tryon. Said I to Mr. Zion, Here is part
of your Moncey, you know what I told you e-
ven now. Ay, faith he, God be thanked, be-
fore Sir Thomas Aleyn. T asked him, whar his
Promife was, and told him how the Paffage was
in fhort; and the ¢ld Man did acknowledpe thac
fucha Promife was made, and would have down
upon his knees, I paffed my word to him, that
by Three o’clock I doubted not but he would
have his Jewels, and the reft of the Money.
Saith Sir Thomas dleyn, Go, (whether he (aid
live and prolper, I know not) Go, God blefs
you; and upon my honour (I think that was his
word) the old Man thall make good his Word.
Ay, but Siv Thomas, what will become of me
and you, by this Bufinefs, for I underffand the
Law ¢ How will this Bufinefs be daubed up ?
You will be fined, Sir Thowas ; T mufl break
my Word, he muft be apprehended, or I muft
fuffer. Saith Sir Thomas, Do not trouble me

with that, get but the Goods, and the old M.n’s
Word f{hall be made good, leave that to me.

More than that, he faid, He would male up the
Bufinefs, or he would fmother it, My Lord,
you have a great deal of Patience, I am humbly
bound to you, here is nothng but the naked
Truth, ftep by ftep, as Itrod it. Afterwards
Mild came and faid, All will be well. Said I,
What have you donc? Are you fure, fiith he,
the Jewels nor nothing fhall be ftirred? Said 1,
You {ec all is {poiled ; Sir Thomas Aleyr is come
where we had lodged the Money, the thing is
known, do not they hear of it? Yes, they hear
as well as you, and know what is done, and fome
have eyes upon you, Said I, They will run 2-
way with the Jewels. No, you thall meet about
Three o’clock ; no body knows me but you,

yolit
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your Wife, and your Son, who faw me this
Morning at Three o’clock, cither by the Biue-
Pig at Tower-Hill, or Nags-Head over-agamnft
IV bite-Chapel Church.

It is agreed, for God’s fake look fo it, your
Life and mine is concerned 3 1t the Jewcls be
loft, I will perfecute you to the Death, look
they are preferved, and not purletn’d.  Saith he,
The Bags were never opened. 1 partzd with
him, he was to look for me at Three of the
clock : coming home about Change-time, who
thould I meet with but Mr. Sradbs, who told
me that it was all the News upon the Exchange,
that you have been in the Robbery. Said I, Do
not trouble your head, I have difcovered the bu-
inefs. Then faid Stebbs, You know I and
Thoinas Lyon are Bail for you. At that time [
Tatisfied him. Atterwards that day I mert with
Mr. Cole the Ofhcer 3 faid he, Colonel, I arreft
you. For what? tor more Fooleries yet? Tho-
05 Lyoir will not be fatsfied. By Six of the
clock this bufinefs will be all over: nothing
will ferve your turn bur Violence, Violence, no
Force, no Law, I was forced to go to the Hoop-
Taovern. 1 got them to fend for Mr. Stubds and
Lyon; they came: {aid I, What will you have?
| am in profecution of a Bufinels for Mr. Tryon,
you will undo 1t with this {ixpenny Bufinefs:
fay what Sccurity you will have, and you fhall
have it: faid I, Mr. Ziyon and Siv Thomas dleyan
fhall give you their Security, to fave you harm-
lefs forbeing my Bail. Said they, Bold Mr. Ziyon,
we'll do it5 we are content 3 they went away,
and told me they would get a Bond, and come
prefently 2 bur whar was this prefently; [ will
warrant you they ftaid two hours; it was
Seven o’clock at night before I parted with
them. I was fain to fend the little Boy for
Mr. Ailly Mr. Pilkrugtony, NMv. Millington 5 this
was cither a Curle trom God fent upon me, or
a Plot of Roguery that the Money fhould be
loft. They came not back ull Seven of the
cleck, and then without a Bondy and I fell a
lietle violent: Bur § was telling them how thele
Rogues told me the whole Carriage of this Rob-
bery 5 when it came that Mr. Trysa and Sir Tho-
mas Alevi heard that 1 was in cuftody, he fent a
Conflable with a Warrant to bring us all before
him. Wiaen we came there, [ defired Siv 7ho-
mas to et a Gentlemun go with me 5 I will
break my QOath with the Fellow, and we will
apprehend himy and make him bring the Jewels.
Sir Thoiias Aicyr told them, if they would all go
together, they might; but to go out of the
Liberties, he could not let them go: I have
you, and [ will keep you, and do find him if
you will, How now, Sir Thumas, faid I, are
you come to that? Have you fooled me all this
while? Ifaith, 1 thank you, for you have tre-
panned me very fairly 5 if any thing milcarry in
my Honour and Reputation, or Blood, you arc
in the fault : Here I do declare, faid I, if you
will let me go, I will take him. Then Sir Zho-
a5 did incline to let me: what fay you, Ofh-
cers, will you go out of your Liberties with this
Gentleman? Sir Thowas, faid 1, there is no Li-
berty or Privilege for I'clons; I will {eize a Fe-
lon my felf in any ground in Eugland without
Warrant, 1 do remember this 2#i/4 did condi-
tion, that in cale I could not come, I fhould
vult no Man living but myfelf, becaufe he had
had my Soul pawn’d to him. [ asked him whom

he would truft : He faid, if I could fend my
Wife, defcribing her to him, that the was a ful]
fhort Woman about forty or fifty Years old, fhe
had a long Dblack Scarf on s then lct him alone
if I cannot come, 1 will fend fuch 2 Woman,
and fend the things by her, and preferve your
Life. I told Sir Zhomas this Story. My Wit
came to me publickly, I did not whifper with
her

Mis. Turner. Nay, lbok you, Husband —-

Col. Turner. Priythee, Aall, fitdown: you fee,
my Lord, my Wife will interrupt me with Nog-
fenfe, Prythee fit thee down quickly, and do net
put me out: I cannot hold Womens Tongues,
nor your Lordfhip neither.

Ld Bridgiian. ‘This is not a May-game,

Col. Zuyuer. My Lord, 1t is a ferious Bufinefs,
and [ hope God will blels it e—- Pray, faid [
Mall go, as you love and honour my Life and
Credit, orany thing that concerns me, | beg
you to go. ‘Then I will go, faith the; whither
muft I go; You muft go to the further Tozer-
Hill, fix doors beyond the little Poltern : now
it 1s fo much of the clock, from Five to Seven
he will waik therc. A Fellow will come to you
in black, that Man that in the Morning took
the Money from Fack, he will know you, and
once 1n & quarter or half an hour he will come
to you. It you do not find him in half an hour,
ftay no longer, but pack away o Z7bite-Chapel,
ask tov the Nags-Head in White-Chapel, and
once in 2 quarter of an hour you will have a
Man come to you, and take notice of you, and
ask you who you are 5 and you muft fay, thac
you walk for one to give you fomewhat: he
will deliver you fomewhat, ard whatever he de-
livers you, bring it hither, Said I to them, You
may fend if you willy and dodge my Wite, and
catch him that way; they would not. I fent
my poor Wife away, and, faving your Lord-
fhip’s prefence, fhe did all bedirt herfelf, a thing
fhe did not ufe to do, poor Soul: She found
this Vags-Head, ihe fat down, being fomewhat
fat and weary, poor Heare! I have had twenty-
{even Children by her, fiftcen Sons, and twelve
Daughters. Seven or cight times this Fellow
did round her —-

Mors. Turnes, Let me give that Relation.

Col. Zuruer. You cannor, it isas well: priythes
it down, dear Mall, fit thee down, good Child,
all will be well. When the came back, fhe came
with fomething in her Apron: What are vou
{ped, faith he? 1 know not what: a Man came
to me, and asked mc who I look’d for; 1 told
him, 1lock’d for any Man that would give me
any thing. Arve you Colonel Turier’s Wite ?
And upon her Anfwer he gave her thele Bags
into her Apron, and was gone a matter of a yard
from her: Steps back again, that is not all, herc
1s a Diamond Ring wcrth 2 Hundred Pound,
give that to your Husband. And this Diamond
Ring proves a Cat’'s-Eyc Ring, and worth but
Four Pound.

Mrs. Turier, Welly and did not I bring thefe—

Col. Turuer. Look you, my Lord, this Woman
wil] put me out. My Lord, fhe did deliver all
thefe things, and went home. I did take out
thele Goods: Now, faid }, Mr. Zryon, you fee
all 1s come, (Sir Thoinas Chamberlain was there)
I have perform’d all my party lock to the reft,
that you perform yours. Some People report,
that there is other Jewels of my own 3 my Lord,

they
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~re all his own, and he will not difown 1,
:];:Elqu:icuanot cxpeé: my Five Hundred Pounds
}or what I have done, according to his Promife,

v died, €5¢. and the Man fhould not

tas je : ' i
g‘fﬂpri}zclﬁed, nor lofe a Hair of his Head, if

s whole Eftate: and I do expett my
}:/(I!;:iaf;,l:lot {uch a Reward asthis. After which
1 was committed by Siv Thomas Aleyir, and {o
was my Wife. Now pray let me call my Wit~
nefles, and if 1 cannot make it good, that { am
clear, let me be hanged. My Lord, I fhall hum-
bly intreat that Mr. Pandeput may be called,
My, Cowel, and the otheis.

1,d Bridgman. What do.you prove by them?
Tuznet. gfo prove part of this Bufine(s, That

I did affure Mr. Ziyor of his Goods; and
to my Reputation. 1 forgot onc chicf thing,
I am not a Man in Debt, take notice of
hat no Man in the World hath my Bill
for ;—Z. There is only this Conteft between
Mr. Venburgh and mylfelf, which is left to Arbi-
erators, and the Lord-Mayor is Umpire: It is
Lnown | have an Eftate, and there is one thing
remarkable, Gentlemen of the Jury, 1 could have
had all thefe Jewels at any time 1n Truft; Icould
have broke as well as others, and paid ¢ 5. 1n the
Pound: 1 lately made Payment of 2600/. for
Goods, and I can have 20000 /. Credit any Day
upon the Exchange: Why I that had this Gredir,
that might break for fo much Money, why
fhould I put my Neck 1n a Halter? Thefe are
very {ftrong Arguments for me, that I am not
fuch a Perfon.

Ld Bridgman. 1 will tell you what you have
done: You have made a very long Story, and
have taken up the time of the Court thele two
Hours in a Narrative; and when all 1s done,
anlwer me, Have you any Witnefs to prove
all this Difcourfe between you and 27id ?

Turner. 1 have by, Witnefles to prove I {aid
this, that there was fuch Dilcourles between
us.

[.d Bridgman. No doubt of it; and fo will
many 2 Man at Newgare trame {uch a Story as
this.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You have tolda long Story
about /77ld, that you took him by the Throat,
and that you were alone ; what Weapons had
you?

Turaer. None, my Lord.

L.d Bridgman. Had you a Lanthorn with you?

Turner. No, my Lord.

Ld Bridgman. What time of the Night was
iy

Turuer. Twelve 0'Clock, my Lord.

1.4 Bridgman, You ftaid till Four, fothey were
four Hours a bringing of the Money.

Taraer. Yes, my Lord.

I.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. You took a Man in the dark
by the Throat, that Man that was guilcy of fuch
2 thing, as when that you did let him go to call
his Companions, to bring the Money, bring Fel-
Jows to you fingle; I would be glad to know,
whether inthis cale they would not have knock’d
you on the Hcad, and killed you?

Turner. My Lord, //ild had engaged his Soul,
and I my Soul to him, that if I would not dif-
cover him, ! fhould go away free.

L.d Bridginan. Great Security indeed!

Col. Turner called {everal Witnefles, viz. Mr.
Vandeput, Mr. Cowel, Nlrx. Legoofe, Mr. Snow
anglf Mr. Mofely the Conttable, 1 defire my Maid
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may be called: pray ask Sir Thomas Aleyn what
he hath done with my Maid, he took her up with
Sir Richard Brown and two Marfhal’s Men: (pray
Gentlemen make not a laughing Bufinefs of this)
Sir Thomas, pray where is my Maid ?

Sir Tho. Aleys. 1 had this Maid upon Exami-
nation, I found caufe of further Examination,
and thereupon direted an Officer to take her,
and fhe is now in the Garden. '

Mr. Molcly the Conflable examined.

When I came firft to Mr, Tryon, at Mr. Tryox's
Houfe, he was bound ; then he asked where his
Man and Maid was ? he faid he could not tell.
By and by the Man came in, and being asked
where he was, he anfwered he was at Col. Tus-
aer's at Supper. Prefently after we went to Col.
Turner’sy he came to. the Window, his Wife and
two Sons were in Bed.

Ld Bridgman. Did Mr. Tiyen give you order
to come to him?

Mofely. Yes, my Lord, he did,

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. Mufely, you were Conftable,
were you not? What Difcourfe had you with
Mr. Turner about a dangerous Place that you did
%fpc&, where {fome People may be to do fuch 2

eat?
" Mofely. T never heard of any fuch thing {po-
en.

Ld Bridgman. You fay Mr, Tryon he withed
you to call Zurner to him; did he give you any
Order or Diretion to fearch his Houfe? Who
wifhed you to go up to the Houle to fee whe-
ther his Sons and Daughters were in Bed ?

Mofely. Mr., Turner did, my Lord.

Turuer. He doth not fay true, my Lord: Pray
ask him, when he came to my Door, and 1 o-
pened 1t, if he did not ask whether My, Tiyon’s
Servant was there at Supper that Nighe? [ faid,
No. Is your Sons within, faid he? I faid, Ay.
Pray let me {ee them.

Mofely. I came to Mr. Tuiner’s Houle, and
knock’d at the Door with fome others with me
at Jaft the Colonel came out of his Bed. I fup-
pofe he came out of his Bed, being partly na-
ked; he came down to the Door ; Iasked him,
where are your Sons? They are in Bed, fays
he. Said I, Mr. Tiyon is robb’d,y he would have
yolt come to him,

Ld Bridgman. Did he defire you to go up?

Mafely. No,my Lord; but I asking him whe-
ther his Sons were in Bed, he {aid, [ pr’ythee go
up and fee.

Turner. My Lord, 1 would prove where my
Sons were on Thuriday Night at Ten 0’Clock.

Lord Marguifs of Dorchetter’s Servant examiued.

My Lord, till Nine o’Clock they were with
me at my Lord Marquifs's Houfe.

Ld Bridgain. What time came they thither ?

Marq. Servant, Between Seven and Eight at

Night.
Col. Turner’s Maid examii’d.

Turser. Come, Maiden, pray tell my Lord
and the Court when my Sons came home this

Night.
Maid. Between Nine and Ten o'Clock.

X xx 1d
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Ld Bridgman. Were your Mafter and his Sons
in Bed all F'riday Night, or no?

Maid. Yes, my Lord, they were.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did your Mafter go forth
on Friday Night?

Maid. No, he was at home and in Bed all that
Night till Eight o’Clock in the Morning, and
Thurf{day Night before.,

Turner. A filly Soul, the knows not what fhe
fays.

YLd Ch. Juft. Ayde. I will ask you agam, was
your Mafter at home on Friday Night?

Maid. No, I think he was not.

Ld Ch. Juit. Hyde. Why did you fay fo be-
fore?

Maid. T cannot remember, Sir.

Ld Bridginan. She knows her Mafter’s Mind.

Turier. Noy, upon my Soul, my Lord.

Ld Bridginan. My Mafters of the Jury, this 1s
the Ufe that is made of this Maid's Teftimony ;
{he will fay any thing, fhe is no fit Witnels, no
Truft to be given to her either one way or o-
ther.

Turner. Pray call Mr, Cowel, Mr. Legoof:,
Mr. Cook the Gold{mith,

Ld Bridginan. W hat do you call thefe for?

Turier. 'To prove my Condition, my Credit
and Reputation,

Ld Bridgman. The Jury knows that already.

Mr. Cock. Thus much I can fay, that I have
known him fome twenty Years, I have had Deal-
ing with him to the Value of feveral hundred
Pounds, I have rrufted him, and have found him
very faithfuly 1 have feen in his Pofleflion Jew-
els to the Value of eight or ten thouf{and Pounds

by which I fuppole, if he had been fuch a Per-
{fon, he might have done hmmfclf a Kindncls by
breaking.

Mr. Legeofe. All T can fay, 1s, I have an Ac-
quaintance with this Perfon, he was a Sollici-
tor, dealt honeftly and faithfully in a Bufinels
wherein I was concerncd ; he hath lived very
well.

Sir Richard Brown. W here you have heard one
Man fay he 15 an honeft Man, have you not
heard a hundred fay otherwife ?

Mr. Legoofe. There hath been an 1ll Report,
that he hath been a Perlon that lived high.

Turier. S1t Richard Drown, no Manin Lugland
can fay black 1s my Eye.

Sir Rich. Brown. Mr. Turnery you fay you were
upon Tower-Hillall Friday Night ; whither went
you in the Morning?

Turuer. 1 came home between Four and Five
in the Morning.

Siv Rich. Brows, Your Maid offered to depofe
even now, that you did not rife all that Morn-
ing before Eight of the Clock.

Turner. Lapfus Linguey if the Girl be mifs
taken.

L.d Bridgian. Do not trouble your felf with
thar, her Evidence is of no force.

Mr. Fefferies. Col. Turner, I cannot fay any
thing that will beadvantageous toyou; my Lord,
and Gentlemen of the Jury, I have heard Mr. 77y-
oiz hath trufied him winh Jewels to a good Va-
lue, and that Mr. Tryos had a very good Repute
of him.

Sir Rich. Brown. Pray what Report hath he
upon the Exchange ¢

Turner, 1 owe nothing there, Siv Richard, nor
none there can lay any thing to my Charge, exs
cept it be that I am a Cavalier,
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L.d Ch, Jult. Zyde. Mr. Tuiner, have you any
more?
Turner. My Lord, 1 do want thefc Goldfmitlls,

they do not appear, they promifed me they
would.

Ld Ch. Juit. Hyde. How can we help it?

Turner. I do humbly beg your Honour ang
this Honourable Bench, that the old Gentle-
man, my old Friend, may declare what pafled
between us on Saturday Morning,

Ld Bridgman. Confider what you do, for here
would you have Mr. Z#yox fwear againft himfelf:
hear what you would put him to, take it as you
put 1ty tho’ I do not believe a Word of i,  Ag
you put the Cale, here is 77ild commits a Rob-
bery, you come and truck with /7i/d, and agyec
with him that Mr. Zryor fhall let him go, {hall
not meddle with him, there fhall be no Profecu-
tion, {othe Jewels and Money may be brough;
Would not you get Mr, Ziyos to conceal a Fe-
lony and Felon, and he confefs againfl himfclf he
made this Agreement with you? that Mr. Tiyon
did confent to iz, that he promifed you five hun-
dred Pound to fhuille up this Bufinels?

Turicr. Hear me, pray ; you put me out: I
had not lct this Man go, 1 begoed that they
would go with me, Sir Themas Aleyi would not
let us go, we would have taken him, I was fen-
{ible ot the Danger; it may be we might have
had the Felon and the Goceds too.

Ld Ch. juft. fyde. No doubr, upen your own
Story, all this while you had no Pofiibility of
having the Goods, unlefs the Life of this [el-
low may be given you; fo you werc fain to a-
gree, and plight your Word to him, pawn your
Soul that he fhould be free, untouch’d, fo he

would difcover the Goods and Monzy. Sir T/s-
s Alcyiny {peak to that Particular again.

Sir Tho. Aleyn. My Lord, and Gentlemen of
the Jury, he tells a long Story, that he was kept
abroad till Seven o’Clock at Night; T do verily
believe he was brought to Mr. 77yes's at Five
o’Clock, and there he keprt us ’till Seven, and ail
he would do, was, he defired to go himlelfy or
with one Perfon at the moft, or elic we thall lofe
all the Jewecls, faith he, for two Souls are pawn-
ed: he did not in the leaft argue the taking of
the Thief, I muft fay this, when 1 camc to him
on Monday, hefaid if I had fent a good Guard,
we might have taken the Thicf. Suid I, a Lyar
had nced have agood Memory, Then you muit
only go yourlelf, or with cne Perlon; he hath
told you, that I faid there thould be no Profecu-
tion. [ faid only this, whatever My, Tryon had
promifed you, I knew not; but if you expeét
Favour, let the old Gentlemen have his Jewels
again.

Sir Tho. Chamberlain, T heard no fuch thing.

1.d Bridgman. W hat did he tell you?

Sir Tho. Chamberlain. He would have gone with
one with him, and pretended he could find out
the Jewcls only.

Mr. Millington, T here were fome Propofitions
made, he defired firlt I fhould go with him f{in-
oly; I told bim there would be no Security, but
if he would get a {ufhcient Guard, I would go
with him: but he went home to his Wife, and
never made mention of any Party’s Name, bu
that there was a Party he expected the Jewcls
of. *

Ld Bridgman. Did he propofe any thing touch-
ing the taking that Man?

Killington.
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Tlington. Nothing but that be had pawned
hisﬂgzufi{gthcrc fhould be no Dilcovery of it.
1.4 Bridgman. Did he defive that you fhould

oo and rake the Man? '
nﬂﬂz}?ﬂfﬁgtan. No, but that we might go and fe-

e Jewels.
Cug:er?1 Cg!e. My Lord, there was a great deal of
Dancer; we are Bail for eight hundred Pounds;
if hcnhad been taken away, We arc all undone:
he only propounded of having the Jewels, and

rhing of the Man.
nohdll‘.gcfti'lfﬂy- I underftood yoll, Col. Ti’ﬂ??}e}‘,

only for the Jeweis, and not for the Man.

Mr. Fobn Masfoal. My Lord, he did move
Siy Thomas Aleyn that I might go with him to
1 bite-Chapel and about Tower-Hill. 1 told Sir
Thowas, it was very unlafe for me to go, being
late, and out of the Libertics; tho’ I was a Con-
itable. T could not command Afliftance there;
nd intreated Sir Thowmas to excufeme: I thoughe
't not fafe for him. Hec did then repeat the En-
sagement of his Soul to the Thief, and of Tryon's
to him. _ _

1.d Bridgman. Did you ever hear him fay, de-
fire or propole, that you fhould go and 1ake the
'Thicf ?

1 Marfhel. No, my Lord, it was to get the reft
of the Jewels.

Alderman Swmith. Do not you know that I (pake
to you again and again, and advifed you by all
means to let us know where this Man 15 ; that
| would go my{clf, or any of thefe Perfons
prefent? you utterly refuled 1r, and faid there
was two Souls pawned, and you would not dif-
cover 1t

Turner. That was at firft, afterwards I men-
tion’d them all.

L.d Brideman. For what?

Turner. 'To take the Thief,

1.4 Bridgman. You fee not any Man teftify any
fuch thing.

Yeoman Cole. Sir Thomas Aleyn called my Bro-
ther and 1 both into the Room to him, and the
Marfhal and his Man; and faid, Col. Turuer
would have us go withoutthe Libertics for chefe
Jewels : I think, faith Sir Thomas Aleyn, 1t 15 not
fafe to go out of the Liberties. Mr. Mar/fbal faid
the fame. He defired us to go with him, but
Sir Thomas refufed 1t

Ld Bridgman. This 1s a notable Picce of Cun-
ning; when he was moved by Alderman Swith
and others, all this while he names no Man ; but
now he was underan Action, he would have them
oo with himfelf out of the Liberties, and yet ne-
ver faith 2 Word to take the Man: He knew
very well it was out of the Liberties. Truly I
think, if Siv Zhomas Aleyn had done ity 1 thould
not have taken him to be Sir Thowas Aleyn.
Did you defire any of them to go with your
Wife?

Marfhal. He deny’d us to go with his Wife;
his Token was this, the Thief would mect no
Man.

Turner. My Lord, to the Bufinels now. I am
here indiCted for Burglary: It appears to your
Honours and the Bench, that it was Ten of the
Clock when my Sons came from my Lord the
Marquifs of Dorchefier’s Houfe, fad I, You
- Knaves you, what do you out fo late? Said they,
It was paft Nine before we had done, and my
Lord’s Gentlemen made us ftay Supper. They
were all in their Beds at a lictle paft Ten of the
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Clock. You hear what Mofely the Conltable
faith, he finds us fleeping in the Houlc; how
fhould this Burglary be liid on me? I am in-

di&ted. here for Burglary, and that I cannot be,
for that I was at Home.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Have you done?

- Zurner. Ay, my Lord. '

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. William Turner, what fay
you? You fee what is laid to your Charges
firft, you are a Perfon of loofe Lite; there were
two at his Bed-fide, he believes you to be the
Perfon that gagg’d him, and help’d to bind him.

William Tnrner. 1 was never in his Houfe in
my Life, till with Sir Thomas Aleya..

LdCh. Jult. Hyde, Where were you ?

Will. Turner. At Home.

Ld Ch. Julft, Ayde. Make that appear.

Will. Turwer. 1 have none here.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. He faith it was a Man as
like you as can be.

Will. Turner. And I am as innocent as may be,

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde, Fobn Turner, thar which is
againft you is this: You on Saturday Morning
very early was bufy with your Father and Mo-
ther in the removing the Money ; and then when
you had Notice that you would be appichend-
cd, you got away.

Jjobn Turner. Sir, 1 did not know who it was
that was come, whether to apprehend, or upon
any other {core; but the Woman fpeaking 1o
me, Flee for your Lifey or {uch Expreflions, made
me go away I know not how,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did not you bring fome
Money ?

Jobn Turner. 1did, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Juft, Hyde. How much was brought at
that time?

Fobin Tnrner. 1 carried away two Bags to
Hild.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did you know him?

Fobn Terner. Yes, my Lord.

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. Did you carry thefe to 2514
on Saturday-morning? Did nét you carry them
to Fy’s Houfe?

Jobn Turner. We took them afterwards from
the Houfe where 77ild appointed us to meet.

Ld Bridgman. At what time of the Day did
you carry them back to /75id?

Fobn Turner. Before Sir Thomas Aleyn came that
Day, I was coming for more.

Ld Bridgiman. 'To what Place ?

Fobn Turner. At Tower-Ditch.

Ld Bridgiman. At what Houfe?

Fobn Turner. No Houfe, but I delivered them
at Tower-Ditch.

Ld Bridginan. At what Time of the Day?

Jobin Turner. 1t was before Sir Thomas Aleyn
came, about Eight or Ninc of the Clock in the
Forenoon.

Ld Bridgman. Was there no People there?
Who was there ?

FobnTurier. 1 cannot tell; I faw feveral o-
ther Perfons.

Ld Bridgman. Did 2ild ftand in the Street ?

Fohan Turner. Yes.

Ld Bridgman. How cameyou to know him?

Fobn Turner. By my Father’s Direétion; and I
had feen the Man at our Houfe that Morning
when he brought in the Moncy.

L.d Bridgman. W hereabouts? Was it near the
Queft-houle ? that is, the great Houle that ftands
in the middle of the way?

Xxx2 Fobn
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Yohs Tusner. It was hard by the Sign of No-
ah’s-Ark.

L.d Bridgman. This is a likely Story to be be-
lieved, that you fhould in the day-time, between
Eight and Nine in the Morning, meet in the
Tywer-Ditch that Man that was a noted Thief,
that had been in Newgate; that you fhould tarry
for this Man to receive two Bags of Money:
fee how it hangs together!

1.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. How often did you go ?

Fobi Turner. 'Twice.

1.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. How much at a time?

Fohn Turner. A fingle Bag.
1.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. Had you a Coat or Cloke?

Fobn Turner. Juft asl am now.
Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Had #Vild a great black
Coat? And what did he do with the Mon?'?

Sobi Turner. I know not: but 1 delivered one
in the Street, and then went and fetch’d another,

and he ftaid ready for It.

Ld Ch. Jutt. Bridgman. Was this all the Mo-
ney that was brought in the Morning, fave that
that Sir Thomas Aleys brought away ¢

Fohn Turner. It was all, to my Knowledge.

Sir Tho. Aleyn. Colonel Turrer confeiled to me
on Thur{day Morning that more came unto his
Houfe, but that Rogue /7ild took 1t away.

1.d Ch. Juft. Bridginan. How much:

Sir Tho. Aleyn. About 2001,

Ld Mayor. How many Turns did you make
when the Money was carried from your Father’s
Houle to the Minories ¢

“obn Turaer, Twice.

Lord Mayor. Who went firfc?

Sobn Turner. We went both together.

L.d Mayer. How much was carried between
you both?

Yobn Turuer. The firft time I carried 200/, as
I can judge.

L.d Mayor. Who carried any more ?

Yobn Turier. My Father.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman. What did you bring
the fecond time?

Yobn Turner. Three Hundred Pound.

La Ch. Jult. Bridgman. William, one thing
more: What was the QOccafion of meeting you
and Fames Turner at the Alchoule?

William Teraer. I did not meet him, my
L.ord.

L.d Ch. Juft. Bridgman. You came thither, and
called for a Pot of Ale, and faid you {taid for
Colonel Turner.

W illiain Turner. Tt is not right: I only asked
:f Colonel Zurner ufed the Houfe. By and by he
came, and paid for the Pot.

Ld Ch. Juft. Bridgman, You two went togc-
ther : What was the Occafion of your meeting
together ?

Col, Turner. Finding him there, I faid I could
not drink with him ; and fo we parted.

77 Qurner. 1 called for a Pot of Drink: and
having no Moncy to pay for it, Colonel Turuner
coming by, I called him in, and defired him to
pay for it; which he did.

L.d Ch. Juft. Bridgman. 'The Boy fwore you
(aid you ftaid for Colonel Turner : Can you ju-
{tify you werc at home, or in any other Place?
It is a great Sufpicion: The old Gentleman
charged you to be very like the Man; and yon
can give no Account where you were 3 and Zar-
rer and you met together the Day before.

77 Tuaer. T was at Home.
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Ld Mayor. William Turner, when did you fhaye
your Beard laft? o

W.Turner. Before Chriftinas.

Ld Mayor. Who fhaved it for you?

W. Turner. A Barber in Golden- Lane,

Ld Mayor. When his Hair is fhaved off his
Chin, the other Man, whofe Name is Chriftmas,
being a fmooth-chinn’d Man, 1t’s very poffiblc
that might beget the Miftake in Mr. Tryon.

LA Ch. Juft. Hyde. You of the Jury, it is high
time to let you go together to confider your Ver-
di€t: We will trouble you no more in this Bp-
fincfs to-day. Here is an Inditment againft
Fames Turnery Fobn Turner, and Williom Torier,
for a Burglary in breaking the Houfe of
Mr. Francis Tryon, in the Night-time, and t-
king away a great deal of Money and Jewels;
you have heard it particalarly named. It is like.
wife charged, That Mary and Ely knowing of
fobn to have committed this Felony and Burgla.
1y, did comfort and abet him afterwards. I {hall
{peak to them two firlt: Aary, the Wife of
Fames Turnery though it appears all along tha
{he had a Haud in this Bufinefs, yet nothing ap-
pears at all but doing only that which her Hus-
band had direfted ; then by Law fhe cannot be
Acceflary for committing of Felony. For EJy,
the other Acceffary, I did not obferve in the
whole courfe of the Evidence, any thing at all
againft him, that he was privy to any thing at
all; for that of the carrying of the Money, it
appears to be fobn: For them two, Mary and
Ely, nothing i1s faften’d upon them. Then the
Matter is to Fames, Fobu, and Williaiz Tarzei:
I hope, and I am fure you are nearer, and you
take Notes of what hath been delivered: I have
not your Memorics ; you are young, and no Per-
{fons better 5 you are Men of Underftanding, I
need not repeat Particulars to you. Thus much
I muft fay in general, That it 1s not always ne-
ceflary : But for that I fhall defire my Lord
Bridgmai to declare it to you. A Man may be
guilty of a Burglary, tho® he be nor in the Place,
in the Room where it was committed : Or thus,
If three or four Men come together with Pur-
pofe to rob a Houfe; two go in and do the Feat,
and the reft ftay without, to {ce no body comes
to prevent, or to receive, one or other coming
to that purpofe; thofe that are without the
Houfe are as guilty of the Burglary, as the o-
ther that went in, No Man will deny the Law
to be fo. Then weigh your Evidence: It ap-
pears by the Coachman that he faw four Men,
that had Handkerchicfs about their Necks; two
upon one fide, the other two upon the other
fide of the Door, Though there were but two
appeared to Mr. Tiyon, yet there being four it
Company, and Mr. Zarrer himlelf tells ye, that
by the Story from his Intelligence there were
three or four, Whom they were, or whether
there was any or no, God knows; but rather
fuppofe it to be a Story of his own framing:
He walk’d up and down on Zowesr-Hill, took
the Thief by the Throat, and there kept him
about two Hours, and paft Four o’clock before
they brought the fecond Bags. Then weigh that
particular Knowledge that Mr. Zuser had of all
thefe Things: That upon Wednefday before he
met with this Ziliaim Turaery aPerfon you fee,-
of what Quality I fhall not repeat, he cannot
give account of himfelf what he is3 and that
Night, when this Robbery was committed, he

, e 1 fays
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fays he was at home 3 they are hisown Words:
He might have had Witnefs to have proved this
as well as Mr. Turner. But for Fames Turner,
it's true it appears, and no doubt he was thqt
Night at home: The Conitable went to his
Houfe upon the occafionof Ziyon's Man’s faying
he fupp’d there, went to find whether he {fupp'd
‘heres that was indecd falfe: But the Conftable
.nd thole that went there, found them a-bed.
But then take the time when this Robbery was
done: It was between Eight and Nine, and he
was found in bed at paft Ten, tho’ indeed the
Thieves faid it was Eleven, as you might under-
ftand by Mr. Ziyen: It muft be left to you upon
the Proof. You fee when he comes the next
Day, he undertakes to find out the Thieves, and
that only upon a Sufpicion; that there being a
Purpofe to rob Mr. Zyyon 2 Year before, he goes
ro the fame Place now, he found 27ild out then ;
He had very good Luck; that becaufe he Jodg-
«d there a Year before, he muft have the fame
Lodging now: It’'sa likely matter that Thieves,
as /71l 15, fhould keep their Lodgings thus con-
ftantly. There he finds him, takes him by the
‘Chroat, and there they were playing a while:
There one comes, goes, and brings fome part
of the Money. After all this, the next Day he
muft take his Word to come again, and to bring
the Jewels. Obferve but this: After which
time as the Money was received, yet by a Token,
though he never faw the Woman before, de-
fcribing her a fhort fat Woman, with a long
black Scarf, he muft meet her, asked her what
fhe wanted, and muft give her Jewels of that
Value: 'Tis onc of the finelt fram’d Stoties that
I have heard, that this Man {hould come to be
thus privy after himfelf ftood charged, and the
Jewels brought for all this; and yet he muft
know nothing of it. You obferve the Evi-
dences, and their Circumftances themfelves:
The Witnefles he called in point of Reputation,
that [ mult leave to you. I have been here many
a fair Time: Few Men that come to be que-
{tioned, but fhall have fome come and fay, He
is 2 very honeft Manj I never knew any Hurt
by him: Butis this any thing againft the Evi-
dence of the Fact? But you have here the
whole; I {hall leave it to you.

Ld.Ch. Jult. Bridginan. Gentlemen of the Jury,
my Lord hath repeated to you the Lvidence: [
fhall rcpeat nothing of that; only one or two
Things I (hall obferve to you,  Firft, In point
of Law: And I mult agrec in Opinion with
what my Lord fays. But in this Cafe there will
be fomething more confidered; that i1s, Whe-
ther or no (for this is the Law) if a Man have
a falic Key, (weare now uponthe point of Law)
and we ought to be of Counfel with him and
you, to direct that which is right: If he appear
plamly to be an Acceffary, you muft find him
guilty of this Indiétment: For that you muft
confider Circumftances, whether he broke open
the Houle or no. Then you muft obferve Mr.
Tiye’s Door was fhut ; it was not broke open
by a Crow: Theretore you may conclude that
it 1s very probable they had a Picklock: But
Ih;lt I muft leave to you. Either thc}r muﬂ;
come 1n by one being in the Houfe, or by a
Picklock. But to fd}" by One n ‘that ;Houfe, you
have no Reafon to prefume on that: If by a
Picklock, whofoever they were, they muft be

nown, not Strangers to the Houfe: Not #jl-
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liam Turner nlong, but he that knew the Houfe,
and all the Paffages and Doors ; ‘knew where'the
Keys and Jewels were.  Then ‘who probably
fhould be in the Houfe? It was not for a Stran-
ger to bein the Houfe, only one that muft know
all. ¥ that Fames Turuer Thall appear to youto
have a Hand in ir, ifyou think he was Accellary,
you muil find him guilcy as Principal. = '

Col. Turrer. God forbid.

Ld Ch. Juft, Bridgman. If he were amongft
them, if the Door be opened by a Picklock, it
is 2 direct Burglary, as if broke openby an Iron
Bar: But that muit be left to you. Inthe next
place, to prove the Burglary, you fee what a
Story he tells you, with all the Circumftances,
as if he had been there: He tells you from this
#Vild (if there be any fuch, you muft take it up-
on his Word) how the Man’s Tooth came out,
what he meant to do with the other Perfons,
and all other Things about that Affair. Obferve
another Thing of Sir Themas Chamberiain : Says
he, We fufpected him from the firft: We could
not examine any but he would be thrufting in,
and liftening. I fay, admic that you fheuld be
by the Lvidence perfuaded he had a hand in the
Bufinefs, you muit find him a Principal : For no-
thing in the World more ordinary, if 2 Manin-
tend to commit {uch a Felony or Burglary, he
will be fure to have Witnefs to prove he was
here, or in {uch a Place, at the Time when thic
Robbery was committed. . By all that I can
guefs, and I believe that I guefs right, this Rob-
bery was between Eight and Nine o'clock at
Night. When the Conftable came to Mr. Zur-
ner, no doubt, as it was his wifeft Way, he was
then in bed; but can prove nothing at all elfe.
The Truth 15, upon all that he hath faid him-
{clf, 1f 1t be true as he hath faid, he hath made
himfclf adireét Acceflary to a Felonv : For firft
of all, being examined before a Juftice of Peace,
Siv Thomas Aleyn, he faid himfelf chat the Money
he carried, was the Money he had of a Gold-
fmith: Truly his whole Story is a direét Ro-
mance. KThis Man muft go upon the Friday
Night, about Eleven or Twelve o’clock: And
there is a Proverb of @ Blind-Man's carching a
Hares if it can be applicable to any thing, it
muft be to this. He muft go between Eleven
and Twelve o’clock at Night without a Lant-
horn, & good way above his own Houfe, and
there he muft walk and think fome Mephiffophi-
{us {hould come and tell him who is the Man:
That he fhould take him by the Throat, though
he could call two more with one Whiftle, and
there get him to deliver the M..ney: Truly he
was a very noble and ingenious Thief. But all
this you muit take upon his own Word, Now
he knows the Money was difcovered, then it
was 2 Merchant’s that bad failed, and muft be
{ecured for the Ufe of his Wifeand Children. If
you do believe ali this that he hath faid, he was
neither Principal nor Acceflary to this Felony,
but Acceflary enough to #i/d; but that’s not
the prefent Bufinefs. It is whether upon ail
having been
found with them, he being the Man that brought
the Moncy, and his Wife the Jewels, whether
you do believe the reft of the Story he hath
made for himfelf? If you believe he had ahand
in the Bufinefs, you muft find him as Principal.
I fhall defire a-little further Direétion: Suppofe
it were as he fays, That one was withip, and he
opens
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opens the Door, and lets in others, if himfelf
was one that did come in, I take it to be Bur-
glary in them all; it was an unlawful coming 1n.
So that upon all thefe Circumftances, firft, whe-
ther you do believe that he had a hand 1 ity or
no, or this fine Story that is made ; next, whether
you do believe this was one that was there; you
muft believe him guilty as Principal. But 1 leave
it to you. |

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. To the laft I fay, if one
comes in by Day, with a purpofe before-hand
to rob the Houfe by Night, if he opens the
Door, which is almoft impoflible here, becaufe
the Man f{wears it was double-lock’d, it muft
be opened with a Key; if he opened the Door,
and the reft come in and rob him, thatis Bur-
glary in them all. _

Thereupon the Jury withdrew; and after
near an Hour’s Confultion, they returned to
the Court, and took their Pliaces: Their Names
being called, they {everally anfwered.

Cl of the Peace. Arc ye all agreed of your
Verdiét?

Fury. Yes.

Clerk. Who fhall fpeak for you?

Yury. Foreman.

Clerk. Set Fawmes Turier to the Bar.  Look
upon him: How fay you? Is he guilty of the
Felony and Burglary whereof he {ftands indicted,
or Not Guilty ¢

Foreinan. Guilty,

Foln Turnery FVilliam Tuviers Mary Turneiyand
Ely Turier, were by the faid Jury {everally ac-
quitted.

Fanuary the 1oth.

In the Morning the fatd #7illiain Turner was
again arraigned and indiéted for the felonious
ftealing of 45/ of the Moneys of #illiam Hill,
Servant to the {aid Mr. Ziyeny and f{tolen in the
faid Robbery of Mr. Zéyoi; bur the Trial there-
of was deferred uill the next Seffions.

Afterwards, fome of the Jufticesof the Bench
having reccived Intimatien that Lodgings were

lately taken in Duke’s- Place by the fiid Col.
Turiery William Turier, and others, for the car-
rying on of the aforefaid Robbery; the faid Col.
Tuisicy and Hilliaw Tuiner were {everally exa-
mined by that worthy Gentleman Sir Thowas

Aleyn, who with great piudence had managed

this Affair, who preffed feveral Quettions to the
{aid Prifoners; who finding their faid Defign
fully dilcovered, declared as followeth :

The Examination and Confefion of Colonel
James Turner and William Turner, #wo
of the Perfons in the Robbery of Mr.
Tryon, faken by Sir Thomas Aleyn
Knight and Baronct, in the Prefence of
the Right Homourable Sor Anthony Bate-
man Knight, Lord Mayor of the City of
London, S:r Richard Brown Knight and
Baronet, Sir John Robinfon Kwuight and
Baronet, Sir Rich. Ford and Sir Rich.
Rives, Kumghts, Sheriffs of the City of
London, 7he 19th of Jan. 1663.

THAT the contriving and fctting of this
Robbery was wholly aéted by Col. Fames

Twrner 5 and that it wasin agitation about Chyig.
as laft, and fhould have been put in execution
a Weck fooner, but that the other Friend,
whom Col. Zuruer brought, was drunk, and one
White, who was one of the Aéors, would not
venture his Life with him: That there were four
Perfons that robbed him, Col. Fames Turuer,
William Turner, White a Sollicitor, and I7hite’s
Friend, whofe Name they knew not: That up-
on Tuurfday the 7th Day of Yaneary inftant,
Col, Fames Tuyner, William Turiery, White, and
the other Perfon, whofe Name they knew not,
met at the Red-Lion in Bifbop(pate-Street, near to
§t. Helew's, about Three of the Clock in the
Afternoon, where they dined: Col. Tuiue;
fetched 2 Neck of Veal from the Cook’s for
their Dinner ; and then they agreed to rob Mr.
Fraucis Tryon (who lives in Lime-Street) that
Night, and went to meet again at the fame
Houfe by Six of the Clock that Evening: Bu
the Room where they were to meet being taken
up, they went over to the Four Stwans, or the
Green Dragon, and there they all ftaid till Eight
of the Clock. Col. Zziner did then aflure then
that the Doors fthould be opened ; for that by his
own Confeflion he had got the Impreflion of the
Key of the Door in Wax, and had another Key
made by it 3 but knew not the Smith that made
the Key. From that Place Col. Zurner carried
them to the new Market in Leadenball, where
they fat upon the Stalls for the fpace of half an
Hour; and then he came unto them, and told
them the Man and Maid were now gone out,
and that now was their Time. Thercupon Col.
Turaer opencd the Door with his Key, and let
them in. Then they went up the Stairs, Col.
Zurier leading the way. He lit a Candle in the
Kirchen, and went up into Mr. Z#yoi’s Cham-
ber, all four of them. Col. x5 went near
the Bed’s-feet, the Curtains being drawn clofe.
White and the other Perfons pur a Cloth into
Mr. Tryon’s Mouth, ftopp’dit, and bound his
Fect and his Hands. Col. Zurzer brought down
the Key of the Warc-houfc and the Counting-
Houfe out of his Pocker, opened the Ware-
Houfe Door and the Counting-Houfe, and took
tne Keys of the Iron Cheft, and took out the
Money and the Jewels. Zilliniz Turner carried
two Wallets with four Bags of Money, as he
conceives; And Col. Turier faid that the faid
William Turner carried four hundred Pounds,and
White carried two Wallets more, fuppoled to be
four Bags of fome hundred Pounds. Col. Turuer
and the other Perfon carried the reft of the Mo-
ney, only Col. Turuer carried away the Jewels
in his two Bags. That /7illian: Tuner did not
fec any Money, but as they faid it was Money.
They did not ftay in Mr. 7750’s Houfe abovean
Hour. Thart they carried all the aforefaid Mo-
ney and Jewels into a Lodging in one Nicholzs
Hickenfoi’'s Houle in Loxfj-Lane in Duke's- Place,
which they hired fome Days before, pretending
it for the Ule of a Mafter of a Ship, his Mate,
Purfer, and Boatfwain. They carried the Mo-
ney in about Ten o’clock at Night: When the
Maid let them in, they blew out the Candle,
carry’d up the Money and Jewels, Zilliam Tuy-
s#er going under the Name of Purfer. Colonel
Turner and William Tuiner came away that
Night, and ieft the Money and the Jewels there.
The next Morning Col. Turuer fetch’d away che
Money and Jewels at five Turns o his own

Houfe.
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oufe. And faith, That Zlliam Turncr was to
have a hundred Pounds of the Money for his
Pains, #/bite and his Friend twenty Pounds a
piece for their Pains, and Colonel Zuruer was to
have the reft.  That Williare Turner knew not
of any of the Jewels, nor Zhite, nonc but Col.
Turner. That after that Night William Turner
never faw Col. Zurner, nor the other Perfons in
the Robbery, till himfelf with Col. Zzruer and
others were arraigned for the Falt at Newgate.
Neither did the {faid #illianm Turner fec any Mo-
ney or Jewels opened 5 neither did he receive one
Penny of the Moneyy ncither was he 1n the
Counting-Houfe of Mr. Z7yon. That neither
Col. Turier’s Wife nor Sons knew of this Rob-
bery; only that they helped him to remove the
Moncy away on Satridey Morning.  That the
Money was in the Houfe on Friday at Nighr,
when the Conftable and Marfbal fearched his
Houfe; but they had hid them.  That Col.
Turner being asked where the Jewels were on
Saturday Morning, faid, He did deliver them at
Six of the Clock to /#bite in both the Bags.
That the Carcanet of Rubies were not in thole
Bags. That Col. Turuer, in the conclufion,
confefled, That he had not done that he did,
but that he did lately underftand that another
Perfon was made Executor, and that he was re-
{olved to have fomewhat,

After Colonel Zuraes’s Examination, Sir Z/ho-
aas Aleyn told Colonel Turwery that the firft part
of Repentance was Confeflion, the fccond Re-
{Htation 3 and he being a conviét Perfon, and in
all probability not likely to continuc long in this
World, it were much better for him to reftore
what was another Man’s, than to think to enrich
his Wifc and Children, by leaving them that
which he knew was none of his; and that onc
Penny of his own Eftatc left them, would con-
tinue longer with them than a Pound of another
Body’s: and thereupon he was prefled to reftore
My. Tryois the reft of  his Money, and the Car-
canet of Rubics and Diamonds yet "in his Cu-
ftody. This had fuch a prefent Influence upon
Myr. Terner, that he faid he would immediately
go and ferch the Carcanet; which heaccording-
Iy did, and delivered the fame into the hands of
Sir Richard Rives, one of the Sheriffs,

Januavy tg, iz the Evening.

Clev. Set Fames Turaer to the Bary Fanmes Tuy-
aer, hold up thy Hand: Thou ftandeft here con-
victed of Felony and Burglary, for the felonious

Jfor Felony and Burglary.
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ftealing of the Goods and Money of Fizicis
Tryon 5 what canft thou fay, why the Court

fhould not give chee Judgment to die according
to Law?

Col. Zurner. My Lord, 1 humbly defire your
Honour, and the Honourable Bench, you would
be plealed to grant me a Reprieve.

J. Howel. That we cannot do; the Court muft
give Judgment upon you: If you can by any
means prevall with his Magefty to do it, you
may uic your Intercft; but the Cotrt cannot do
it.

Col. Turuer. I defire your Honours I may be
tranfported.

J. Howel. That likewife is in the power of his
Majefty: That he may do, if he pleafe. It is
not in the power of the Court: We have no-
thing to do but to give Judgment.

Col. Zoraer. You do it with others,

J. Howel. No, not inthis Cafe of Burglarys
but leave that to his Majefty’s mere Mercy and
Grace.

Col. Turner. My Lordy 1 {hall humbly defire
that my Wile and the two Youths may be dif-
charged.

J. Howel. Sheisfound Not Gui'ty; and therc-
forc {he fhall have her Acquittal upon the Dil-
charge of the Goal. Thofe that are acquirted,

they muft be dilcharged, if the Court do not fee
Caufe for their further Detention.

Col. Turwmer. 1 pray the young Man and my
Wife may be difcharged.

J. Howel. W holoever are found not Guilty,
muft have theirr Difcharge according to Law.

Col. Zurner. My Lord, 1 hope the Bench is
fatisfied about the young Man.

J. Hozwel. Say no more.

Col. Zurner. Your Honour’s humble Servant.

Clerk. Set Fames Turner to the Bar. ‘

J. Howel. 1 muit pronounce the Judoment of
the Court, which is, That you go to the Place frouz
whence yor canrey and [o to that Place of Execttion
which fball be appotuted to you by Aduthority, there

to be hanged by the Neck till you be dead s and the
Lord bave Mercy on your Soul.

Accordingly the faid Col. Fames Turner was
drawn in a Cart from Newgate to Lime-Sireet-
End in Leadenball-Sreery the 2ut of Faunuaiy,

and was there executed on a Gibbet erefted for
that purpolfe.

See bis Speechy and Deportmenty in State Trials,
Yol. VIIL p. 375—370.
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ILXV. The Trials of Joun TwyN * Prmter, for High-

Treafon; of THoMAs BREWSTER Bookfeller, Simon
DovER + Printer, NATHAN BrRooKS Bookbinder, for
Mifdemeanours; ar the Old-Baily, the 20th and 224 of

February 1662 16 Car. 1l

vt IVE feveral Indi@ments being drawn
Xk up, viz. one of High-Trealon, a-
& oainft Fobs Twys Printer; and the
== other four for Sedition, viz. twoa-
Jei gainft Thomas Brewfler Bookieller,
one againft Simon Dover Printer, and onc againft
Nathan Brooks Bookbinder; were prefented to
' the Grand Inquelt in Londoiry at the Seflions of
Goal-Delivery of Newgate, holden at Fuflice-

Hall in the Old-Baily, the 19th Day of Fediuary
1663. Except that againft Brooks, which was

found the Day following, by the fame Inquett.
And after divers Witnefles were {worn and exa-

min'd before the faid Grand Inqueft, the faid
Bills of Indictment were feverally returned Billa

Vera.

The Names of the faid Grand Inqueft being
as followeth, viz.

Arthur Jourdainy — Roger Hart,
Arthur Browne, — Fobn W atfon,
Stimon Roge: s, Chriftopher Pits,

Thewmas Gerraid,
Fobir Cropper,
Thowmas Partingtoi,

Yames W hethait,
Ralplh Blore,
Ifaac Baitoi,

Roger Locke, Ralplh Coppingery
Thomas Coopei'y Masthew Pelazer.
Samuel Taylor,

At Juftice-Hall in the Old-Baily, Feb. 20,
112 the Morning.

HE Court being fer, Proclamation was

made: ¢ O Yes! All manner of Perfons
¢ that have any thing more to do at this Sef-
¢ fions of the Peace, and Seflions of Oyer and
¢ Terminer, held for the City of London, and
¢ Seffions of Goal-Delivery holden for the City
¢ of Londoiz and County of Middlefes ; draw near
¢ and give your Atrendance, for now the Court

¢ will procced to the Pleas of the Crown of the
¢ faid City and County.’
God fave 1he King.

Silence commanded.
Clerk of the Peace. Set Fohu Twyn to the Bar:

Capho was fet there accordingly.] Fobin Twyiny hold
up thy Hand.

* Kelyng's Reports, 22.

Tawyn. 1 defire tounderftand the meaning of it.
[ But being told he muft bold up bis Hand iun order
10 bis Trialy be beld it up.]

Clerky &c. ¢ Thou ftandeft indifted in Loitdos
¢ by the Name of Fobu Twyn, late of Loudon
¢ Stationer, for that theu as a falfe Traitor a-
¢ gainit the moft Illuftrious Charles the Second,
¢ by the Grace of God, of Eugland, Scotland,
¢ France, and Jreland, King, Defender of the
¢ Faith, ¢ge. thy fupreme and natural Lord and
¢ Sovereign not having the Fear of Godin
¢ thine Heart, nor weighing the Duty of thy
Allegiance, but being moved and feduced by
the Inftigation of the Devil; and the cordial
Love, true Duty, and natural Obedicnce,
which true and faithful Subjets towards our
Sovereign Lord the King bear, and of right
ought to bear, altogether withdrawing ; mind-
ing and with all thy force intending the Peace
and commen Tranquillity of this Kingdom to
difturb; and Sedition and Rebellion within
thefe his Majefty’s Kingdoms to move, ftir up,
and procure; and Dilcord between our faid
Sovercign and his Subjeéts to make and move;
the 27th Day of Odobery in the Year of the
Reign of our faid Sovereign Lord Chailes the
Second, by the Grace of God, & the 1yth,
at the Parifh of St. Bartholomess, in the Ward
of Farringdonn withouty London, aforefaid, trai-
toroufly didft compofe, imagine, and intend
the Death and final Deftruction of our faid
Sovereign Lord the King,and the Antientand
Regal Government of England to change and
fubvert; and our faid Sovereign Lord the
King of his Crown and Regal Governmentto
depole and deprive. And thele thy moft wic-
ked Treafons and traitorous Imaginations to
fulfil, thou the faid Fobn Tawyn, the faid 27th
Day of Ottober, 1n the Year atorefaid, in the
Parifh and Ward aforefaid, advifedly, devilifh~
ly, and malicioufly did&t declare, by imprint-
ing a certain Scditious, Poifonous, and Scan-
dalous Book, Entitled, A Zreatifc of the Exe-
cution of fuflice, &c,——In which {aid Book,
among{t other things, thou the faid Fobn Twyi,
the 27th Day of Odober,y in the Year afore-
faid, in the Parith and Ward aforefaid, falfly,
malicioufly, and traitoroufly didft imprint, .
— again{t the Duty of thy Allegiance, and

¢ the

ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁl\ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁl"ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ

1 Ibid. 23.
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¢ the Stactute in that cafe made aqd provided ;
< and againft the Peace of our faid Sovercign
¢ T.ord the King, his Crown and Dignity.’

W hat fay’ft thou, Fobu Teyn, art thou Guilty
of this High~Trealon whereof thou ftandeft in-
digted, or Not Guilty ?

Twoyn. 1 defire leave to fpeak 2 few words :
My Lord, I am avery poor Man; I have been
in Prifon feveral Months

Clerk. Are you Guilcy, or Not Guilty ?

Tayn. With all due Submiflion to your Ho-
nours, 1 defire to fpeak a few words————

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You muft firlt plead to
vour [ndiétment, and then you may fay what
you will 5 that’s the Rule of the Law. We re-
ceive no Expoftulations till you have pleaded to
the Indi¢tment, Guilty or Not Guilty.

Twyn. 1do not intend to anfwer to the Indict-
ment, by what I thall now fay; I am a poor
Man, have a Family and three {mall Children,
I am ignorant of the Law, and have been kept
Prifoner divers Months———

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. Pray plead to the Indi&-
ment; you fhall be heard, fay what you will
afterwards.

Z7yya. 1 humbly thank you, my Lord.

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guiley ?

Ty, 1 befeech you to allow me Counfel,
and fome Confideration ; [ defire it with all Sub-
miflion.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You muft plead firft; then
ask what you will.

Clerk. Are you Guilty, or Not Guilty ?

Twyn. Not Guilty of thofe Crimes.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. God forbid you fhould.

Clerk. How wilt thou be try'd ?

for High-Treafon.

vice of God, to bring

..
we are bound to be of Counfel with you, in
point of Law; thatis, the Court, my Brethren

and my felf, are to fee that you fuffér riothing
for your want of Knowledge in Matter of Law
1 fay, we are to be of Counfel with you. Bug
for this horrid Crime, (I will hope in Charity
you arenot Guilty of it, but if you are) it is the

moft abominable and barbarous Treafon thatever

1 heard of, orany Man elfe: The very Title of
the Book (if there werc no more) is as perfeétly

T'reafon as poflibly can be. The whole Book

through, all that is read in the Indi@ment, net
one Sentence, but is as abfolute High-Treafon
as ever 1 yet heard of. A Company of Mad-
brains, under pretence of the Worfhip and Ser-

. in all Villanies and A-
theilm, (asis feenin that Book.) What a horrid

thing is this! But you fhall have free Liberty of
defending your {elf. To the Matter of Fat,

whether 1t be fo or no: In this Cafe the Law
does not allow you Counfel to plead for you;
but 1n Matter of Law, we are of Counfel for

you, and it fhall be our Care to fee thag you
have no Wrong done you.,

Clerk. Set Simon Dover to the Bar: [ o be-

g fesy his Indictment was read to the purpofe fol-

lowing. ]

Thoun flandeft indicted in London, by the Name
of Simon Dover, late of Loudon Srationer, for

that thou, &c. the 15th Day of Tebr. in the 13th
Year of the Reiginy &c. at the Parifp of St.Leos

nard’s Folter-lane, iz the ZVard of Alderfgate,
London, falfly, malicionfly and wickedly, didft im-

priut & certain falfe, malicious, frandalons aud [e-
ditions Booky intitled, The Speeches and Prayers

TIU}W. I defire to be tl'y’d in the prErCIlCC of of fome of the late King’s]udges, E5c. and the
that God that is the Searchier of all Hearts, and  fame didf fell and wtter, againft the Daty of thy

the Difpoler of all things.

Ld Ch. Jult. £yde. God Almighty is prefent
here; there is no other Trial by the Law of
England, but by God and the Peers, that is the
Country, honeft Men. You thall have all your
Challenges, and all that’s due to you, by the
help of God; we are bound to be your Counfel,
to {ce you have no wrong: thercfore put your-
felf upon your Trial, fay how you will be try’d.
G.‘way;;. I defire to be try’d in the Prefence of

od.

Ld Ch. Jut. Ayde. So you fhall: God Al-
mignty is prefent here, looks down, and beholds
what we do here; and we {hall anfwer feverely,
if we do you any wrong. We are as careful of
our Souls, as you can be of yours. You muft
an{wer in the words of the Law.

Zwyn. By God and the Country.

Clerk. God fend thee a good Deliverance,

Ld Ch. Jult, Hyde. Now fay what you will.

Zaoyn. 1 am a very poor Man.

I.d Ch. Juft: Hyde, Nay, let me interrupt you
thus far : Whatever you fpeak in your Defence,
to acquit youriclf of this Crime, that you may
referve sil by and by, This is but an Arraign-
ment ; afterwards the Evidence for the King is
to be heard, then make your Defence. If you

have any Witnefles on your part, let’s know
their Names, well take care they fhall come in.
If I did not miftake, you defired to have Coun-
fcl; was that your Requeft?

Zayn. Yes.

Ld Chief Juftice Hyde. Then I will tell you,
Vour. I '

Allegiance, &c.  How fayeft chou, Simon Dover,
art thou Guilty of this Sedition and Offence,
whereof thou ftandeft indiéted, or Not Guilty ?

Dozer. My Lord, and the honourable Bench,
I defire I may be heard a few Words

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. When you have pleaded,
you fhall. |

Dover. I thall be willing to plead

Ld Ch.Juft. Ayde. You muft cither confefs
it, or plead Not Guilty. I hope you are Not
Guilty of this foul Crime.

Dovgrr. 1 am not, by the Laws of Eugland,
Guilty.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You fhall be tried by the
Laws of England, whether you are Guilty or no.

Dover. 1 am willing 1o be fo, and I am glad
I am come before you to that purpofe, having
been long a Prifoner : I am Not Guilty of any
thing in this Inditment, neither as to Matter,
Time nor Place,

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. What do you mean by
Time and Place?

Dover. 1 am not guilty in Manucr or Form.
And now, my Lord, I being altogether ignorant
of the Law, I humbly beg Counfel, and a Copy
of my Indi¢tment: I hope I fhall not be de-
ftroyed, becaufe I am ignorant of the Law: I
have been eighteen Weeks clofe Prifoner.

Ld Ch. Juft, Hyde. What would you have?

Dover. 1 defire Time, and Counfel afligned
me, and a Copy of my Indiftment. ‘
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1d Ch.Juft. Hyde. For a Copy of your Indiét-
ment, though it be for a foul Offence, yet (in
favour to you, it being not made fo Capital as
the other ) we cannot deny it you: For Coun-
fel you may have what you willy we need not
affign it. [ Make him 2 Copy,] but I will tell
you, we fhali try 1t now,

Dover. 1 do proteft I knew not what I came
for 3 I never imagined what my Indictment was,
I know not what there’s in’t—

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. You fhall havea Copy
made prefently. If you have Counfel or Wit-
nefles, {end for them; we muft try you to-day;
but you will have fome ume, for we will begm
with the other.

Dover. T beg I may have a Copy of the In-
diétment in Englifb, 1 cannct underitand Latian.

L.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. That that is againft you,
is in Euglifb; the Latiz fignifies no more, but
that you did feditioufly azd malicioufly print all
that which 1s in Euglifh.

Dower. 1 hope 1 have done nothing, but I
{hall acquit my felf of.

Ld Ch. Jult. Zfyde. 1 hope you may ; but we
can give you nothing bur a Copy of the Record :
{end for your own Clerk to underitand ir.

Clerk. Set Thomas Brewfer to the Bar: [/Fbo
qwas fety and thei bis Indictinent was iead, which
Wasy |

That e the faid Thomas Brewfter, latc of Lon-
don, Stationer, not haviygy, &c. [in the Form
aforefaid] the 15th Day of February, (e, at the
Payifp of Little St. Bartholomew’sy in 1he /Fard
of Faringdon without, London, malicicufly, &c.
did caife to be imprinted the aforefaid Book of
Speeches and Prayers, 5. and the fawe did fell
aid uttery againfl the Duty, &c.

Who being demanded, Whether he was guilty
of that Sedition and Offence? anfwered, Not
Gutlty.

Cler. How will you be tried?

Bigwfler. By God and the Country.

Cler:. God {end thee a good Deliverance.

Ld. Ch. Juft. I/;de. Say what you will now.

Biewfler. May it pleale your Lordihip, I
am wholly ignorant of the Proceedings of the
Law; I have been aclofe Prifoner thefe eighteen
Weeks, no body to advife with me, {carce my
Wife fuffered 1o come to me; I defire fome
time to take advice.

Ld Ch. Juit, Hyde. I doubt we fhall not be
able, if you mean till next Sefiions

Brewfier. No, my Lord, I have had too long
Imprifonment already, would I had been here
the firft Seflions aftcr I was a Prifoner.

Ld Ch. Juft. Ayde. If you defire 2 Copy
the Indi€tment and Counfel, you fhall have it.

Brewfler. I humbly thank yous; but I muft
have time to confult them, or they will do me
little good.

14 Ch.Jult. Hyde. If you have any Friends or
Witnefles, you may {end for them.

Brewfler. 1 thank you, my Lord.

of

Clerk. Thomas Brewfter, thou fandeft agasn.
inditted in London by the Name of, &c. for that
thon ot having, &c. the 1oth Day of July, in the
13th Year, &c. at the Parifp of Litutle St. Bar-
tholomew’s, is the ard of Faringdon withour,
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London, &c. falfly, malicionfly, [cardaloufly and
[feditionfly, didft coufe to De imprinted o Book, in-
titled, The Pheenix, or the Solemn League and
Covenant, §§¢,omm—meAdud the faid Book didft fel}
and uttery againft the Duty, &c. How fayeft
thou? Art thou guilty of this Sedition and Of-
fence whereof thou ftandeft indited, or No+

Guiley ?

Brewffer. Not Guilty, my Lord.
Clerk. How will you be tried ?
Brewfier. By God and the Country.

Clerk. Set Nathan Brooks to the Bar.,
Thou flandeft indicted in London &y the Name
of Nathan Brooks, /late of London, Stationer,

not having, &c. [The fame as to Make, Time,
and Place, with that of Dovei’s| and kinowing the

faid Book to be fcandalons aud feditious, did fell,
utter and publifh the fames againft the Daty, &,
How {ayctt thou, Nathau Brooks, art thou Guiley
of this Sedition and Offence whereof thou
ftandeft indicted, or Not guilty?

Biooks. Not Guilty.

Clerk, How will you be tried?

Brovks. By God and the County. ;

Clerk. God {end thee a good Deliverance.

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. 1f you defire to have a
Copy of your Indictment and Counfel, you may
have it,

Brooks. T am a poor Man, I have not Money
to ger Counfel; 1 hope I fhall not want that
that belongs to me by Law, tor want of Money.

Ld Ch. Juft. Ayde. You {hall not, by the
Grace of God.

Clerk. Set Fobn Twyny Sion Dovery Thoinas
Brewfler and Nathan Brooksy to the Bar.

Clerk, Fobn Twyn, thofe Men that you {hall
hear called, and perfonally appear, muft pafs be-
tween our Sovercign Lord the King and you,
upon Trial of your Life and Death 5 1f you will
challenge them or any of them, you muit do ic
when they come to the Book to be {worn, be-
fore they be fworn. And you that are for Sedi-
tions and Offences, look to your Challenges.

Dover. We defire we may have a Jury of
Bookfellers and Printers, they being the Men
that only underftand our Bufinefs.

Ld. Ch. Juft. ifyde. There are thofe already
that underftand it as well as Bookfellers or Prin-
ters; befides, half the Jury are {uch, and they
are able to make the reft underftand it : but you

may challenge whom you will.

The Jury were,
Williain Samborne, — William Hall,
William Rutland, Fobu Williams,
Thomas Houylove, Fames Flefher,
Robert Lucas, Simon I¥aterfoir,
Robert Bewveifham, Samuel Thomfoir
Richard Royfton, Thomas Royeroft.

Who were feverally fworn by the Oath fol-
lowing :

You fball well and truly try, and true Deliverance
make, between onr Sovereign Lord the Kiugy and the
Prifowers at the Bar, whomyou fhall have incharge,

according to your Evidence. So help you God. Z
Al
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Al Four. Weare all fatisfied with the Jury.

Clerk. Crier, make Proclamation. O Yes!
If any onc can inform_my Lords the If:ﬁng’s Juf
vices, the King's Serjeant, or the King's At-
cornev, before this Ineaeit be taken bf:t_wr:cn our
chfcign Lord the Kinz and the Prifoners at
rhe Bar, let them come foreh, and they fhall be
heard 3 for nnw the Prifoners fiand at the Bar
upon therr Deliverance; and all o‘fhcrs thnt'nrc
bound by Recognizance to give Evidence agatntt
any of the Priloners at the Bar, come forth and
give Evidence, or clie you will forfeit your Re-
cournizZance.

Clerk. Fobn Tawyi, hold up thy Hand. You
of the Jury, look upon the Prifoner, and hear-
ken to his Caufe; you fhall underftand that he
ftands indicted in Loxdei by the Name ot Folan
Tayyi, late of Leuden, Stationer: [Here the [i-
dictmeat is vead over again.]  Upon this lndi@-
ment he hath been arraignad, and thereuntohath
pleaded Not Guiltys and for his Trial; hath
put himtelf upon God and the Countiy, which
Country you arc: Your Charge is to enqguire
whether he be guilty of the High-Trealon, in
Manner and Form as he ftands indited, or not
auilty : if you find him guilty, you (hall inquire
what Goods and Charttels, Lands and Tenenients
he had at the ume of committing the {aid Trea-
fon, or at any time {ithence, If you find him nog
guiley, you thall enquire whether he fled for it;
if you find that he fled for it, you fhall mquire
of his Goods and Chattels, Lands and Tene-
ments, as if you had found him guilty: If you
find him - not guilty, nor that he did fly for it,
fay {0, and no more, and hear your Evidence,

Mr., North, Barrifter of the Law. Foba Twyn
ftands here indicted, for that he as a falfe Tral-
tor to the moit Hluftrious Chasles the Second,
(7¢. not having the Fear of God before his Eyes,
nor weighing the Duty of his All=giance, {9,
| {Heie was opeined the Foius of the Iudiftiment.] To
which he hath pleaded Not Guilty 5 if there fhall
be futhcient Evidence given you of the Charge
in the Indictment, you muft do the King and
the Natton that Juftice, as to find him guilty,
that Sentence of Law may pafs on him.

Mr. Serjeant Msiton. May it pleale your
Lordfhips, and you Gentlemen that are {worn
of this Jury, I am of Counfcl with the King a-
gaindt Jobu Twys, the Prifoner here at Bar, who
ftands indifted of a moft horrid and damnable
Treafon ¢ Iv is, the compaffing and inagining the
Death of the King, todiprive bim of bis Crown and
Reyal Governinent, and to alter and change the an-
2ieit Lesal and Fundamental Goveriment of this
Kingdoiiz; which he has endeavoured to do, and
did intend to do, by printing a traitorousand fe-
ditious Book, which in ic feif contains as mary
and as great Treafons, as it was pofiible either
tor the Malice of the Devil, or the corrupt and
treafonable Thoughts of blood-thirity Men to
mvent: It contains Treafons ggaintt the King in
his own Royal Perfon; againft his Government,
both Ecclefiaftical and Civil; full of Trealons,
(ns my Lord Chief Jultice was plealed to obferve
to you) ‘T'rcalons againft the Qu.eny Scandals a-
gainft all manner of Proteflion. both in Church
and Kingdom, of Magiftracy and Miniftry., My
Lord, there are 1n this Inditment thirteen Pa-

ragrapns of that treafonable ook recited ; and
- Vou. L.
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each of them contains as many Treafons as there
be Lines in1t. Nay, my Lord, this treafonable
Book was mntended to fer a Flame in this Na-
tion, to raife and ftir up Rebellion in this King-
dom againit the King and his Governmenr, I
fhall oblerve to your Lordihip the Time when it
was to be printed; it was in the beginning of
Qétober, your Lordthip knows, and 1 do not
doubt burt the Jury have heard, that there was a
great and dangerous Defign in this Nation, fet
on foor by Men of dangerous Principles, to im-
broil this Nation in a new War, for the De-
ftru¢tion of the King and his Government. Io
was exccuted 1n part, as far as Time and other
Circumf{tances would give way and leave to the
Undertakers, (the 1:th of Oceber Ialt ;) and, my
Lerd, 1t was proved upon the Execution of a
Commiftion of Oyer and Terminer at Tork, that
there was a Council here in London, that fat to
prepare Matter for an Univerfal Rebellion all
Englind over. They fent their Agitators into
the Nurth, Weffy all Partsy to give notice to
therr Party to be ready to rife at a certain Time
{:veral Duys were appointed, but it {eems they
could not be ready till that vath of Offsber; for
the feditious Books that were to lead on that
Defign, and the Libels and Declarations could
nat be printed before that Day: and wruly thac
had been printed and publifhed too, if there had
not been great Diligence ufed by the King’s
Agents and Minifters, to take them juft as they
were preparing it.  'This Book, Gentlemen, doth
contain a g-eat deal of Scandal upon the King’s
Government, difperfing falfe and bale Rumours,
to the prejudice of 1t. Itis 2 Rule in my Lord
Gokey, T'hat the difperfing of falfe and evil Ruinouss
againft the King and Governmeity aind Libels t:por
Fuftices of the Kingdoin, they are the Forerit:tics
of Rebellion,

We fhall now go to the Proof: We fhal, preve
that this Prifoner at the Bar, to print ~his Dook,
had two Prefles in one Room; That aehimielf
did work at onc of thofe Prefles, his Servanis at
the other, by his Command, and in his Prefence s
T hat he did compofe part of 1t, print the Sheets,
corre€t the Proofs, and revile them all in his own
Houfe, which werc corrected and brought back
into the Work-houfe by himfelfy in {o thort a
time, that they could nor be carricd abroad to
correét, fo that he muftneeds corre€t them him-
feIf 3 That this Work was done in the Night-
time, (and itwas proper, it was a Deed of great
Darknefs, and not fit indeed to {ec the Light;
and it was well it was ftrangled in the Birth, or
elfe, for ought I know, we might by this time
have beea wallowing in our Blood.) We fhall
make it appear, that this Man, when Mr. L' E-
flrange came to {carch his Houle,brake the Forms,
conveyed away as many of the Sheets as he could
from the Prefs to other Places ; yct norwith{tand-
ing, God’s Providence was {o great in the
Thing, that he left there three or four Shects,
which Mr. L’ Effrange then feized on, and many
more within a little time after : And fomewhar.
of the fame Matter rcmained upon part of z

Form of Letter, which his haftle would not
give him leave to break. When he was charg’d

with it by Mr. L’ Effrange, be confelled that he
had printed fome Sheets ot this feditious Bonk ;
and being demanded by Mr. L’ Effrange, W hat
he thought of it? Fle told him, He thought 2
wwas mettlefoize Stzff : he had great Joy init; he

Yyy 2 cop-
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confeled he had received Money for printing of
this; and much other Matter, taken upon Exa-
minatton before Mr. Secretary, We fhall call our
Witnelfes; I fhould have oblerved to you, That
this Man would bave it done with all the pri-
vacy that could be, and to be done forthwitl:
there was great hafte of 1ty about the beginning
of O¢fober, and the Defign in the North was
upon the 12th; {o that it was clearly intended

for that Defign.

Several Witnefles were {worn.

Fofeph Walker. My Lord, whereas my Malfter
15 indicted for printing this Book

1.d Hyde. Your Malter! who is your Malter 2

falker. He at the Bar.

Ld Hyde. What {ay you of it?

[Valker. 1 defire to fee the Booky [t awas
foewed bim.] About the tour firft Pages of this
Treatile 1 compofed.

Ii__.d.def. Who delivered it to you to com-
pole?

Waller. My Mafter delivered the Copy to me.
L.d Hyde. W hat do you mean by compofing ?
/¥ alker. Sctting the Letters.

Ld. Hyde. Well, and you fet the Letters to
print according to the Copy; and you had it of
your Mafter, had you ?

M alker. Yesymy Lord ; but all this Copy we
did not print.

[Pait of 1ie Copy in Masufeript being [hesved
bim, be [aidy, He compofed by that Copy.]
Serjeant Mosron. Fow much did you pring?

TV alker. About three Sheets.

Ser]. Morton. How many of thofe did your
Mafter compofe ?

Malker. Truiy, Sir, I cannot tell.

Ld. Hyde. Did he compofe one?

Walker. As to a whole one, I cannot fay,

* M. Ser- My, Recorder. * Did he compofe

jeant Wilde, the Tltlﬁ?

MW alker. Here is no Title?

M. Recorder. No ? read the top.

Walker. A Treatife of the Execution, 7.
| He reads the Title. ]

M. Resorder. Did your Mafter compofe that ?

Walker. No, 1 did.

Ld Ayde. Did your Mafter give you that to
compofe ?

I alker. Yes.

Serj. Morton. Who compofed the fecond,
third and fourth Sheet ?

TValker. 1 compofed fome of them, but to
particulariz€, 1 cannot,

Ld. Hyde. Who gave you what you did ?

TValker. My Mafter.

Ld. Hyde. Can you turn to any part of that
you did compole ?

HWalker. I cannot tell that,

Ld Hyde. Youcompoled, you fay, four Pages:
there arc ‘eight in a Sheet: who compofed the
other of the {fame Sheet?

Valker. 1 think my Mafter did.

Ld Hyde. At'the fame Time, and in the {ame
Room with you?

/17alker. He wrought not in the fame Room.

Ld Hyde. After you had ftamp’d the Sheer,
who did perufe and over-read it, to feeif it'were
r1ght ¢

fVulker. T carried them into the Kitchen, and
]&id them down upon che Dreffer by my Ma-

er,
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Ld. Hyde. Who compared them ?

7l alker. T know not.

I.d Eyge. W ho brought them back to you ?

Talker. My Malter brought them into tjje
Work-houfe, and laid them down,

Ld ffyde. Was there any body in the Hoyfe
that might correct 1t?

HWalker. Not that I faw.

Ld /fyde. When you had carried a Sheer
dmvn; how long was it ere it was brought bacj,
RTAIN |

lf-f’ér/.(*er. About an Hour, or an Hour andp
half.

Ld Hyde. Was there any Body in the Houfe
befides you and your Mafter?

/Valker. There was my Fellow-Apprentjce
and the Woman that keeps the Houfe. 3
Ld Hyde. Were there no Strangers there ?

[alker. No, my Lord.

Mi. Recorder. Were they printed in yopr
Mafter’'s Houfe?

Halker. Yes.

Serj. Mortoin. \What Room ?

Halker. In the Prefs-Room.

Scry. Morton. Did your Mafter work at the
Prefs about this Work any part of the time ?

falker. Yer, Ifaw him beat fome Sheers.

Ld Hyde. When you had printed one Sheer,
wcre there not fome Miftakes of the Letters to
be mended ?

[ alker, Yes, there were Literals.

1d fyde. Who made the Amendment ?

falker. Upon my Oath 1 cannot tell.

1.d Hyde. Do you believe it to be your Ma-
fler'’s ?

/Valter. I cannot tell that,

Ld Hyde. Have you feen your Mafter write
heretofore?

[Valker. 1 have {een him write, but becaufe I
have heard of them that could counterfeir Mens
Hands, I dare not fwear it was his Writing,

Ld Hyde. Were the Amendments that were
brought back, like his Hand?

Malker. The Letters were fomething like
them, but I cannot fwear pofitively that they
were his,

Ld Hyde. No, that you cannot, unle(s you
faw him write them; but was it like his Hand ?
I alker. 1t was not much unlike his Hand.

Mr. Recorder. Did not your Mafler ufeto cor-
rect other Works before this?

Halker. Yes.

M. Recorder. 'Then by the Oath thar you have
taken, were not the Correftions of this Book
like thole of other Corrections by his own
Hand ?

Hoalker. T know not that.

Mr. Recorder. Ihd any body correét Books in
your Houle but your Mufter 2

W alker. No, Sir,

Setj. Morton. Did you fee vour Maller with
Copy?

Walker. Ycs, he had Copy before him.

ser]. Morton. What time was this printed?
by Night or by Day?

[ alker. In the Night-time,

Sery. Morton. W hat DiveCtions did vour Mafter
give you about printing it; did he dircét any
Privacy?

/¥ alker. He was not much defirous of that.

M. Recorder, At what time did you work a-

bout it ?
Walker.
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1 alker. In the Motning, from two till four
or five. _ _

Seri. Mortom. Pray, Sir, thus; were you in
the Houfe when Mr. L’ Lffrange came up ?

Walker. Y es.

Serj. Morton. Werc you at
fore ¢ _

1alker: Not when he was above, but imme-
Jiately before 1 was.

My. Recorder. You are not bound to conceal
Treafon, though you art bound ro keep your
Malter’s Secrets.

Serj. Morton. W hat were you then at work
upon ¢ |

Walker. Upon the Signature D, the Sheet D
of this T'reatife,

Serj. Morton. W hat did your Mafter {ay, when
you rold him Mr. L’ Efirange was below?

Halker. Very few words; 1 cannot be pofi-
tive in them.

Serj. Morton. To what purpofe were they ?

IWalker. Hearing fome body knock at the
Door, 1 went down into the Compofing-Room,
and looked through the Window, and faw
Penple 5 [ imagined Mr. L’ Efirange was there,
and 1 told my Mafter: whereupon he faid, He
wwas undoney or to that eftect.

M. Recorder. Did he not wifh you to make
hafte in compofing it?

J¥alker. No, he did not.

My, Recorder. Bow long had youbeenat work
upon it ? how many Diys?

Walker. 1 cannot tell juftly.

My. Recorder. You can guefs.

Walkér. About three or four Days.

M. Recorder. Did not your Mafter work 1n
that time ?

Walter. He was in the Work-houfe, and did
(et Letrers,

M. Recovder. Did henotlikewife print 2

Walker. Yesy he did.

Serj. Morten. Did not you, by his Direction,
break the Form when Mr. L’ Effrange came to
{carch ?

#alker. 1 brake one indeed.

Serj. Mor¢on. W hat became of the other ?

Walker. My Fellow-Apprentice brake It.

Serj. Moston. By whofe Direction ?

IWalker. 1 had no order for ity I brought it
down, and went to fet againft a Polt, and it fell
i1 plcces.

Serj. Morton. Did you ask your Mafter who
dclivered him this Copy to print

Walker. 1 didask him two {everal times; but
he made no Anfwer.

Ld Hyde. Did be not {ayy, He wonld anot tell
yo% 3 orthat 7 was »o matier to you 3 nor nothing ?

[Valker, Yes, he did aftewards fay, [t avas
210 watter 1o iue.

Mr. Recorder. Did not your Malter nor Fel-
low-Apprentice tell you who brought the
Copy ¢

I&;?M'E’I'. Ng_ ‘

M. Recordey, And did not you know ?

Halker. No.

Serj. Morton. Was he not ufed to tell youthe
Authors of Books that you printed?

Walker. The Authors he did not; but for
whom they weve printed he uled to tell me,
My Lord, I bumbly beg pardon for what I did,
1 was his Apprentice.

1d Hyde. How many Sheets did you Pring ?

work then or be-
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Valker. 'I'wo Reams ona Sheet, which makes
a Thoufand.

Ld Hyde. The firft Page, being the Title of
it, your Mafter brought to you to compofc; at
the fame time when you were compofing one
part, your Malter was compofing another part
of the lame Sheet in the next Room ; and
part of it your Mafter did print as well as com-
pofe : I think you faid this?

Walker. Yes.

I.d Hyde. Likewile that the Proofs were car-
ricd to him to overlook, and he brought them
back withtn an Hour, or an Hour an half after,
and lud them down in the Work-houfe ; and
that you {aw the Hand of the Amendments, but
you cannot {wear it was his, only you fay that
it was not unlike ic; and that he had corveéted
former Sheets that you had prinred, and that
the Hand with which he correfted others, and

this, was alike: and that there was no Stranger
in the Houfe to corre& it ?

Halter. Not thar | {aw.
Ld Hyde. This is the Subftance of what you
faid ?

Walker, Yes.

Mi. Recerder. Did your other Man, or you,
ever correét ?

[¥alker. No.

Mr. Recorder, Did he ule other Corredtors at
Any time ?

Halker. Yes, about fome Books.

My Recorder. What Books ?

IValker. Hookcr's Ecclefiaffical Polity.

Ld fyde. You did rife to work at Two of
the clock in the Morning about it; and your
Mafter faid when you told him Mr. L’Effrange
was below, that he was undone ?

[ alker, It was fo, my Lord.

Mr. North, Mr. L’ Effraunge, pray tell my Lord
and the Jury of your taking this.

Mr. L’Effraize. My Lord, I do remember
that three or four Days, or thereabouts, beture
the r2th of Ofteber lafty I had notice of a Prefs
that had becn at work for feveral Nights in
Cloth- Fairy and employed a Perfon to watch the
Houle; who told mc thar they ftill gave over
early in the Morning, at Day-light, or {oon af-
ter. Atlength Intclligence was brought me in
thefe very Words, That sow they were at it as
hard as they coeuld drive, (which was abour Four
in the Morning.) I arofe, went to one of the
King’s Meffengers, and defired bim to take a

Printer by the way ; who did {o : and I called
up a Conltable, and fo went o Twyn’s Houlc,

where we heard them at Work, 1 knocked a

matter of 4 quarter of an Hour, and they would
not open the Door; fo that I was fain to fend
for a Smith to force ity but they perceiving
that, opened the Door, and let us in. There
was a Light when we came; but before the
Door was opened, it was pur out. When 1
was got up Stairs, and 2 Candlelighted, Ifound
a Form broken, {that is, the Letters difperfed)
only onc Corver of it ftanding entive; which was
compared by a Printer that was therey with a
Corner of a Page newly printed, and appear’d
ro be the fame.  This Form was brought down
out of the Prefs-Room into the Compofing-
Room. As vet we could net find the whele
Imprefliotr 5 but at laft they were tound thrown
down a Pair of Back-Stairs. 1 remember they
told me the [mpicifion was a Thoufand, Iasked

him



534

him where he had the Copy ? He told me, /e
kitewy wot 3 it was bronght to biin by an uniiowi
Hand. T told him he muft give an account of
it.” He told me at the lafty He bad it from Cal-
vert’s Maid. 1 asked him where the Copy was ¢
He told me, Iz could not tefl. (When 1 {peak
of the Copy, I mean the Manulcript.) We
fearched near two Fours, and could not findit:
And at length went thence to the Conftable’s
Houfe in Smithfeld, ard ftaid therea while with
the Prifoner. 1 asked him, Mr. 7Zzyn, fud I,
who correéted this Sheet? Alas, {aid he, [have
no Skill in fuch things. Who revifed 1t then?
Who fitred it for the Piets? Zruly I had 50 Lody
bat my [elf 5 [vexd it ¢ver. What thought you
upon 1eading iv? Methought it was mettlefeine
Staff » The Mai was a bot fiery Man that wrote
it, But he knew no Hurt 1o it.

Serjeant Aorton. When you had taken thefe
Sheets, were they wet, ornot?

Mr. L' Eflraice. They were not only wet, but
half of them were imperfeét, printed only on
once fide. DMlifling the Copy, I told him after
ke was carried to /Phitehally Mr. Tavyn (taid 1)
it may poflibly do you fome good yet, te bring
forth the Copy : If you will be fo ingenuous to
produce the Copy, and difcover the Author, you
may find Mercy for yourfelt; pray thercfore get
this Copy : Perchance I may make fome ulc of
it, Afrer thar, his Servant Bzzillz /iinfor brought
out this part of the Copy : [ produciug a Shect
of Mauujciipt i Conrt ]

- Ld Hhyde. Fofeph Walker, was the whole Copy
of this Book in the Houfe at that timc, when
you compoied that which you did?

{Palier. I cannot tell @ I faw 1t but Sheet by
Sheet.

M. Recorder. Did not you fee the whole en-
tire Copy in your Mafter’s Hand ?

Walker. No: But [raking fowne part of ile
Menufeript in bis Hesdy  [aid} this 15 the Hand
that I compofed by.

My, Recorder. Nir. L’ Effrange, where had you
the entire Copy.

Mr. L' Eftrange. It was only the Copy of the
laft Sheet, that { took in the Prefs.

My, Recorder. Who helped you to that ?

Mr. L'Efiranze. Bazilia #7infor, by Diretion
of the Prifoner, as I conceive: For I told him,
If you can help me to the Copy, it may do you
{fome good ; and {oon after part of it was brought
me by her, 1 asked Mr. Twyi further, How
d:d you dilpofe of thofe Sheets which you
had printzd, thofe f{everal Heaps, whither are
they gone ? He told me, He had delivered thefe
Sheets to Miftrels Calvert’s Maid, at the Rofe
in Smithfield.

My, Recorder, You fay he told you Miftrefs
Calvert’s Maid received them of him ; did you
{ince {peak with that Maid ?

Mr. L’Effrange. I was longin fearching Twyn’s
Houfe, and onec of his Apprentices made his
Efcape, and probably gave noticeof it; For the
Night I went to Miftrefs Colvers’s Houle, fhe
and the Maid too were fled. 1 have fince taken
the Miftrefs, and fhe is now in Cuftody. I have
heard nothing of the Maid fince.,

Juftice Keeling. Twyn owned to you that he
had corrected fome of the Sheets; that he had
read them, and faid, It was mettlefome Stuff,

Mr. L' Efirange. 1 did ask him in the Houfe
' of the Conflable, Who correfted this? The
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Corrector mufl certainly know what it was. Said
he, [ Dave no Skill in corieiiing. But when [
{peak of correting, 1 mcan who revifed it, over-
lsgted it for the Prefs? [rcad 1t over, fays he.

Zwya. | never faid fuch a Word.

Mr. L'Efirange. He {pake this in the Prefence
of two or thice here prefent.  Could you read
over this Book, faid I, and not know thar it
was not fit to be printed ? £ thought it was a bos

frery Fellow s it was Mettley or micttlefome Stuff :

Somewhat to thar effeét.

Serjeant Aferson, W hat did you hear him con-
fels before Siv FHeary Beniet 2

Nir. L' Effrarge. [e owned the Thing ; thae
15, he acknowlesged he had printed the Sheet I
{hewed thete, and two other Sheets of the fame
Treatife.

Serjeant Adorton, Did he acknowledge he cor-
reted them ?

Mr. L'Effrange. I know not whether before
Sty Mviiiy Bennet he did, or no,

Sericant Adorten. What know you about Mo-
ney received by him?

Mr. L’Lfirange. He faid Calvers’s Maid paid
him 40 5. in part for that Work.

Tawyn. 1 faid 1 had received Money of Cal-
vert’s Maid for Work I had none ; but named
not thar.

Afr. Dickenfon ftvorn.

About the 7th Day of OfZeber, it being Wed-
newday, as I remember, about Five o'clock, we
ateended Mr. L'Effrenze, myfelf and others
We came to the Houle of the Prifoner in Clozh-
Faiyy and upon the Back-fide of his Houfe we
{to-.d liflening a good while, and heard Prefles
a working.  Upon that] came to the Fore-part,
by Mr. L’ Zfliange’s Order, and knocked; but
nene would anfwer : I took the Conitable’s
Staft, and knocked again; and none would an-
(wer yet.  After that Mr. L'Effrange knocked
near half an Hour ;. and no body coming, he at
laft fent for a Smith’s Hammer to force it open.
Alterwards they came down, and opened the
Door.  Then Mr. L'Eftrange and the Printer
(Mr. Mabb) went up Stairs : I continued below
with the Conftable and the King’s Meflenger,
to cblerve whether any went in or out. After
which, fome Sheets fell down on the other fide
of the Houfe. Meeting with one of them, and
perceiving they had difcovered the Sheers they
cnquired after, I read fome part of it and find-
g what it was, I went up, and found the
oheets thrown behind the Door. Mr. Tavys
(fard 1) I wonder you would print fuch a Thing
as this: You could not chufe but know that it was
very dangerous to do any fuch Thing. He an-
{wered, That Le did wor confider what it wwas.
Quetltionlefs, faid I, you could not but know iz
was very dangerous s for when yourevifed it, you
muft nceds know the Senfe of 1t I think it was
a dangerous Bufinefs ; what did you think of it ?
Says he, [ thought be <wes a good fimart angry Fel-
low 5 1t wwas mettlefome Stuff: or to that purpofe.
This was the Subftance of our Difcourfe.
1 did {fee fome of the Sheets printed on one fide,
and fome on both fides: The Form lay difor-
dered 5 yet not fo, but there was one Corne of
It yet remaining, and 1 having the Sheet in my
Hand did compare them together, and, to the
beft of my Remembrance, 1'do remember thefe
very Words, Execution of Fudgwmentyand Lord have.
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 Whodid he fay revifed the Prefs ?

%ﬂ;gﬁ}ﬁ;. He {eemed toycunfe{'s tha_t. he l:lad
correced it himfelf : for when I urgeditto him,
That he could not chufe but know the Matter
of it by reading its Truly fays he, [ thought be
awas an angry fmart Fellow : 1t was good inettifonse

of, ndecd.
Szflj?lr::]gc Keeling. 'The Queftion asked by my
Lord is, Whether he did confefs he revifed it,
or whether you did colleét it from his Reply ?

Dickenfon. Truly, by that Anfwer 1 guefled
he corrected it. .

Recorder. Did he confefs that he read 1t ¢

Dickenfon. 1 put that Queftion to him; and,
to the beft of my Remembrance, he did not
deny 1t.

Ld Hyde. 'To Mr. L’Efirange he confefled he

read it over.

Thomas Mabb fawors.

My Lord, I was with Mr. L’Effrange 1n this

Man's Houfe; and being there, going up, we
found the Prefs had been lately at work., 'There
was at each Prefls a Sheer laid 3 1 took them off

the Tinping [fome of the Fury underfland that
Jerme:] They were jult laid upon the Points,
printed onone fide. [ gave Mr. L’ Effrange thefe
two Shects, the fame with thefe, { frewing 1o
Sheets| fome were perfeCt, others imperfect, I
could not find the Form a great while. [ gave
him the Sheet to perufe; and in the mean while
T went down, and below [ found the two Forms,
but broken: Somewhat indeed was ftanding;
whercof | took part in my hand, and read in
the Letters.  Mr. Dickenfon having the Sheets,
he heard what I read, and looking on the Sheet,
found them agrce.

Twyin. What were the Words that you read ?

Mr., Maob. The Words were Exccution and
Fudginent, and Lovrd bave —— There was a Back-
pair of Stairs out of his Prefs-Room, partly be-
tween his Houfe and his Neighbour’s, and in the
Hurry they had thrown the Sheets down there;
part fcll behind the Door, and part at the bot-
tom. YWhen I queftioned him how many was
done, he faid five hundred; but I adjudged
thofc I faw to be about feven hundred and fifty.
Looking again over the Door, I efpied the re-
mainder of the Sheets, about two hundred and

fitty more, and I brought them together; and
then he owned there was one thoufand.

Ld Hyde. What elfe do you know 2

Mr. Afebb. At the Conftable’s Houfe I heard
him ufe the Words, That i# awas mettlefome Stuff,
and that o bedy correffed it but himfelf. Said I,
I wonder you would offer todo it; you could
not compofe it, but you muft underftand it.
Said he, 1t was my bad Fortuse to seddle with if.
Said I, You loft a Prefs but a little while fince,
1 wonder you would do this. He feemed to be
forrowful.
_ ocvjeant Morton. He did confefs he correted
if.
Mr. Mebb. Yes, my Lord.

Zwyn. No, my Lord, I did not.
John Wickham fuwers,
Upon the 7th of Oftober, as I take it, about

Four o’clock in the Morning, Mr. L’Efivange
came to my Houfe, being one of the King’s
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Meflengers, and told me I muft go immediately
with him to Cloth-Fairy and fent me to call one
Mr. Mabb by the way. 1 met Mt. L'Effrangs
near Mr. Zwyn's Houfe between Five and Six
o’clock: We had a Conftable, and went and
knocked at the Door: They knocked at leaft
halt an Hour before they got'in. I heard fome
Papers tumbling down, and heard 2 rattling 2-
bove, before they went up. But I ftood at the
Back-Door, to fecure any from running out that
way ; and at laft, when they faid there were
fome Sheets thrown into the next Houfe, I
went and looked, and there were two or three
hundred, and they were wet, newly come off
the Prefs. That’s all I can fay.

Serjeant Morton. Did you hear this Man fay
that he had correed it ?

Wickbam. No: But I having him in Cuftody
at my Houlfe, I asked him about it he faid, 2

was a very bitter Thing, that it was bis unbappy
Fortune to meet with it

F#ry. Did he confels he printed ic?

Wickham. Not to me.

Scrieant Morton. He (aid, I* awas o bities
Thing 5 and that it was bis uabappy Fortune 1o meet
with it : Make the beft of that, compare that
with the reft of the Evidence.

William Story Swori.

Gentlemen of the Jury, upnn the 7th of Oés
ber latt, early in the Morning, I was fent for to
Mr. L’Eftrange into Cloth- Fair : We went to the
Houfe of this Zawyz. After fome time knocking,
they went up Stairs, and brought down feveral
Papers : I know not what they were. I went
into the next Houfe with Mr. #ickbam, and
there we found two or three hundred Shects,
and brought them to Mr. L’Effrange. I asked
the Prifoner at my Houfe, whether he could
not write or read ? He faid, 2es, Did not you
ufe to read what you printed? He faid, 7os.
Did not you know Treafon when you read it ?
1t was a fiery Thing 5 Idid ot mind it much : But
I fhonld have got Money by it

Mr. Mabb. He owned he had but a very {mall
Price for the doing of it.

M. Joleph William{on fworn.

That which 1 can fay is, That I know this
[fooking upon & Paper] to be my own Hand-writ-
ing, and to be the Examination taken of this
Twys. ltook it ; and he owned it after it was
written.

Serjeant Aorton, What was the Subftance of
it ?

Ld Hyde. What did ke confels before Mr.
Secretary, when he was examined ?

Mr. Williamfon. He {aid, That the Copy of
the Book was brought to him by one ZEwans,
Maid to Miftrels Calvers. ‘That for the Author,
being asked if he knew him, ‘he faid he did not ;
and that he had {een thie Copy of three Sheets
of the Book; that he had printed only two of
thofe Sheets, a thoufand Exemplaries of each,

Judge Kecling. Did he confels that ?

Mr. Williamfon. Yes. And further, That he
had delivered them to this £Zvans at the Sign of
the Rofe in Smithfield 5 that he himfelf had cor-
refted thofe Sheets he had printed, and that he
had read them after they were printed ; that iqr
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his Pains and Printing of them, he had received
forty Shillings in part from this Maid at the De-
livery of them at the Rofe; that the Maid car-
ried away thofe Excmplaries from the Rofe; and
that he parted with her at the Door.

Serjeant Morton. 1 hope you obferve, Gentle-
men.  We have now done : We defire the Pri-
foner may give his Anf{wer to it; and then we
thall make our Reply.

L.d Hyde. Whatfay you? You have heard the
Witnefles, and what is laid to your Charge.

Tawyn. 1 did never reada Line of it inmy Life.

Ld Ajde. That’s impoflible. I'll tell you:
Firft, your own Man, who [et part, fwears you
did both fet and print part of this Book your
felf: You gave him the Title tofet. You com-
pofed one part of the Book, whilft he was com-
pofing another part. Is it poflible you could
compofe, and not read 2 Line of it? He tells
you further, when the fir(t Sheet was printed,
he brought it inte the Kitchen, and laid 1t
down, knew not of any one in the Houfe but
your felf ; about an Hour, or an Hour and halt
after, you brought it back again corrected, laid
it down; and the Hand that corrected it was
not unlike your Hand upon other Corretions of
Books. Pray, Brother Afurton, let the Jury
have Books, and Mr. Lee read the Indictment,

that they may fce they agree.
Serjeant Adorson. 1 oblerved to you there were

thirteen Treafonable Paragraphs; you fhall find
them marked out 1n the Margent.

Ld Hyde. You fhall fee there are Treafons
with a witnels: See the very Title.

Mr. Lee. [Reads the Title of the Indidtinent.]
¢ A Treatile of the Executionof Juitice: Wheres
“in 15 clearly proved, That the Execution of
¢ Judgment and Juftice is as well the Peoples as
¢ the Magiftrates Duty ; and it the Magiftrates
¢ pervert Judement, the Pcople arc bound by
¢ the Law of God to execute Judgment without
¢ them, and upon them.”

Ld Ilyde. 'That you gave to your Man {o {et.

Mr. Lee reads, ¢ It is onc of the Scarler Sins
¢ of this Nartion, that the People {uffered their
¢ Rulers, {5¢.” —— The particular Paffages are
too impious to be publithed, and indeed too foul
to be repeated, but in Subflance. Thofe men-
tioned in the Indi¢tment are as follows :

Firfsy The Supreme Magiltrate 15 made ac-
countable to the People.

Sceondly, ‘The People are rebellioufly incited to
take the Menage of the Government into their
own hands,

Zhiidly, They are animated to take up Arms,
not only againft the Perfon of his Sacred Ma-
jefty, but likewife againft the Royal Family.

Fourthly, 'They are ftirred up to a Rewslt (in
that very Term) as an Aétion honourable and
confcientious; making Publication in the next
Claufe of Encouragement to any Town, City,
or Country in the threc Nations to begin the
Work.

Fifthly, The People are laboured not only to
caft oft their Allegiance to the Xing, but in di-
re¢t Terms to put his Sacred Majelty to death.
And to the Purpofes before mentioned tends the
whole Scope of the Treatife.

Serjeant Morzoi. You may judge of the reft
by this : We will not put you to any more Ex-
pence of Time; there hath been {ufficient Trea-
fon in that which you have read.
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Ld Hyde. Now fay what you will. But [
muft tell you, in thofe Particulars that have beep
compared, there is asmuch Villany and Slander
as 1s poffible for the Devil or Man to invent Ig’;
is to deftroy the King in his Perfon, to rob himy
of the Love and Affeétions of his People; to de.
ftroy the whole Family, and all Governmen;
Ecclefiaftical and Civil.  And this read by you;
felf, owned, and caufed to be printed.

Twyn. Except it was that Sheet which M
L’ Eftrange read to me when I was taken, I nevey
heard 1t before, nor read it.

Ld Hyde. Your Man fwears that you did fet
and print part of it : It’s impoffible to compofe
and fer, but you muft read it. Nay, you did
cxamine and correCt the Sheets; brought them
up again. Mr. L'Effrange {wears you confefled
you read it over; it was mettlefome Stuff. My,
Dickenfon fays you did not fay you read it over
but he faying to you it was impoffible you {hould
fet 1ty and notread it, you told him alfo ## qva;
mestlefome Stuff : You could not judge it to be
mieitlefome Stuff, but you muft read it.. There ig
Mr. Williainfon fays that you confefled before
Mr. Secretary Beawet that you had feen three
Shects, printed off two Sheets, correfted thofe
two Sheets; and after printed, and delivered
them ; and that you had forty Shillings in par:
of Payment. Befides this, when Mr. L’ Effrange
came firft, you were up, (my, at Two o’clock
in the Morning :) When they came and knocked
at the Door, they heard Preffes going, you
would make no An{wer till they called a Smith,
with intent to force it open.  When they came
i, they found a Form brought out of the Prints
ing-Room, and broken, all but one Corner;
that taken up by a Printer, and compared with
the Lines of the printed Sheets, and found to
agree. Some of the Sheers were printed on one
fide only, the reft perfetted, you threw . them
down Stairs, partinto your Neighbour’s Houfe ;
faid yor aere nndone, when you underflood Mr.
L'Effreuge was there.  Whatneeded all this, but
that you knew whatyou were doing, and did it
purpolely to do mifchief ?

Teeyn. 1 did never read or hear a2 Line of it,
but when Mr., L’Eflrange read it when I was
taken.

]udpge Keeling. Was it printed at your Houfe,
Or NG !

Zwwyi. 1 know not but that it might : Not
that I did 1t with my own Hand.

Judge Keeling, The Papers were found wes
with you: Who was in your Houfe?

Twyn. My two Servants.

Judge Keeling. Did any fet them at work but
your felf? Did they work of their own Heads ?

Zwyn. 1 did ufe to fet them at work 5 bur I
did not fet them on that particular Work,

Ld Hyde. Have you any thing clfe to fay 2
God forbid but you fhould be heard 5 but the
Jury will not eafily believe {uch Denials againfk
{o much Evidence.

Judge Kecling. Tell us to whom you carried
this Copy to be correfted?

Teoyn. 1 know not who correéted it.

Ld Ayde. If you have any thing to fay, fpeak
it; God tforbid but youthould have a full Hear-
Ing : Say what you will.

Twyn, Ifay 1 did not read it, nor heard it,
tll Mr, L' Efirange read i,

Ld
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Hyde. Have you any thing elfe 2 '
%iyn% IEI:’S poffible I may, upon Confideration.

1d Hyde. We cannot fpend all the Day: I
muft let the Jury know they are not to take

Teftimony. |
yoggrj. Ma;-;a;;.y[ am of Counlel for the King :

Il reply, if he will fay no more.
. f?;iigc I;(gf?ffzg. You have heard your Charge;
this is your Time to make your Anfwer: If you
do not {peak now, you muft not {peak after.
Therefore if you have any thing to fpeak in
your Juftification, or Witnefles-to call, now is
Time.

yoiij Hyde. Let me give you this Caution: We
cannot {pend Time in vain; we have oth‘m' Buf:-
nels before us, and it grows late. The beft
Counfel 1 can give you, is this: You faid ag
firft, ‘That you defired to bc_ tried in the Pre-
fence of God. You are here in the Prelence of
Almighty God, and I would to God you would
have fo much Care of your {elf, and do fo much
Right to your felf, to declare the Trtith, that
therc may be means of Mercy to you. The bett
you can now do towards Amends for this Wick-
cdnefs you have dene, is by dilcovering the Au-
thor of this villainous Book : If not, you muit
not expect, and indeed God forbid that there
thould be any Mercy tow.ards you. |

Tawyn. 1 never knew the Author of 1ty nor
who it was, nor whence it came, but as | gold
Yoi'd Hyde. ‘Then we muft not trouble our
{elves, Did you never fee the Hand before,
with which this Copy was written?

Twyn. No.

Ld Hyde. 1 am very confident you would not
then have been {o mad, as to have taken {uch 2
Copy : A Copy fraught with fuch abominable
Treafon and Lies; abufling, in the firlt place,
the late King that is dead, who was, I'll be
bound to fay it, as virtuous, religious, pious,
mercifuly, and juft a Prince as ever reigned, and
was as villamouily and barbaroufly ufed by his
rebellious Subjects. Nay, you have not refted
here, but have fallen vpon this King, who has
been gentle and merciful beyond all Precedent.
Since he came to the Crown, he has fpared
thofe that had forfeited their Lives, and all they
had: And he has endeavoured to oblige all the
reft of his People by Mildnefs and Clemency.
And after all this, for you to publith {o horrid a
Book, you can never make amends: God for-
glve you for It.

Zwyn. 1 never knew what was in it,

Ld Hyde. You of the Jury, I will fay only
this : That in Point of Law, in the firft place,
there 1s no doubt in the World, by the Law of
the Land, the publithing {uch a Book as this is
as high a Treafon as can be committed : By this
he has endeavoured to take away the Life of the
King, and deltroy the whole Family, and fo
confequently to deliver us up into the hands of
Ioreiguers and Strangers. It is a great Blefling
that we have the Royal Line amongft us. But,
I fay, there is no queftion (and my Brothers will
declare the fame, if you doubt it) that this Book
15 as fully Treafon by the old Statute, as much
the compafling and endeavouring the Death of
the King, as poflible: And he refts not there,
but incites the People to Rebellion, to dethrone
him, to raife War, And the publithing of this
Bn‘t':;k s all one and the fame, as if he had raifed
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an Army to do this. The Proof is, That he fet
part, printed part, and corretted it ; by his own
Confeflion, read it over, It was mettlefome Stuffs
contefled how many Sheets he printed; the Re-
ward and Recompence, you took notice of it.
And I prefume no Man among you can doubt
but the Witneffes have fpoken true: And for
his An{wer, you have nothing bur his bare De-
nial.  And {o we fhall leave it to you.

Sez Simon Dover 7o the Bar.

Dozer. My Lord, T pray Time, till Monday
Morning : I have fent away the Copy of my in-
di¢tment.

Ld Hyde. The Seflions will be done to-night :
Mr. Recorder and the reft are to go away on
Monday; and therefore we muft end to-night.

Dover. 1 beleech your Lordthip I may have
Time 1ill Night,

Ld Hyde. Men clamour, and fay they are
hardly ufed, their Trials being put off: Are you
content to lie in Goal till the next Seffions ?

Dover. No, my Lord, I have had enough of
that: We are willing now to have it tried.

I.d Hyde. You have had a Kindnefs done to
you, that 1t is not laid Treafon; and thercfore
go on to your Trial. But becaufe you fthall not
lay you are furprized, if you will not go on now,
you muit lie in the Goal till the next Seflions :
We cannot bail you.

Dover. My Lord, the Indi€tment is full of
Law, and I underftand not the Formalitics of
it : I defire but till Four o’clock.

Ld Hyde. We muft do it before we g0 to
Dinner, or not at all; for there is Judament to
be given to the Goaly and all of us Judges are
commanded by the King to attend him to-
night.

Dozer. I am not able to plead to ir.

Ld Hyde. Then becaufe you fhall not fay you
had not all the Right imaginable, we will dif-
patch the reft of the Goal to-night, and adjourn
the Seffions till Monday Morning, and you fhall
then have a fair Trial, by the Help of God.
You and your Company, Natbain Brooks and
Thomas Brewffer, are you all defirous to be tried
on Monday Morning 2

Al three. Yes.

Ld Hyde. Becaufe you fhall not want Advice;
or any thing elle, you fhall have all the Liberty
you will defire, to fend for Perfons; but you
muft be Prifoners till then.

All three. We humbly thank you.

The the Fury went out 5 and after about balf
an Houi's Gonfultation, they returned to the Conrf,
and took 1heiv Plages.

Cierk. Ave you all agreed of your Verdi&?

Fury. Yes.

Clerk. Who thall fay for you?

Fury. The Foreman.

Clerk, Set Fobn Twyn to the Bar: Look upon
him, my Mafters, how fay you, is he Guilty of
the High-Treafon whercof he ftands indicted,
or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. of Newgate. Look to him, Keeper.

Clerk. Hearken to your Verdi&, as the Court
hath recorded it: You fay that Fobn Tapn is
Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof he ftood
indi¢ted, and that at the time of committing the
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faid Treilon, or afy titme fince, he had no
Goods, Chattels, Lands nor Tenements, to your
knowledge ; and fo you fay all?

Fury. Yes.

Cleik. Fobn Tawyny thou haft been arraigned
for High-Treafon, and thereunto haft pleaded
Not Guilty, and for thy Trial haft put thyfelf
upon God dnd the Country, and the Country
hath found thee Guilty; what canft thou now
fay for thyfelf, why the Court {hould not pro-
ceed to Judgment, and thereupon award KExe-
cution of Death again{t thee, according to the
Law?

Twyn. 1 humbly beg Mercy; I am a poor
Man, and have three {mall Children, 1 never
read a word of it.

Ld Hyde. Pll tell you what you fhall do:
Ask Mercy of them that can give its that 15 of
God and the King.

Tizyu. | humbly befeech you to intercede with
his Majefty for Mercy.

Cl. of Newgate. Tic him up, Executioner.

Cricr. O Yes! My Lords the King’s Juftices
command all manner of Perfons to keep filence
while Judgment is in giving, upon pain of Im-
prifonment.

Ld Hyde. Fobu Tawyn, and Fobn Dunfmore,
(one coirvicted for clipping of Aloney) Iam heartily
{orry that your Carriage and grievous Offences
thould draw me to give that Judgment upon you
that I muft, It is the Law pronounces it, God
knows it is full fore again{t my Inclination to do
it; I will not trouble myfelt or you with re-
peating what you have done; but only this in
the general, Fobu Twwya, for you: Yours is the
moft grievous and higheft Treafon, and the
moft complicated of all Wickednels that cver I
knew; for you have, as much as poflibly lay in
you, fo reproached and reviled the King, the
dead King, and his Pofterity, on purpofe to cn-

deavour to root them out from off the face of

the Earth, @ {veak it from my Soul, I think
we have the greatelt Happinefs of the World,
in enjoying what we do under fo gracious and
sood a King; yet you in the Rancour of your
Heart thus to abufe him! I will be fo charitable
to think you arc mil-led. There’s nothing that
prctends to Religion, that will avow or juftify
the killing of Kings, but the Jefuit on the one
{ide, "and the SeCtary on the other; indeed it is
a defperate and dangerous Doctrine, fomented
by.divers of your Temper, and it's high time
fome be made Examples forit. 1 {hall not {pend
my time in difcourfe o you, to prcpare you for
Death ; 1{cc a grave Perfon whofe Office it 1s,
and I leave it to him. Do not think of any
Timec here, make your Peace with God, which
muft be done by Confeflion, and by the Difco:

very of thole that are Guiley of the {ame Crime

with you. Geod have mercy upon you; and if

you fo do, he will have mercy upon you. But
foralmuch as you Fobi Twyn have been indited
of High-Treafon, you have put yourlelf upon
God and the Countiy to try you, and the Conn-
try have found you Guilty : therefore the Judg-
ment of the Court 15, and the Court doth award,
¢ That you be led back to the Place from
¢ whence you came, and from thence to be
¢ drawn upon an Hurdle to the Place of Exc-
¢ cation ; and there you fhall be hanged by the
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¢ Neck, and being alive, fhall bé cut down,
¢ and your Privy-Members fhall be cut offy your
¢ Entrails fhall be taken out of your Body, and
¢ you living, the fame to be burnt before youy
¢ Eycs; your Head to be cut off, your Bedy to
¢ he divided into four Quarters, and your Head
¢ and Quarters to be difpofed of at the Pleafure
¢ of the King’s Majelty. And the Lord have

¢ mercy upon your Soul.
Tawyi. 1 molt humbly befcech your Lordfhip

to remember my Condition, and intercede {or

me. .
1.d Hyde. 1 would not intercede for my own
Father in this Cafe, if he were alive. *
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Monday, Febr, 22, 16061,

HE Court proclaimed,
Clerk. Set Simon Dover, Thomas Brewfler,

and Nathai Brooks to the Bar: Look to yow
Challenges.
The fame Jury {worn ancw.

Kelyng

[ ] 1.-
b I R

Clerk. Set Tho. Brewfler to the Bary and the
reft fer by. You of the Jury look upon the Pri-
{oner; you fhall underftand that he {tands indic-
ted in Londor by the Name of Thomas Brewflor,
&c. {aud bere be reads the Indiiment} for caufing
to be printed, and felling a Book called, 71
Specches, €5c. Upon this IndiCtment he hath
been arraigned, and thercunto hath pleaded Not
Guilty, and for hisy J¢. Your Charge 1s to in-
quire whether he be Guily of this Seditios
and Offence, or Not Guilty, If you find him,
(¢, -

Mr. North, May 1t pleafe it your Lordfhip,
and you Gentlemen of the jury, Zho. Brewfr
{tands here indi€ted of a foul Mildemeanour; 1t
is for caufing to be printed, publifthing and ut-
tering a feditious, {fcandalous, and malicious
Book. The Indiétment f{ets forth, That ke not
having, ¢ [Here Mr. Neith opens the In-
di¢tment] and to this Inditment he hath plead-
ed Not Guilty, If therc be lufhcient Proof of
the Charge, you are to find him guilty of the
Matter contained in it.

Thomas Creck, George Threfher, Thomas Loft,
aind Perer Bodvel fivora.

Mr. Nosth., Tho. Creeky tell my Lord and the
Jury what vou know concerning Brewffer, and
your printing of a Book called The Speeches, &c.
and his uttering and publifhing of it.

Creek. 1 fhall, Sir. There is a Miftake in the
Time, for it was before Chriffmas thar M.
Brewfiery Mr. Calverty and Mr. Chaprign did
come to me at the Cock in Little-Britain; and
there they had fome Copy of the Beginning of
the Speeches of the Men that {uftered, that were
the King’s Judges, and they {pake to me to print
it : and I did print part of the Book, I cannot
tell you how much, without I had the Book,
and thén I can tell you how much I did print,
[The Book being fhewed him] if this be my print-
ing ; I fuppofe it was donc afterwards, anothel’
Impreffion, and I muft not own it in that, [A?
was fbewed onc of another Impreffion] My Lotd,

~ Sec Twyn' Speech and Bebavionr in State-Trials, Pol. 8. p. 380, 381,
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‘hus far T own; the Printers that are of the Jury
will judge [pointing o thhe Page] this is my Lec-
cer, and here I ended. |
Ld Hjde. What Folio is that you ended at?
Creck. You fhall feey 1815 36.
Mr. North. By whofe Order did you print
t?
Ih%reek. They all gave me Order togethcr.
1.d Hyde. They all! Name them. |
Creek. Mr, Calvert, Brewfler, and Cbap;:_m;;,
My. North, Did they charge you to do 1t pri-

ly ?
wz?rgf . With as much Privacy and Expedition

as 1 could. .

. North, Whenyou had printed them, what
did you do with them? _

Creek. I difpofed of them by their Order.

Mr. North. Did you print but one Imprefiion,
or more? o

Creek. Yes, my Lord, 1 did print part of a
fecond Impreflion. |

Mr. North. That we vfe as Evidence, that he
had uctered the firft, becaufe he went upon 2 fe-
cond : How many did you print at firft?

Creck. To my beft remembrance, the firft Im-
preflion was 3000. ‘

L.d &yde. Thefe three cmployed you to print
this Book, and you printed to the 36th Folio?

Creek. Yes.

1.d Ffyde. And who printed the other part?

Creek. T cannot fay pofitively.

Ld Ayde. Did thele three afterwards direct
you to give out the Sheets to fuch and {uch Per
fons, Bookbinders, to ftitch up, and difpofe of ?

Creck. Yes.

Ld Hyde. 'The firft was three thoufand, you
fay: what number did they take?

Creek. They had all; they fear for them of
me as falt as 1 did them.

J. Keeling. Who did you fend the Proofsto?

Creek. 'They were fent for to my Houlfe.

J. Keeling. Sometimes by Calueity {ometimes
his Man, fomectimes his Maid, {fometimes by
Brewfter.

1.d Hyde. Do not you know who began where
vou left off?

Creck. 1 am not able politively to fay. Ido
believe, and 1 have heard, and fpoken with them
that faid Mr. Dover did ; but I cannot pofitively
fay It.

YLd Hyde. You werc not by, to fee it done?

Creek, No.,

Ld Hyde. What grounds have you to believe
that Dover printed the reflt?

Creek. Grounds! Truly it i1s fo long ago, to
{wear pofitively I cannot.

Ld AHyde. It is but three Years ago.

Creck. T'o the beft of my remembrance, Mr.
Dywer in the time of printing 1t did meet me,

and converfe with me about it; but to exprels
Time or Place, I cannot.

I.d Hyde. Did you and he agree that he fhould
print the other part?

Creek. No, my Lord; I had nothing to do to
agree it with him,

Ld Hyde. Didhe declare to you that he print-
ed the other?

Creek. To the beft of my memory he told me
he printed fome Sheets.
Mr. North. W ho changed Shects withyou?
Creek. Some Sheets were changed atMr.Dovey’s,
{}Keeﬁugi Who paid for the Printing ?
oL, lli,
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Creek. Mr. Brewffer paid me fome; and fome
Mry. Calvert paid me.

Ld Hyde. 1f you defire to ask him any Ques
ftions, you may. | |

Brewfler. By and by I fhally my Lord.

Dover, 1 defire he may tarry till I come to my
Trial. |

Serjeant Mprfon. Don’t doubt it. _

Mr. North. George Threfbery Ipeak your Know-
ledge to my Lord and the Jury, whether Brecwfer
did not bring you the Book called The Specches,
&c. to be {titch'd and what you did with them,
tell the manner of i, |

Threfber. May it pleafe you, my Lord, and the
Honourable Bench, it is thus : This Book it feems
was printed, Mr, Brewffer came to my Hou'e fo
know whether I could fold them, and fitch
them in blue Paper. That night 1 went to fe-
veral Printers, Mr. Dover was one of them ; we
had feveral Sheets from thence, (1 did not fee
them printed) I carried them home; and went
about the working them that night.

J. Keeling. How many Books were delivered
to you?

Threfber. Firft and laft, about foo.

J. Keeling. Who delivered them to you?

Threfber. Some were brought to my Houfe,

J. Keeling. By whole Direttion?

Threfber. Mr. Brewfler's.

J. Keeling. Did youdeliver them to any body ?

Threfher. Yesyto Nathan Brooks, ready tticch’d,

J. Keeling. Who paid you for them ?

T brefber. Mr. Brewfler for them he had, and
Brooks for them he had.

Mr. North. homas Loft, tell your Knowledge
in this bufinefs.

Thomas Loft. May it pleale you, all that I can
fay is this: There was to the number of about
or near upon a thoufand, as I take it, folded and
ftitch'd in my Mafter’s Heoule, one Mr. Pery,
I was then his Apprentice; they were fent in,
as I judge, by Mr. Bsewfler’s Order, but I can-
not pofitively fay it: my Mafter appointed us to
do them; 1 faw Mr. Brewfer there fometimes,
but I cannot pofutively fay that Mr. Brewfler
paid for the doing of them.

Mr. Nosth. Iid not your Mafter prefs the
Difpatch ?

Loft. My Mafter did fo; but I know not
whether they converfed to that purpofe.

Mr. North. Who ferch’d them away ?

Loft. His then Apprentice did fetch fome of
them from our Houle.

Mr. North. Peter Boduvel, tell my Lord and
the Jury what you know.

Bodvel. 1 did carry fome three Years ago fome
Bundles of Books from Mr. Creet’s Houfe, and
I think they were the Bundles of the Speeches
of the King’s Judges.

Ld Hyde. From whence had you them?

Bodvel. From My, Creek’s.

Mr. Nosth. What did you do with them?
Weie they fold ?

Bodvel. I did {ee fome of them fold in the
Shop.

Nl;r. Nosth Who fold chem ?

Bodwel. Myfelf, and my Miftrels fometimes.

Ld AHyde. Were they brought to the Shop to
fell, by his privicy?

Bodvel. I do believe he knew of them.

Ld AHyde. By the Oath you have taken, did
he fend you for them to the Printers?

Z 772 Bodvel,
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Bodvel. He or my Miltrefs did.
Ld Ayde. Has he beenin the Shop when they
have been fold ?

Bodwvel. 1 cannot truly tell; it’s three Years
apo.

g]. Tyrrel. To whom did you pay the Money
that you received for them?

Boduel. We put it in the Box.

]. Keeling. Do not Booklellers keep account
what Books they fell, and fet down the Money ?

Bodwel. Not for Pamphlets.

Mr. Nurth. Did he not fend you to the Book-
Yinder's for them, when they were fticch'd ?

Bodwcl. 1t was by his or my Miftrels’s Order.

J. Kceling. W hat wasyour Bookbinder’s Name?

Bodwel. Pesiy. _

Y. Keeling. \Where was thlis Book kept? Pub-
lickly, as other Books, or in other Rooms

Bodvel. 1n the Shop, my Lord. _

1. Keeling. Were they publickly to vicw, as
other Books?

Bodvel. Not fo publick as other Books, but
publick enough, Mr. L’ Efiraige knows.

Ld Hyde. 1 know you ufe to let your Titles
of a new Book lic open upon your Stalls; did

u lay thele open?
yoBﬂdgel. No._.Pmy Lord, they did not do {o.

L4 Hyde. Who was the caule they did not?
Did your Mafter direct the Privacy?

Bodwel. 1ihink he did, wehad fome direction
ro that cad.

I.d Hide. Not to lay them cpen upon the
Stall?

Bodzel. No.

Ld I;de. Give the Jury fome Books, and read
the Indiékment; let them be compared.

Clerk reads the Indi¢tment: firft the Title ;

¢ The Speeches and Prayers of fomeof the late
¢« King’s Judges, wiz. Major-General Harrifuil,
¢ Oftoh. 13. Mr. Fobiz Carey, Ottob. 17 Mr, Ju-
¢ ftice Cook, Nr.Hugy Peteis, Ocob. 16, Mr.
¢« Thoinas Scoty M. Grezery Clement, Col. Adrian
¢ Scroopey Col. Fohn Fones, Oftob. 17. Col. Da-
¢ el Axtell, and Col. Francis Hackery, Oftob. 19.
1660. The Times of their Deaths, together
with feveral Occafional Speeches, and Paflages
in their Imprifonment, till they came to the
placeof Exccution. Faithfully and impartial-
ly colleted for further Satistaction.
My. Cook’s Letter to alriend, fol. 40. ¢ And
(o T defcend to the Caufe, for which I am in
Bonds; which isas good as ever it was: And
I Helicve there is not a Saint that hath engaged
with us, but wil wifh at the lait Day that he
had fealed to the Truth of it with his Blood,
if thereupon called; for Iam fausfied, that it
is the moit Noble and Glorious Caulfe that has
been agitated for God and Chrilt fince the A.
poftolical Times; being for Truth, Holinels,
and Righteouinefs, for our Liberties as Men,
and as Chriftians for removing all Yokes and
Opprefions.” And fol. 41. ¢ Tt isfuch a Caule,
that the Martyrs would again come from Hea-
ven to fuffer for ity if they might: I look up-
on it as the moft high At of Juftice that our
¢ Story can paraliel, &re'.

[Not to troublcthe Reader with all the Parti-
culars mentioned in the Indiétment ;) fince therelt
are but more of the fame kind in other words. ]

Ld Hyde. What {ay you to this Book?

Brewfler. 1defire to ask Mr. Creek a fow Que-
ftions: My, Creck, how much of that in the lu-
diftment did you print ?

™ R ™™
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Creck. The Jury may fce if they pleafe.

L.d Hyde. I'ruly it he fays true, he fays he
printed no part of that with which you are chay-
ged, but the Title-Page; he left off at Folio 36,
your Charge is the Title,and beginning at Fal. 40,

Brewfler. So that you fee he printed nothing
for me that s in the Indi¢tment.

J. Kecling. Did you print the Title?

Cyeek, Yes, my Lord.

Ld Hyde. And you printed the reft, by hi,
Calvert’s, and Chapman’s Directions.

Creek. They delivered me the Copy together
to print.

Ld Hyde. 1f you have any thing to fay, fpeak
to the Court, the Jury will hear you.

Mr. North, Pray, my Lord, give me leave to
ask Creck one Queltion: There were two Im-
prefiions printed, did not you print morc in one,
than in the other.

Creek. I am upon my Oath; to the beft of
my remembrance I printed the fame that 1 did
before, for I had fome of it ftanding, and {o [
bad the fame Sheets again.

Mr. Nosth. Had you no more?

Creek. No, 1 had rather lefs.

Brewfler. 'That’s ulual, he that prints the firft,
doth print the {ame of the fecond.

Ld Hyde. He fays he did fo; what have you
to {ay to the Charge?

Brewfier, I conceive that part that T orderdd
the printing of, is not included in the Indid-
men.

Ld fyde. Yes, every part; be fays in both
fmpreflions he printed to the 36th Folio; and
a'l the reft was printed by your dircétion.

Cieck. No, my Lord, 1 printed to the 36th
Folio by his Direction, the reft was printed eife-
where.

J. Keeling. Your Indi¢tment was this, For cau-

fizg to be printed this Bogk, called The Prayers,

(Fc. and for felling and utteriug of it. For the Evi-
dence that you caufed 1t to be printed, he fwears
you directed fome, and it is not likely you would
print half, and let the ozher half alone 3 we leave
that to the jury: For your uttering, that anon.

Ld Hyde. There are thefe two particular
Charges in the Indiétment, that you muft an-
{wer: The firlt 1s, your caufing it to be printed;
and 1t 1s not effential, or of neceflity, that every
Particular that is in the Indiétment be proved to
be done by you: you caufled this Book to be
priated, with{uch a Title; that he fivears he did

for you: then let the Jury, or any Man living,

judge whether you did direét the Book to be

wholly perfeéted, or by halves. The fecond
Charge 15, that you uttered them: You delive-
red five hundred of thele to be ftitch’d up, and
difpoicd of them, {o that you are in effeét both
Printer and Publifher of the whole Book.

Brewfler. He fpeais of one part that I orde-
red, there 1s no more Proof, and that was but
to the 36th Page: he fpeaks alfo of fomebody
el{c that was prefent with me; and where they
had the reft of the Copy printed, he tells you he
knows not.

Ld fyde. Have you any more to {ay ?

Brewfler. Yes, my Lord: Tho' he fays I
caufed rhat Part to be printed, yet he doth not
fay Idid it malicioufly, or with any defign a-
gainft the Government.

Ld fyde. The thing fpeaks itlelf.

Brewffer, Bookfellers do not ufe to read what
they feil. Ld
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1.d Hyde. You have forgot what he {wore;
brought the Proof.
YOE,-M/}E%-. He did not fwear that; he fays M.
Calvert’s Man, and fometimes others.

1Ld Hyde. Ask him again.
Cr.:ek.JI did declare, that the Proofs were fent

For and carried away and vead, fomctifnes by
Mr. Calvert’s Man and others, and fometimes by
t's Servants, not by himlelf; they were wrapt

and fent.
upﬂz:hﬁ'de. For 2 Man to pretend he did not

know, when, he being Mafter, fends for his

Proofs bv his Servant; for any Man to {uppofe
chis is noc the Mafter’s Act, (nay, and directing
it to be done privatcly) you fhall never find a
Man guilty: they were fold in his Shop..

Brewfler. The grand part of the Indictment
Jics, T'hat it was done malicioufly and f'{fdlt:lﬂur-
ly, ard then it fays knowingly though it be
granted I did do 1t and {ell 1t, yer 1t does not
GHllow that I did it maliciouily and {cditioudly ;
1 did it in my Trade: we do not ufc to read
what we put to print or fell. 1fay, my Lord,
{clling of Books 1s our Tradc,. and ‘fur IEhC_ bf”'c
exercifing of it, knowing nothiag ot evil Init;
i+ caune out in a time too, when there were no
Licenfers, or appointed Rules; to that whatever
was Jone we are not accountabic for, for we
read very leldom more than the Titlg, that fome
of the Jury knows; fo that I hope 1 cannot be
faid 0 do it mulicioufly or knowingly. Ica_n
give Teftimony I am no Perfon given to Scdi-
tion, but havebeen ready to appcar upon all Oc-
cafions againit it. _

Ld Hyde. Have you any more? 1f you have,
{ay 1t.
YB:-er.zu]Zar. My Lord, they arc the Sayings of
dying Men, commonly printed without Oppo-
fition.

Ld Hyde. Never.

Brewfler. T can inflance in many ; the Book-
feller ouly minds the getting of a Penny: that
deciares to the World, that as they lived fuch
defperate Lives, fo they died; lo that 1t might
thew to the World the Jultice of their Punifh-
ment; and fo I think it a Benefit, far from Se-

dition. [t was done fo long ago too, it was not
done in private, it went commonly up and down

the Strects, almoft as common as a Dinrnal: 1Us
three Years and a quarter ago, or thereabouts.

Juftice Tyrrel. You fpeak of your Behaviour,
have you any Teftimony heye:

Brewfler. 1 do expeét fome Neighbours ; Ma-
jor-General Brewsn knows me, Capt. Sheldon,
Capt. Colcheflery and others: I can give a very
good account as to my Bcehaviour ever fince.

Ld Hjde. Say what you will, and call your
Witnefles, and make as much fpeed as you can.

Juftice Xecling. There is another IndiCtment
againtt you, and while that 15 trying, your
Neighbours may come.

Brewfler. My Lord, I fhall defift for the pre-
fent.

~Ser). Mortop. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,
and you Gentlemen of the Jury; Iam of Coun-
lel for the King againft Thomas Brewfier, Book-
{eller, that ftands here indiéted, for that he, con-
trary to the Buty of his Allcgiance which- he
owes to our Soveretgn Lord the King, did caule
malicioufly afeditious and fcandalous Book - be
printed, whercin there are divers {fcandalous

the King’s Royal Prerogative, and again{t his
Goverament, Crownand Dignity; and likewife
that he hath fold and uttered the fame Books in
Contempt of his Majefty’s Laws., This is the
Effcct of the IndiCtment: It has beenproved to
you by four Witnefles, that for which he ftands
indited ; Firft, That he did caufe part of the
Book to be printed; that’s clearly proved by
Creek : likewile that he has fold and uttered thofe
Books in his Shop: nay, he confefles that he
did, andfays they were {old openly asa Diurngl
and therefore he thinks 1t was lawful for him to
doit. He has gone about to make a Defence
of this his feditious Behaviour; he tells you he
did not print all the Book; it is not faid, that
he printed {uch and fuch a Letter of the Book,
but that he cauled fuch a Book to be printed:
and it is to be prefumed, If he caufed one part,
he would caule the other, or otherwife it would
be 2 Book of muimed Senfeand imperfect. Gen-
ticmen, for thc uttering and felling of them,
that himfelf confefles: you have heard the Ex-
cules he hath made, whether you will not find
him guiity of this Crime, that I muft leave to
you, and to the Diretion of the Court.

. Ld Hyde. You of the Jury, you fee the In.
diCtment is for caufing a libellous and feditious
Book to be printed, under fuch a Title, thatis,
The Speeches and Prayers, &c. it is for caufing
this, {cditiouily, faltioufly and wickedly 1o be
printed ; and for felling and publifhing it abroad
to the King’s Pcople. For the Matter of Evi-
dence, you have heard it: I will not repeat the
Par iculars to you, only fomething to whar he
has {aid, that you may not be mif-led. Firft, He
fays, it does not appear, that he did it malici-
oufly or knowingly ; there are fome things that
you that are ot the Jury are not to expect Evi~
dence for, which it 1s impoflible to know butby
the Act it felf. Malice 1s conceived in the Heart,
no Man knows it unlefs he declares it; As in
Murder, I have Maliceto a Man, no Man knows
it; I meetthis Man and kill him; the Law calls
this Malice. 1f a Man {peaks {candalous words a-
gainft a Man in his Calling or Trade, he lays his
Action, Malice, though he cannot prove it but
by the words themielves. If I fay aPrinter or
Stationer is an ignorant Perfon, has no Skill in
his Trade, I would not have any Man to deal
with him, he underftands not how to fer Let-
ters, or the like; here is nothing of Malice ac
all appears, yet if you bring your Adtion, yon
muil lay 1t, malicionfly; it is the deltroying your
Trade, and you will have Damages. [ inftance
in this Particular, that you may {ee there is Mg
lice luppofed to a particular privawe Perfonin that
Slander, much more to the Aiug and the Stare.
'The thing it {eli, in cauling a Book to be prin-
ted thac is fo full of Scandals and Lics, to in-
veiele, milguide, and deceive the People, this
is, in Conftruttion of the Law, Mulice; and
though no Malice appear further. The next is

thiss faftioufly, feditionfly, knowingly: this carrics
Sedition as well as Malice,  Such a barbaroys
tranfcendent Wretch that murdered his Prince,
without the leaft Colourof Juftice, to declare
that be vejoiced iiz his Bonds; and that the Martyys
would williugly come from Heaven to fuffer for if,
Horrid Blafphemy! AUl the Satits that eugaged iy
ity to wifh thet they bad fealed it with their Blogd )
What can you have more to encourage and ip-

Claufes contained, that are in Difparagement of cite the Péople to tize killing of Kings, and

murdering
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murdering their lawful Prince! This they pub-
lith, and fay it was {poken publickly; let it be
upon his own Soul that did it: for in cafe he did
it, no Man knew it but thofe that heard it. But
to publifh it all over England, (3000 of the fft
Impreffion, and a fecond;) this is to All all the
King’s Subje€ts with the Juftification of that
horrid Murder: I will te bold to fay, nor /o
Borrid a Villany bas been done upon the Face of 1he
Earth, fince the erucifying of our Savionr. To
print and publith this, is Sedition. 'The next
thing is your Trade. 1 have a Calling to ufe,
and 1 may juftify the ufing of it, fo long aslufe
it Jawfully, but that muft not juftity me in all
manner of Wickednefs againft the King and
State. As if a Lawyer (1 will put it in my own
Coat) plead a Man's Caufe, and againit the
King ; this is juftifiable; he ought to plead for
his Clienr, but he muft plead as becomes him.

1f a Lawyer in d fence of his Client will {peakk §

Sedition, do you think he is free from being pu-
nithed? So of a Printer; if a Printer prints fe-
ditious and factious Books, he muft look to him-
felf; that's no part of his Calling to poifon the
King’s People: fo tho’ printing of a Book be
lawiul, he muft ufe it as the Law appoints him,
and not to incite the People to Faltion. Wri-
ting of Letters you know it is common and
lawful; but if I write treafonable Letters, give
notice to rife, do fuch and fuch unlawful Adls,
I am to be punifhed for thefe Letters. A Prin-
ter he is a publick Agent, heis to do what he is
able to anfwer, orclfc he muft take what follows.
He fays, There was no A& againft him: it is
true, you fee he is not indifted upon the Statute,
but at the Common Law, for an Offence in the
nature of a Libel. If I were a Printer,and would
compile a Pampblet againft a Man, though not
in Authority, and difparage him, this is the pub-
lithing of 2 Libel, and an Offence for which he
ought to be indicted, and punifhed by the Com-
mon Law; and he that prints that Libel again(t
me, as a publick Perfon, or again{t me as Sir
Robert Hyde that Printer, and he that fets him
at work, muft an{wer it, much more when a-
gainft the King and the State. Another thing
15 this; he talks to you of dying Mens Words : it
Men will be fo vile to be as wicked at their
Deaths, as they had been in their Lives; put the
Cafe of that Man on Satarday conviéted for prin-
ting a horrible villainous thing, if he will be fo
unchriftian to himfelf, as to juftify this at his
Death, or to fpeak as bad as he had caufed tobe
printed, is that a Juftification to publifh them,
becaufe they are the Words of a dying Man?
God forbid. A Robber declares upon the Gal-
lows, it is for a noble Caufe, for taking a Pure
upon the High-way, that it is an unjuit Law to
condemn to death for fuch Crimes. Shall any
Man publifh this in print, and not be liable to
be punifthed for it? If any that were tried here
upon Saitrday, thall vilify the Lord Mayor, or
any of the Scach, traduce them for doing of Ju-
ftice, fhall this go anpunithed, if a Man take
it up and prine it? This 1 fpeak to let you fec
this is without Colour of Law: He pretended
I:e did it not knowingly; I will not repeat the
Evidence; He feit for themy, had them flitched,
caufed them to be kept privately, (not upon the
Stall.) And obferve, he tells you it was done
long azo: it is but three Years ago that they were
as publickly fold as Diurnals, he fays. 1 fhall
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repeit no more, I know you are Men of Un.
derftanding, and of Obedience to your King; it
is high time to take notice of this difperfing of
Pamphlers: if therefore you do believe that he
did caufe it to be printed, or publifhed it, or
both, he is guilty of the Mildemeanour laid in
the IndiCtment; (and be bath a great Kindnefs iy
that it is not made Capital:) 1f you do believe
that he did either caule it to be printed or pub-
lithed, that’s enovgh to find him guilty of this
Indi¢tment.

Clerk, Hearken to the other Inditment: He
{tands indifted in London, &c. and this is for
caufing to be printed a certain Book called, 77
Phenix, Xc. publithing the fame, [1he Indiftment
was wholly read.] To this Indi€tment he hath
pleaded Not Guilty ; fo your Iffue is to enquire
whfthcr he be guilty of this Offence, or nog
uiley.

Mr. North opened the IndiGlment in manner as
before. 'To this he hath pleaded Not Guilty;
if the Charge of the Indictment be fufficiently
proved, you are to find him guilty.

Serj. Morton. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,and
you Gentlemen of the Jury, here is another Bill
of Inditment preferred againft Zhomas Brewfer;
it 15, that contrary to the Duty of his Allegi-
ance to his Soverecign Lord the King, and pur-
polely to incite the People to Sedition, and to
withdraw them from their natural Allegiance to
the King, he hath caufed to be imprinted, mali-
cioufly, falfly and {candaloufly, a certain fcan-
dalous Book, cntitled, 7he Phanix, &c. And this
he hath done to difturb the Peace of the King-
dom, and to withdraw the People from their
Allegiance ; and to the Scandal of his Majefty’s
Government, he hath caufed this Book to be
printed, uttered and fold: and this we take to
be a great Offence againdt the King, and his
Crown and Dignity. Gentlemen, the difperfing
of feditious Books is of great danger to the
Kingdom; falfe Rumours, they are the main ia-
centives that {tir up the People to Sedition and
Rebellion, that raife Difcontentments among the
People, and then prefently they arc up in Arms,
Difperfing {editious Books is very near a-kin to
raifing of Tumults; they are as like as Brocher
and Sifter: Raifing of Tumults is the more maf~
culine; and printing and difperfing fedirious
Books, is the Feminine Part of every Rebellion.
But we fhall produce our Witnefles, we fhall
prove that this Thomas Brewfler caufed this Book
to be printed ; that when it was printed he did
receive three hundred; That thefe he caufed to
be ftitch’d up; That he uttered and fold them,
part in his own Shop, and part elfewhere. It
being an Offence of that great and dangerous
Confequence, whicli tends to the Difturbance of
the Peace of the Kingdom; I hope you will
take it into your ferious Confideration, and if the

matter ftand proved againft him, you will give
him his due Demertt. - 5

Creeky Threfhery Loft and Bodvel {worn again.

Mr. North. Creek, tell my Lord and the Jury

what you know of the printing of the Bookcal-
led The Phanix, ¥ 5 e

Creek. My Lord, it was in May that Mr. Ca/-

verty Brewyfler and Chapman brought that Book
to me to print,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. What Book? name it.
Creek,
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cok. The Phenix, &c. it ‘was printed for
thecr::iin'ec. All that I can fay 1s; That Mr.
Brewfler’s Part was delivered to me by his Di-

reéilg rEh.Ju&. Hyde. Who paid you for printing

0
ﬂfé;eek. Mr. Brewffer paid for his Part.

Tuftice Keeling. How many was his Part?

Crech. His Part of 2000, that was 6oo and

dd. ..
i I.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. Thefe three Men joined to
bhear each Man his Share ‘

Crech. Yes, every Man was to have his Share.

Jutt. Kecling. Did he with you to do it with
Privacy ! . |

Creck. Yes, with Expedition and Privacy.

Brewfler. Was the Copy written or printed ?

Cieeh. [t was all printed formerly, fome in
Ouarto, fome in Offavo, and might have been
l?Eught fingle in any Place almott.

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. What do you mcan by al/
printed formerly ¢ _

Creek. My Lord, they were in {everal Parcels
printed ; there was Mr. Calainy’s Sermon, and
Mpr. Douglas’s Sermon, and the reft.

TJuft, Keeling. How long ago was it fince they
were brought to you to print?

Cieek.” It wasin May, three Years.

Brewfler. Did 1 order you how you fhould
print them, or Mr. Caluert ¢ Did not you hear
him fay, that they had {taid two Hours for me
at an Alchoufe to be his Partner?

Creck, 1 did hear him fay fo.

Tuft, Kecling. 'What made you fo loth to be
their Partner? were they two Hours perfuading
of you?

5&‘?:{:&. No, they waited two Hours for him ro
be their Partner,

Serj. Moiton. Threfher, did Brewfler deliver any
of thole Books to you to ftitcch up ?

Thiefber. Yes, and pleafe you, my Lord, and
I had them by Mr. Brewfici’s Order to fuld.

Serj. Morron. How many?

Thiefber. To the number of 2 or 300.

Mr. North. Did he not enjoin you Privacy?

Thiefber, Yes, 1 think he did.

Juft. Keeling. When they were bound, had you
a Note to deliver thole Books fafely to any?

Threfber. Yes, fromhis own Hand ; he defived
mc to go and give them to fuch and fuch Per-
tons, Booklellers.  Said I, I fhall hardly re-
member them: he thercupon gave me a Note
of ther Names to whom I fhould deliver them ;
I judge they were to be trufted more than o-
thers,

Sery. Morton, Did you deliver them accerd-
ingly?

Threfher, Yes, 1did.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. How manydid you deliver
i that manner?

Tivefber. 'T'wo Dozen and more.

Juft. Keeling. If you will ask him any Que-
ftions, do.

Brewficr. Did 1 give you any Order to deliver
them to any particular Bookfellers? |

Threfbes. Yes, you dids I believe Mr. I k-
Frange and Mr, #illiams (one of the Jury) can
remember I thewed them the Paper you wiore
to that purpofe.

Mr. Williaws. 1 did fee the Note.

Brewfier. 1 do ‘not remember I gave you any
Order, they were all common things before,

Jor publifbing a Libel.

the Colleftor of it together,
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Jutt.'Keeling, You may ask him what Que-
{tions you will.

Brewfler. 1 fhall ask him rio more.

Mr. Nosth. Petcr Bodvel, fpeak what
know concerning the Selling or
Book called 7/he Phenix, &c.

Bodvel. T never knew of the printing of them;
I'never knew my Mafter fell any of them, nor
heard him give Ordcr for felling of them.

Jult. Keeling. Did you fell any of them for
him?

Bedwel. 1 think T did fell fome.

Serf. Mortow. Were they in the Shop to b-
fold?

Bodvel. Yes, they werc,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Were they iri the Shop pub-
lickly, with the Title-page lying open upon the
Stall, as other Books do, when they are newly
ouc s _

Bodvel. We {eldom did fo with Bound Books.

Jult. Keeling. Where were the Books found
when they were feized?

Bodvel. I think they were in fome of the up-
per Rooms.

Jult. Keeling. Where were they found, by the
Oath you havetaken? '

Bodvel. That Mr. L’Effrange can tell better
than I, I did not {ee him find any of them.

Ld Ch. Juft. Ayde. By the Oath you have ta-
ken, where was the Place whence you were ta
fetch them, when you were to {ell them?

Bodvel. Inthe Hall, the Room over the Shap.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Werethey put up privaie-
ly?

! Bodvel. They were fo.

Juit. Kecliza. What private Place was that?

Bodvel, Tt was a Hole in the Wall,

Jult. Tyriel. By whofe DireCtion were they
laid there?

Bodwel. 1 know not whether by his, or iy
Miftrefs’s.

Juft. Keeling, Were not fome found under the
Bed?

Bodwel. I heard that Mr. L’Effrange found
fome of the Titles under the Bed.

Sery. Morton. 1 think it is enough; what fiy
you to 1ty Friend? -

Ld Cn. Juft. £yde. Obferve this, and anfiwer
it: It appears that you and two more (Calverr
and Chapman) did agree with Creek for printing
this Book, (feveral Parcels drawn into onc Vo-
lume) and you were to bear each of you a third
Part, and to have a third Part of the Books; he
fwears you did both pay your Part, and had your
Part of the Books: Thelc Books were printed
before, and {o they were common enough, and
therefore you muft nceds know what was in
them. The third full Part was brought to you,
and delivered by your Appointment ; you gavea
Note how they fhould be difpofed of, and you
owned them not m publick: (your owiz Soul told
yorr they were wot 1o be jufiified) two DoZen
were delivered privately to particular Perfons,by
your DireCtion. Lay thefe things together,
and now anfwer them: For the Indiftment is,
That you canfed fich a Book to be printed and puls
lifhed.

Brewfler, In the firft Place,the Evidence does
fay, That Mr. Calvert did acknowledge when he
gave him the Copy to print, that he {taid {o long
for me, In order to be their Partner, he that was

They were all
" printed

yuu
Utterin ¢ the
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printed before, and printed by Licence; for the
Books, I never read them: we feldom read the
Books we fell, being they were before printed,
and with Licence fold fingle, (as the Gentlemen
of the Jury know) I thought there was no Crime
to print them all together. It was done In an
Interval when there were no Licenfers, we knew
not where to go: what has been printed former-
ly, we took it for granted it might be reprint-
ed, till this late A& for Printing ; and this was
done before this Act,

Juft. Keeling. Have you any more to fay?

Brewffer. No, my Lord, I fhall leave it to
the Jury. But, my Lord, herc are now {ome
Neighbours to teftity that I am no fuch Perfon
as the IndiCtment fers forth, that [ did walicionfly
and feditionfly do fuch and fuch things.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Wewill hear them, though
T1l tell you it will not much matter; the Law
fays it 1s Malice.

Capt. Sheldon fworn. My Lord, all that [ can
fay is, he was ready at Beat of Drum upon all
Occafions; what he hasbeen guilty of by print-
ing or otherwife, I am a Stranger to that; I
know he was of civil Behaviour and Deport-
ment among(t his Neighbours.

Juft. Keeling. It is very ill that the King hath
fuch Trained-Soldiers in the Band,

Capt. Houfon and others offered to like pur-

ole.
g L.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. If you have athoufand to
this purpofc only, what fignifies 1t ¢

Tuit. Keclinz. Are you his Captain?

Capt. Sheldor. No, my Lord, Capt. Bradfhaw.

Ld Ch. Jult. Ayde. He ithould be cafhier'd the
Band ; not but that he fhould be charged with
Arms. Tl «ell you, do not miftake your {elf,
the Teftimony of your civil Behaviour, going
to Church, appearing in the Train’d-Bands, go-
ing to Paul’s, being there at Common-Service,
this 1s well: but you are not charged for this; a
Man may do all this, and yet be a naughty Man

in printing abufive Books, to the mif-leading of

the King’s Subjeéls. If you have any thing to
fay as to that, I fhall be glad to find you 1nno-
cent.

Brewffer. 1 have no more to fay.

Ld Hyde. Then you of the Jury, there are
fome things in this Indi¢tment (as in the other)
neceflary to be ftated to yous; my Brothers and
I have confulted here about it: The Indiétment
is for caufing a faCtious and feditious Book, cal-
led Zhe Phauix, &c. with divers other things
therein, to be printed. Bur, pray let them
fec the Book, and compare it with the Indit-
ment.

Clerk. [Reads the Indictment, and firft the
Tide.} The Phauix, or the Solemir Leagne and Co-
venant. | Edinburg, Printed 1n the Ycar of Co-
venant-Breaking, | A King abufing bis Powery to
the Owerthrow of Religiony, Laws, and Liberties,
sohich are the wery Fundamentals of this Contradt
and Covenant, may be controuled and oppofed. And
if be [et bimfelf to overthrow al] thefe by Arms,
then they whe have Power, asthe Eftates of a Land,
may aid ought tovefift by Avmsy becaafe be doth by
that Oppofition bicak the vary Boidsy and overthrow
the Effcutials of this Contratt and Covenant. This
aay ferve to juflify the Proceedings of this Kingdom
againft the late King, who in an hoflile way fet bim-
el to oveithrow Religion, Parliameitsy Lawsyand
Liberties.  {'The reft is much at the fame Rate,

Gs. The Trial of Thomas Brewfter, 16 Car. 1l

only now and then a Spice of Blafphemy, for
the Credit of the Holy League: 4 greater Sin
(is the Breach of that Seorch Covenant, accord-
Ing to our Author, paz. 1¢8.) than a Sin a-
gfﬂﬂi a Gommandmenty or azainft an Ordinancs,

C.

Ld Ch. Jult. Fyde. You of the Jury, you fee
the Inditment agrees with the Book. 'T'here’s
a great dea) of Mercy that this Man hath not
been indicted of Trealon; for thofe very Pasti-
culars you have heard are as high Treafon as can
be. Firft, he doth declare, That the King abufiuy
his Powery the Peaple may refifty and take up s
againft him: That's exprels Treafon, without
any more ado. Then he tells you what a hor-
rid thing it is to break that Solzin Leaguc and
Covenant 3 juftifics the raifing of Arms and Re-
bellion againft the late King, unthroning and
murdering of him. I tell you that Solemn League
and Covenant wasa moit wicked and ungodly
Thing, againft the Law of God, and the Law
of the Land. To have fuch villainous Stuff 1o
be publifhed, itis a great Mercy of the King it
had not beendrawn higher, Youfee the Man
Is fo far from acknowledging any Guilt, that he
juftifies the Fact,

! 1?;'3':0/?51'. No, my Lord, I do not juftify my

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Yes, you do. The Prin-
ter {wears he was to go Share and Share like:
He had hisPart; _he publithes them to fome par-
ticular riends: I fay he juftifics this. He tells
you in his Defence, That it was commonly
printed; that it was done by printed Copy,and
that done formerly by Licence ; and when Things
are printed by Licence, they do not expect or need
any new or fecond Licence: T hey were com-
monly fold alunder; here they are only prined
together. ‘'hat he fays is nothing. \What is
this but juftifying the printing of it? Obferve,
weigh, and fee what kind of Defence here is.
The Title, what is 1t?  The Phaiix, or Solci
League apd Coveiant,  You all know i, and rue
it. When was it printed? It was when the
wicked Rebels here could not feduce fufficient
Numbers of the King's Subjeéts to fupport their
Rebellion 5 and then they invite their Dear Bre-
thren (as they called them) the Seors, to unite
with them, The Scots were cunning; they
would notdo it till they had entred into a Co-
venant, ina League; and then they confent to
unite with the Rebels here. This League and Co-
venant was indeed in Defence of the King; but
how long? So long as he defended them, (the
Presbytery and Scorch Difcipline.) When they
had got this good King into their Hands, they
put what Terms upon him they pleafed; and
then were thele feditious Sermons printed, Dos-
glas’s was printed 1n Scothind 5 was it licenfed
here ? No, it was done there, and brought hi-
ther. Then for the other Sermon, by what Li-
cence was that printed? Obferve the Time
when it was printed; was it uot 1o fot - forward
Rebelliony 10 fet upthe Scotch Presbytery s and this
in Forty-five, when they were in Arms againft
the King, after the King put himfelf upon his
Defence, and was at Osford ? Do you tell me
of the Licence of Rebels then for your Juftifi-
cation? Now, when the King is fo happily
return’d, now to publifh thefe things afrefh to
the People, that they might do the {ame again!
And Itell you once again, It is Mercy in the

King |
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King that he was 0ot indicted for Treafon. T
thall leave it to you, you have had it fully

prOVGd-

Clerh. Set Simon Dover to the Bar. [And here

the Indiétment is read. |

Mr. North opens this Inditment, as the
elt. _
I Serjeant Morton. We have but two Witneffes,
and they will prove the Matter clearly, There
were two Impreflions of this Book; we will
prove he had a Share in both of them.

Creek fworn again.

Creek. I delivered before what T can fay.

Judge Keeling. Look you, you muftdeliver all
that Evidence over again, becaufe it concerns
another Terfon.

Creek. I did fay, and fay ftill, That, to the beft
of my Mecmory, Mr. Dover did print part of thz}t
Book, and that he and [ did converfe about it
in the Time it was doing 3 but [ cannot fwear it
pofitively, becaufe I cannot remember the Time
when, or the Place where.

Judge Keeling. Did you change Sheers with
him?

Creek, With him, I cannot fay; but fome
Sheets were changed by our Men.

Serjeant Adorton. You fay you think you had
{fome Dilcourle with him : Did not you fpeak
about the Danger of printing it ?

Creck. We talked of making an end ef it

Serjeant Adortoir. Can you remember to what
Letter you printed?

Creck. 1 have fhewed the Gentlemen of the

ury.
) Jﬁdge Aecling. Had you no Difcourfe of the
Danger of it ?

Creek. I thought it could not come to any
thing: I did tcll Sir R, Brown, (then Lord-
Mayor) That if they hanged twenty more, I
thought I fhould print their Speeches.

Judge Keeling. 'You knew the Contents of the
Book?

Cicek, Yes, 1 did.

Judge Keeling. Such Men as you, the King
and the Government hath a great Intercft in
your Trade: That you thould think it lawful
to prinit what a Man fays when he dies, and to
fcatter it abroad, though never fo bad, it’s a great
Offence: I would not have it pafs for fo clear
a thing.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde, 1f you are of fuch Princi-
ples, to print what you lift, you are not fic to
live in a civil Placey for a Printer or Bookfller
to print any thing one againft theother, is adi-

onable. Do you think the Prefs is open to pring
what you lift ?

Creck. 1 did {o then.

LdCh. Juft. Hyde. I'll deal plainly with you
For this Book, if you had had your Due, you
ougkt both to have been drawn, hang’d and
quarter’d.  When did you give Mr. L’ Eftronpe
Information of this Matter ?

Cieck. Lately, when I was a Prifoner in Zud-
gaic.

Mr. Royflon. [One of the Jury.] I defire to
ask him one Queftion; Whether Mr. Creet faw

this Book a printing at Mr, Dover’s Houle, or
110
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Creek. No, 1 did not.
Serjeant Morson. They changed Sheets,

Thyether fworn,

Threfher. 'This is all that T have to fay, That
the firft Night that Mr. Brewfer fent tor me to
flitcch thefe Books, it was very late before we
could get them: I went that Night to Mr., Do-
ver's, and had fome of the Sheets, the reft at
Mr. Greek’s. 1 did not fec him print any of
them.

Scrjeant Morton, What Quantity was there
of them? -

Threfber. I{uppofe there was two or three hune
dred Sheets.

Mr. North. Were they not of this Book 2

Threfier. Yes, of the Speeches.

Mr. North. Where were they delivered ?

Threfher. In the lower Room : 1 fuppofe fome

of them were hanging upon Lines before 1 had
them.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. What fay you to it?

Dover, 1 defire to ask him fome Queftions. I
do fay I never faw the Man before: 1 would
ask whether ever he faw me bdore in his
Life?

Threfber. Not before thar: I was never in
his Houfe bat that Night, By this Token I faw
you, and you me; When I came for the Sheets,
you asked Mr, Brew/fler whether he and Mr. Cal-
vert were agreed, or elfe you would not deliver
the Sheets.

Dover. 1defire to know what Time and Place -

I am charged mn the Indi€iment on a Day and
Place.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. That’s not very material,
Dover. He fixes nothing on me,
Ld Ch. Juft, Hyde. Thacthe Jury can beftte'l ;

Have you any more Queftions?
Dover. No, my Lord.

[ The Indictment and Books were compared.]

Dozer. My Lord, there is no Perfon {wears
that I printed ity or parc of it: Nothing fixed
upon me.

Ld.Ch. Jutt. Hyde. The firft Man {wears that
you fct it to printing,

Creek. 1 do not fwear it pofitively; I never
faw him printa Sheet: It was the Report of
the Town that he did it,

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You printed it: For
whom?

Cieck. Kor Brewfler, Calverty and Chapian.

Ld Ch. Jult. Hyde. But you fay that you and
he did converfle about it when it was printing.

Creek, 1did fay, To the beft of my Memory
we did.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. By the Qath you have ta-
ken, who did you change Shects with >

Creet. 1 cannot fay | did change any with
him : I fay that fome Sheets were changed by
my Mecn, and they told me they had them of
his Men.

Doser. Where are thofe Men that changed the
Sheets? Which of my Men are they?
~ Jultice Keeling, Look you, Dower, you are in-
di€ted for caufing to be printed this wicked Book,
and for publithing and vending of it.  You are 2
Printer by your Trade, as well as this Man that

comes agamft you: He fays he did not fee you
Aaaa pring
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printit s but he took it, and believed that you
printed it. I tell you how far that weighs:
You are a Printet by Trade; and comes the
other and defires the Sheets; you would not de-
liver them unlefs Mr. Brewfler and Mr. Calvert
were agreed. How comes the Sheets to your
Houfe, being a Printer, and yet you not print
it ? An{wer that.

Dover. 1thallymy Lord: It is no Confequence
atall. Admit I had thefe Sheets, it is no Con-
fequence at all that I printed them ; for Printers
and Bookfellers ufually have Books they did not
print themfelves.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Threfbcry by the Oath that
you have taken, did you fec thofe Sheets hang
upon the Line in his Houfe ?

Threfrer. My Lord, I judged thefe had lately
hung up: And I faw other Sheets hanging
there; and I knew nothing to the contrary but
thofe that hung upon the Line were the fame

with thefe.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Here are Sheets upon the
Lines ; you delivered him to fold part of thole
on the Lines: What would you have more plain?
You would not deliver them, if they were not
agreed: Then they were agreed, and you de-
livered them. |

Dover, 1 fay this; I look upon the Witnels
to be altogether invalid: Hc is a Perfon of no
good Repute.

Ld Ch.Juft. Fyde. Abetter Man than you, for
ought appears: You are indicted for a toul Of-
fence, {o 1s not he.

Dozer. L am not the Man you take me to be.

[.d Ch Jult. Hyde. Youfhallhave Evidence, it

you will, that you are at work at this time upon
as bad as this. |
Dover. If it be a Crime, I am forry for 1t

Alr. L'Eitrange favoii.

Mr. L'Effran--. Shall T {peak to the whole
Matter, or only to the Particular you laft men-
tioned?

Ld Ch. Jult. #54:. Say your Knowledge.

Mr. L’ Eftrange. When I came to his Houle,
which was sbout the middle ot Oéfober, to {earch,
I found at that prefent a little unlicenfed Quak-
ing Book; and m his Pocket the Libel that was
thrown up and down the Town, called, Muider
will outy ready printed.

Ld Ch. Juft. #yde. Which was a villainous
Thing, and {cattered at Zoik.

Mr. L’ Eflyange. Sincethat, I wasat his Houle,
to comparea Ilower which [ found in the Pan-
thery (a dangerous Pamphler; ) that Flower, that
15, the very fame Border, I found in his Houle
the [ame Mixture of L.etter, great and {mall, in
the fame Cafes and 1 took a Copy off the Prefs.
f found overand above this Letter, [producing
the Lettery] dated the vth of Febiuary, 1663, and
direted, For my Dear and Loving Hife, J. Do-
ver, s it your Lordihip’s Pleafure 1 {hall read
it all?

Ld. Ch. Juft. Hyde. If it be touching the print-
ing of Things you tound, do. :

Mr., L’Eftraige Reads 1. I wonld fain fee
ay Sifler Mary s therefore fince Sifler Hobbs will
7ot coiey take ber Order, and fuflead of her Name,
put in Sifler Mavy’s: It will never be queflioned
nere.  However do it as wifely and haidfomely as
you caity &c. [ And then in a Poftfcripr,] Zou
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anft cither get Tom Porter, 6 foine very truf
Friend, (poffitly C. D.may beip yon) to get for yop
a [afe aid covenicat Rooin to diy Books iy as [,
as poffibly you can. [And again:] Let we ki
what you inteird to do<with the 1o Sheets and T ladf,
LT will have it puolifbed, when I au certain 1 fhaj]
be tricd.

Ld Ch.Juft. Hyde. Letthe Jury feenow, whe-
ther you are the Man you would be thought.

Dover. 1 defire to know whether my Namg
be to that Letter?.

Mr. L’Eftrange. No, it is not.

LdCh. Tuft. yde. Where did you receive or
find this Letter?

Mr. L' Eftraige. My Lord, I found 1t about
his Wife,

LdCh. Juft. Ayde. Let the Jury judge if this
come from you, or no.

Judge Keeling, You of the Jury, you muft un-
derftand this, That what is {aid now 1s only
upon his Reputation, not to the Point in Que-
ftion at all : That Matter refts upon its own
Bottom.

Ld Ch. Jult. Fyde. T'll deal plainly with vou:
Had he not {tood upon fuch Terms, 1 fhould
not have fpoke of this: But when a Man will
be thus bold and confidenty I thought it pro-
chr to let you fee how he continues now in the

oal.

Dozer. 1 do not vindicate my felf in it; but
I {peak againft the Witnels: 1 do conceive that
the Witnefs does not fix any thing upon mec.

Ld Ch. Juft. Ifyde. Have you any thirg elic to
fay to the Indictment?

Dover. Tam indicted as a malicious and factious
Man: The Witnefles {ay no {uch thing.

Ld Ch. Juft, Hyde. You are not indicted fo, buz
that you have malicioufly and factioufly caufed
to be printed fuch a feditious Book; not your
Perfon, but the Altion.

Dover. There 1s nothing of that proved : Ad-
mit I was guilty of it, it was done when there
was no Act or Law i being touching Printing.
The Witnefles do not {wear pofitively that I did
do it: One fays he did not {ec me; the other,
that he only believed it; that he did fee fome
Sheets upon the Line, and they were the fame
for oughthe knew ; does not remember the Time
or Place of our Difcourfe: I do not know thit
ever [ had half an Hour’s Dilcourle with him in
my Life: I never had any Meceting with him
about any fuch Matter, nor had any Converle
with him. The Title of the Book fays, Faitl-
fully and Linpartially collefied for further Satisfac-
tion; fothat itcannot beinterpreted malicioufly.
It’s a Maxim in Law, That zhe leff Tutcipic-
tatiens arve to be put upon the Words of the In-
diftment, in favonr of the Prifoucy at the Bar:
And I hope this honourable Bench and the Ju-
ry will mind that. [ am a Printer by Trade;
what I did was for my Livelihood: The Scrip-
ture {ays, He is qworfe thau an Infidel that takes
not care for his Family, I {peak notthis to jufti-
fy any thing againft his Majefty or his Govern-
ment. Through my Ignorance T may poflibly
tranfgrels : If [ have done any fuch Thing, [
am forry for it; I hope I fhall be more careful
for the future. The other Part of the Indiét-
ment is for felling of them: No Man {wears
that I fold one Book of them. Mr. Creck fays,
That {ome of his Men told him that they had
fome of thofe Sheets from fome of my Folks:

but
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hut of whom he does not fay. That 1 did med-
dle wich them, knowing them to be fcandalous,
I hope there is nothing proved of that nature:
Fhere being then #o Law, I humbly hope there
was no Tranfgreffion.

i.d Ch. Juft. Hyde. Have you done?

Dover. | humbly defire your Honours, and
this Jury, to take notice of what I have fa_ld.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Youof theJury, I will not
{pend Time (1t 15 oo late) in repeating th:e Evi-
dence: You have heard the Evidence particular-
ly, and his Anfwer. He doth in part make the
{ame Anfwer with his Fellows, which was, That
it is his Trade. It’s true, no doubt but he ought
ro maintain his Wife and Children by his law-
ful Calling ; but if a Thief fhould tell you that
he maintained his Wife by Stealing, is that law-
ful? Printing Books lawfully, no Man will call
him to account for ir; but if he prints thar,
which is abufive to the King and his Govern-
ment, that’s no Part of his Trade, and his Trade
will not bear him out in it : Heis charged for
printing and publithing of thefe {candalous Books,
"That he did it Anowingly, malicionfly, falfly, faili-
oufly, and feditionfly. I told you, That although
al] thefe Things be not proved, yet if hedid i,
the Law calls it Malice, Fallion, and Sedition.
Confider the Circumftances : You fee it is done
in the Dark; the Sheets delivered at his Houle,
and Difcourfe about Delivery of them; he would
not deliver them unlefs Brewfler and Calvert were
agreed. I leave the Evidence to you 1n this
Cafe: Pregnant, ftrong, undeniable Circum-
{tances are good Evidence. Though a Mandoth
not come and tell you he declared to him he knew
what was contained 1n this Book, yct if there
be {ufhicient Evidence to fausfy you in your
Confciences, that he knew what was in ity and
was privy to the printing and publifhing of it;
thete is enough for you to find the IndiCtment.
You are to weigh Circumfitances as well as preg-
nant full Proof, in Cafes of this Nature.

Clesk, Set Nathan Brovks to the Bar.  You of
the Jury, you fhall underftand that he ftands in-
diCted, 5¢c. [ Reads the Indifiiment.]

Mr. North afterwards opened the Indictment,

Serjeant Morton. 'This Man, we fhall only
prove him guilty of Stitching and Difperfing the
{aid Booxs.

Threther fwori.

Y‘T frefher. This Man I have not {een thefe threc
cars.

Serjeant Morton. Did he fet you to work in
{titching thofe Books?

Threfber. He brought none to me, that I can
remember: But by Mr, Brewfier’s Order I de-
livered about two hundred, or thereabouts, and
carried them to his Houfein St Martin’s,and he
took them at the Stair-foot, and paid me for
ftitching of them in Bluc Paper.

Scerjeant Aortoir. Who furnithed you with
Blue Paper?

Threfber. 1 went by Mr. Brewfle:’s Order toa
Stationer in Bread-Street, and reccived fome.

Brooks. 1 defire to know whether in thofe
Books he faid he delivered me, there were thole
Paflages in the Indi®ment ? |
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Threfber. 1 know not: They were the Specches
and Prayers that I delivered you. ;

Brooks. How did you deliver them to me?.

Threfber. They were ftitch’d ; and 1 tied them'
up with a Piece of Packthread, and carried them
to him: He received them himielf, and came
afterwards to an Alchoufe, and gave mea Flag-
gon of Beer. He knew what they were; for
fome being imperfect, he faid Mr. Brewfler muft
make them good : And Mr. Brewfier gave Or-
der, if he came for them, they fhould be deli-
vered him. _ |

Brooks. Did you know there were thofe Pal-
fages in them ?

Thiefher. No, not I,

Brooks. 1 knew only the Title of it.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Let there be what there
will 1n it, if you knew the Title, look you to
it. Have you any thing elle to ask ?

Brooks. No, my Lord.

Henry Mortlock faworn.

Serjeant Morton. Mr. Mortlck, how many of
thofe Books did you receive of this Nuthan
biooks ¢

Mortlock. About Forty or Fifty.

Serjeant Adorton. What Talk had you about
receiving them?

Mortlock. T do not remember any Difcourfe.

Serjeant Morton. Where did you receive
them?

Mortlock. am notcertain whether inmy Shop,
or no.

Ld Ch, Juft. Hyde. Were they open?

AMortlock. 'They were tied up.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did you {peak forthem?

Moitlock, 1 cannot tell; he brought them to
me.

Ld Ch, Juft. Hyde. How canie he tobring them
to you?

Moitlpck. May be 1 might peak for them; 1
paid him for them. '

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. You and he knew what
Book it was?

Mortlock. 1 think we did.

Ld Ch. Juft. Hyde. Did you not open them ?
They might have been The Dewil of Ldmon-
toir, for ought you knew. Did you open them
afterward?  And did they appear to be this
Book ?

Mortlock, Yes.

Mr. L’Eftrange fwvorn,

Mr. L’Eflrange. 1 came to the Houle of Na-
than Brooks about Ofteber Iafty and knocking ac
the Door, they made a Difficulty to let me in:
At lafty {eeing not how to avoid it, Brooks
opened the Door. I asked him, what he was?
He told mec he was the Mafler of the Houle. By
and by comes one that lodged in the Houfe, and
throws down this Book [g/];miﬂg the Book } In
the Kitchen, with this Expreflion, Pl not be
hang’d (lays he) for ne’er a Rogue of you all: Do
you hide your Books in sy Ckamber 2 This Book
had the Speeches in it, with other Schifmatical
"Treatifes. Afrer this Ifearched the next Houle;
and there I found more Difliculty to getin.  But
after a long Stay, I faw the Second Iloor in a
Blaze; and then with a Smith’s Sledge 1 endea-
voured to force the Door. At length the Fire
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